
 

 

 
Strategic 
Monitoring 
Committee 

 

 

Date: Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

Time: 9.30 a.m. 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the 
meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Tim Brown, Committee Manager Scrutiny, Tel 
01432 260239 
E-mail tbrown@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 
Herefordshire Council 

 

 



 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  16TH JULY, 2008 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Strategic Monitoring 
Committee 
 
To: Councillor PJ Edwards (Chairman) 

Councillor WLS Bowen (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Councillors PA Andrews, WU Attfield, KG Grumbley, TM James, RI Matthews, 

PM Morgan, AT Oliver, SJ Robertson and JK Swinburne 
 

  

  

 Pages 

  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 
GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL 
INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 
The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare 
against an Agenda item(s) the nature of an interest and whether the 
interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide first whether 
or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They 
will then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 
  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most 
other people in the area.  People in the area include those who live, work 
or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors will also have a 
personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other 
people in the area.  If they do have a personal interest, they must declare it 
but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   
 
Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each 
Councillor.  What Councillors have to do is ask themselves whether a 
member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think that the 
Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected 
by it.  If a Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what 
that interest is and leave the meeting room. 

 

   
3. MINUTES   1 - 12  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2008. 

 
 
 
 

 

   



 
4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
5. CABINET MEMBER (RESOURCES) PRESENTATION   13 - 34  
   
 To outline the key elements of the Resources portfolio and the future 

direction that has been agreed with the Director. 
 

   
6. CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS - CORPORATE & CUSTOMER 

SERVICES & HUMAN RESOURCES AND ICT, EDUCATION AND 
ACHIEVEMENT   

35 - 50  

   
 To receive presentations from both the Cabinet Members for Corporate & 

Customer Services and Human Resources and ICT, Education & 
Achievement. 

 

   
7. HEREFORDSHIRE CONNECTS   51 - 54  
   
 To advise on the outcome of an options appraisal carried out to inform 

future implementation of the Herefordshire Connects programme, and to 
seek the views of the Committee on recommendations arising from the 
options appraisal prior to consideration by Cabinet on 31st July. 

 

   
8. END OF YEAR PERFORMANCE REPORT   55 - 110  
   
 To report performance for the whole of the operating year 2007-08 against 

the Annual Operating Plan 2007-08, Best Value Performance Indicators, 
and the Direction of Travel indicators used previously by the Audit 
Commission. 

 

   
9. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT PREPARATION 

PROGRAMME PROGRESS REPORT   
111 - 142  

   
 To report progress against the Comprehensive Area Assessment 

Preparation Programme. 
 

   
10. UPDATE ON REVIEW OF CONSULTANT EXPENDITURE 2007/08   143 - 144  
   
 To update the Committee on progress to date around the requested review 

of the use of consultants in the council during 2007/08 and to invite the 
Committee to agree a proposed definition of the term “consultancy” for the 
purpose of this exercise 

 

   
11. SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT   145 - 148  
   
 To consider the work being undertaken by the Scrutiny Committees.  
   
12. WORK PROGRAMMES   149 - 158  
   
 To consider the Scrutiny Committees’ current and future work programmes.  

 

 

   
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Strategic Monitoring 
Committee held at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford on Friday, 13 June 2008 at 9.30 a.m. 
  

Present: Councillor PJ Edwards (Chairman) 
Councillor  WLS Bowen (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Councillors: PA Andrews, KG Grumbley, TM James, RI Matthews, 

AT Oliver, SJ Robertson and JK Swinburne 
 

  
In attendance: Councillors JP French (Cabinet Member - Corporate and Customer 

Services and Human Resources), MD Lloyd-Hayes and RH Smith 
  
  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 Apologies were received from Councillors WU Attfield and PM Morgan and also from 

Councillor H Bramer (Cabinet Member (Resources)) and Councillor RJ Phillips 
(Leader of the Council).  

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 The following declarations of interest were made: 

 

Item  Title Councillor Interest Reason 

7 Procurement Strategy 
2008 

PJ Edwards Personal Recipient of a 
Post Office 
pension 

8 Backward Looking 
Efficiency Statement 
2007/08 

KG 
Grumbley 

Personal Council 
Appointee to 
the Citizen 
Advice Bureau 
Board 

11 Office Accommodation 
Strategy 

PJ Edwards 
MD Lloyd-
Hayes 

Personal Both Members 
of Hereford 
City Council  

  
3. MINUTES   
  
 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 April 2008 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

  
4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY   
  
 There were no suggestions from members of the public. 
  
5. REVIEW OF THE SERVICE DELIVERY PARTNERSHIP WITH AMEY WYE 

VALLEY LIMITED   
  
 The Committee’s views were invited on the draft recommendations from the Service 

Delivery Review of the Council’s Service Delivery Partnership with Amey Wye Valley 

AGENDA ITEM 3

1



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

Ltd. 
 
A draft report on Phase 2 of the review had been circulated separately to the 
Committee. 
 
The Director of Environment and Culture introduced the report.  He said that a great 
deal of work had gone into the review, reflecting the importance attached to 
addressing the Partnership’s shortcomings in delivering services that were highly 
visible to the public.  The future emphasis needed to be on addressing issues as 
they arose, quickly and efficiently. 
 
The Acting Head of Highways and Transportation presented the detail of the report.  
The two stated objectives of the review were to review alternative forms of delivery 
with a view to securing annual savings to the Council of £1 million and to improve the 
current level and quality of service.  He explained how the review had been 
conducted and how 18 possible delivery options had been reduced to 3: the 
improved business as usual model; the managing agent model, which would give 
greater responsibility for planning to Amey; and the integrated services model, with 
services delivered by an integrated organisation staffed by employees of both Amey 
and Herefordshire Council and managed by a single manager reporting to both 
organisations.  
 
The aim was to develop a model tailored to meeting the needs of Herefordshire.  It 
had been concluded that the improved business as usual model would not achieve 
the degree of improvement or level of savings required.  The other two models 
offered a potential basis for negotiation. 
 
He emphasised the extent to which the financial savings were estimates and 
dependent on successful implementation of the model and could not be guaranteed. 
 
He also drew attention to the appendices to the report setting out the scope of the 
contract, a description of the 3 shortlisted service models, a summary of the methods 
used in estimating potential staff savings and the Amey capability statement. 
 
In the course of discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• In response to a question, the principle of the “watchman” scheme it was 
proposed to include in the Herefordshire service model was explained.  The 
scheme was in place in Bedfordshire and had improved links with local 
communities, providing a single local contact with a delegated budget and a remit 
to target resources. 

 

• A number of examples were given of where service was not currently being 
delivered to the required standard by Amey. 

 

• There was discussion of how savings could be achieved without an adverse 
effect on service delivery.  The Director said that the savings were to be achieved 
without reducing service.  There was considerable duplication of effort at the 
moment with an unnecessary degree of checking.  Where there was a clear 
outcome to be achieved, as in the emergency response to the 2007 summer 
flooding, the partnership worked well.  That was the approach that needed to be 
fostered. 

 

• It was noted that Bedfordshire, where the managing agent model, involving 
Amey, was used, had invested £4 million to generate improvement in its 
services.  This approach seemed to contrast with the reduction in costs 

2



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

envisaged by the Council in Herefordshire in circumstances where services were 
not being provided to an appropriate standard with the existing level of 
resources.  The Director replied that the relevant Council Services had a higher 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment rating than Bedfordshire’s had had at 
the time.  He reiterated that the aim of the review was to deliver better value for 
money, both reducing cost and increasing quality.  It was highlighted that if the 
potential savings could be realised this would provide the Council with an 
opportunity to consider reinvesting in additional service provision. 

 

• It was stated that Members had evidence of schemes carried out by Amey 
costing far in excess of what they would cost in the market place.  In this context 
the apparent intention to achieve savings by reducing the level of challenge of 
contract costs was questioned.  

 

• The Director said that challenge by the client side was critical to the delivery of 
any future service model.  A key part of the negotiations would centre on market 
rates.  He considered that comparative information on schemes could be 
obtained to ensure that there could be appropriate challenge of costs. 

 

• A Member observed that the fundamental problem with the Partnership’s 
operation appeared to be the interface between the Council and Amey.  This 
suggested that the managing agent model might offer the best way forward.   

 

• It was noted that the report referred to the need to correct examples of poor 
relationships between Council staff and Amey staff.  This had been commented 
on in the Committee’s scrutiny review of the Partnership completed in 2006.  It 
was disappointing to see that this issue remained unresolved.  The Director said 
that the review acknowledged the need to effect change in working relationships 
to deliver service improvement in the next five years of the contract’s life. 

 
It was suggested that it was important that action was taken now to seek to 
improve relationships and not just await the outcome of the review.  In reply it 
was said that the review had provided an opportunity to explain the type of 
behaviours that were expected and a number of quick wins had been identified 
and acted upon.  Anomalies in the current contract would be removed and robust 
action taken to counter inappropriate behaviour.   

 

• Members highlighted that the need for senior management commitment to 
partnership working should not be singled out as a requirement because it was 
clear that commitment by all was required. 

 

• Reference was made to the comment in the Audit Commission’s report on value 
for money in strategic partnerships that, “very few strategic partnerships have 
achieved financial benefits.” 

 

• Concern was expressed at the late delivery of invoices in relation to the street 
lighting service and the impact on the Council’s final accounts. 

 
 

• That the views of Councillors should have been sought as part of the process.  
Attention was drawn to the examples of poor service by Amey that Members 
found in their wards.  The Director said that he would welcome Member input into 
the review.  Members proposed that the views of all Members should be invited. 

 

• It was suggested that the Committee should have been provided with more detail 
on how the estimated savings were to be achieved.  The Director said that a 

3



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

large part of any savings would be a result of a reductions in staff costs because 
this currently accounted for a large proportion of expenditure.  It was premature 
at this stage to speculate on the detail.  This would emerge during the 
negotiations. 

 

• That whilst the phase 2 review report was good it did not address sufficiently the 
commercial environment and the fact that in entering negotiations Amey would 
not accept a reduction in their profit. 

 

• A further question was asked about Bedfordshire’s contract with Amey.  The 
Director said that the contract was not seen as a blueprint but suggested some 
possible approaches.  He acknowledged Amey’s motive was to make profit.  The 
key was to ensure that profit was dependent on delivery.  The Bedfordshire 
contract focused on outcomes. There was provision in their agreement for a 
series of one year extensions to be added the original 10 year contract  as an 
incentive for Amey to deliver on target.  Any such extension awarded by 
Bedfordshire was dependent on satisfactory yearly performance outturns.  The 
Director indicated that such a framework could encourage capital investment by 
Amey as they would then be able to plan for recouping their outlay in the medium 
and long term. 

 

• An interpolation of the information on the projected savings suggested a 50% 
chance of £800k being achieved and a 10% chance of £1million. 

 

• The Cabinet Member (Corporate and Customer Services and Human Resources)  
commented that the eventual solution needed to be robust to meet the 
challenges that lay ahead.  She emphasised the need to insist on staff complying 
with the Council’s requirements in seeking to develop partnership working. 

 
The Chief Executive summed up the position, emphasising the need for an effective 
partnership relationship in which there could be confidence in service delivery.  This 
would involve the Council as client undertaking some benchmarking against market 
rates.  However, excessive supervision would not work.  The contractor should be 
judged on outcome and price. 
 
The Committee considered its further involvement in consideration of this issue, 
agreeing that it would wish to have a further opportunity to comment prior to a 
decision being made by Cabinet. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That  (a) the depth and breadth of the preliminary stage of the review and the 

involvement of the Committee be welcomed; 
 

(b)  reassurance be provided that any watchman scheme will include 
Local Member views as a matter of course; 

 
(c)  it be recognised that relationships between the two organisations 

and unity of culture are key and that where bad practice is identified 
this should be remedied on an ongoing basis; 

 
(d)  all Members be invited to comment on the review; and 

 
(e)  that the Committee should be provided with a further opportunity to 

comment on the review prior to recommendations being considered 
by Cabinet. 

4



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

  
6. SCRUTINY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2008/09   
  
 The Committee considered a Scrutiny Development Plan for 2008/09. 

 
The Head of Policy and Performance presented the report explaining the basis on 
which the proposed Plan had been developed. 
 
In the ensuing discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• The Committee noted that the Chairman was discussing the possibility of an 
external evaluation of the Scrutiny function by the Leadership Centre.   

 

• That it was important that the principal focus on scrutinising key issues where the 
function could have a positive impact.  Processes and structures should be 
developed to support that objective and not become an end in themselves. 

 

• That the role of scrutiny needed to be clearly communicated to the public. 
 

• That the programme of enquiry visits to other authorities should be progressed 
promptly. 

 

• It was requested that the proposals for work shadowing needed to be carefully 
considered and appropriate briefings given to staff beforehand. 

 

• In response to a question the Legal Practice Manager confirmed that there was 
no discrete budget for Scrutiny and explained that the approach had distinct 
advantages to the function, compared to authorities who operated a capped 
budget. 

RESOLVED: That the Scrutiny Development Plan 2008/09 as appended to the 
report be adopted. 

 
  
7. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 2008   
  
 (Councillor PJ Edwards declared a personal interest) 

 
The Committee considered the updated Procurement Strategy. 
 
The Strategic Procurement and Efficiency Manager presented the report.  He noted 
the contribution the Strategy could make to meeting the Government’s efficiency 
targets and how efficiency savings formed part of the Audit Commission’s Use of 
Resources Assessment and consequently the overall rating of the Council’s 
performance. 
 
In the ensuing discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• That the Council’s policy commitment to supporting Fairtrade needed to be 
explicitly reflected in the Strategy.   

 

• It was noted that the Strategy welcomed the use of local suppliers but the hope 
expressed that this use could be further encouraged. 

 

• It was confirmed that the Council was aware of the approach of some other 
authorities in inviting tenders via the internet.  Consideration was being given to 

5



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

how the Council might benefit from a similar approach. 
 

• It was asked whether there was sufficient staff resource within the procurement 
function, noting the employment of two consultants in connection with the letting 
of the contract for some second class post to TNT.  The issue of whether social 
sustainability was considered as part of the procurement process was also 
raised.  The Director replied that a project was underway with the West Midlands 
Centre of Excellence to review the organisation of the procurement function.  It 
was, however, important to note that the function had had some important 
successes. 

 

• The question of whether West Mercia Supplies purchased green electricity was 
discussed.  The Strategic Procurement and Efficiency Manager agreed to write to 
Members clarifying the position. 

RESOLVED:  That the updated Procurement Strategy should be amended to 
reflect the Council’s policy commitment to supporting Fairtrade. 

 
  
8. BACKWARD LOOKING ANNUAL EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 2007/08   
  
 (Councillor KG Grumbley declared a personal interest.) 

 
The Committee considered the Council’s proposed Backward Looking Annual 
Efficiency Statement for 2007/08. 
 
The Head of Financial Services presented the report.  He noted the attention paid to 
efficiency savings in external assessments of the Council’s performance and that the 
Council had exceeded its target for 2007/08.  He drew attention to the forthcoming 
change to arrangements in 2008/09 whereby all savings submitted as part of the 
Annual Efficiency Statement had to be “cashable”, currently a mix of “cashable” and 
“non-cashable” savings being eligible for inclusion. 
In the ensuing discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• It was observed that the target for savings from partnership working with Amey 
had not been achieved and neither had the target for a saving as a result of a 
reduction in supervision between the client and Amey. 

 

• It was suggested that the extent to which staffing vacancies were attributable to 
turnover or to planned management action should be made clearer in future 
statements. 

 

• The saving attributable to the decision not to uplift certain contracts in line with 
inflation was discussed.   

 

• The Head of Financial Services agreed to provide clarification to the Committee 
on the saving target relating to improving the affordable housing gap. 

 

• The contractual relationship with HALO Ltd, provider of leisure services, and 
whether there might be potential financial benefits from adopting a similar 
approach for delivering other Council services was discussed.  It was noted that 
this was being considered. 

RESOLVED: That the proposed Backward Looking Annual Efficiency 
Statement for 2007/08 be noted. 

 

6



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

  
9. FINAL REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2007/08   
  
 The Committee considered the final revenue and capital budget outturn for 2007/08. 

 
The report to Cabinet on 29 May 2008 was appended to the report. 
 
The Head of Financial Services presented the report highlighting where there had 
been developments since the provisional outturn had been reported to the 
Committee in April. 
 
The net Directorate overspend had been £900,000.  The final revenue outturn for the 
Council as a whole had been a net underspend of £591,000 taking account of items 
such as income from financing transactions, unbudgeted income from the Local 
Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme and additional dividend income from 
West Mercia Supplies as a result of increased use for procurement.  
 
He drew attention to the creation of a number of new specific reserves and the Joint 
Management Team’s recommendation, accepted by Cabinet that the net 
underspend should be used to fund a reserve for rationalising office accommodation. 
 
In the course of discussion the following principal points were made: 
 

• The financial implications of the national extension of free bus travel to over 60s 
including reduced income from car parking were noted. 

 

• The financial implications of schools achieving foundation status were also 
discussed.   

 

• The provision of a reserve associated with the Whitecross High School Private 
Finance Initiative and the potential ongoing implications were noted. 

 

• In response to a question the Head of Financial Services agreed to clarify the 
position regarding the winter maintenance reserve. 

 

RESOLVED:  That the final outturn for 2007/08, the use of the carry forward of 
unspent budget into 2008/09 and the creation of new reserves be 
noted. 

  
10. WORK PROGRAMME   
  
 The Committee considered its work programme. 

 
The Chairman said that it would be helpful for Members to be supplied with an 
overview of the Council’s new management structure and key officer contacts. 

RESOLVED: That the current work programme serve as a basis for further 
development. 

 
  
11. OFFICE ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY   
  
 RESOLVED That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of this item on 
the grounds that there would be disclosure of information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 

7



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE FRIDAY, 13 JUNE 2008 

 

 

holding that information). 
 
Summary of Proceedings during which the Public were excluded 
 
(Councillors PJ Edwards and MD Lloyd-Hayes declared personal interests.) 
 
The Committee endorsed the findings of the Working Group it had appointed in April 
2008 on the proposed process and timetable for developing an integrated office 
accommodation strategy for the PCT and Council. 
 
 
 
 

  
The meeting ended at 12.40 p.m. CHAIRMAN 
 

8



9

Document is Restricted



12



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Mrs Sonia Rees, Director of Resources on (01432) 383518 

 

SMC Cab Memb Presentation 160708  Page 1 of 4 

 CABINET MEMBER (RESOURCES) PRESENTATION 

Report By: Cabinet Member (Resources) 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide. 

Purpose 

1. To outline the key elements of the Resource portfolio and the future direction that has 
been agreed with the Director. 

Financial Implications 

2. Not applicable. 

Background 

3. DIRECTORATE ORGANISATION & MANAGEMENT 

3.1 The Directorate consists of approximately 230 staff divided into four key areas of 
activity: 

a. Asset Management & Property Services (AMPS). 

b. Audit Services (AS). 

c. Benefit & Exchequer Services (BES). 

d. Financial Services (FS). 

3.2 The Resources directorate management team (RMT) consists of the following 
members of staff: 

a. Director (Sonia Rees). 

b. Head of Asset Management & Property Services (Malcolm MacAskill). 

c. Audit Services Manager (Tony Ford). 

d. Head of Benefit & Exchequer Services (Mike Toney). 

e. Head of Financial Services (David Powell). 

3.3 The Resources management team meets twice a month.  Meetings scheduled for the 
beginning of the month are geared around prompt delivery of the corporate Team 
Talk briefing.  Meetings scheduled for the middle of the month focus on: 

a. Progress achieving key priorities. 

AGENDA ITEM 5

13



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

 

SMC Cab Memb Presentation 160708  Page 2 of 4 

 

b. Monitoring of directorate budgets. 

c. Review of the directorate risk register. 

d. Progress achieving corporate HR targets. 

3.4 The Director keeps the Cabinet Member (Resources) briefed on key issues on a 
weekly basis.  The Cabinet Member (Resources) and the Director have a monthly 
briefing meeting with the Leader to discuss strategic finance issues as the Leader 
has prime responsibility for this area of Council policy whilst the Cabinet Member 
(Resources) supports.  Quarterly meetings with the Chief Executive, Director, Leader 
and Cabinet Member (Resources) are held to agree the Director’s key priorities and 
discuss progress. 

3.5 Performance to date against the directorate and service plans for 2008/09 is as 
expected at the end of the first quarter.  More detail is provided in the accompanying 
report on this agenda from the Director of Resources.  Key priorities and issues going 
forward are identified in a later section of this report. 

4. SERVICE PLANNING AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 

4.1 Performance against the directorate’s key priorities for 2007/08 is outlined in the 
Annual Report for 2007/08 attached as Appendix 1 to this report.  The Annual Report 
also sets out the key priorities at directorate and service level for 2008/09. 

4.2 The Annual Report shows how the directorate and service priorities support themes 
and priorities set out in the council’s Corporate Plan for 2008 – 2011. These are as 
follows: 

CORPORATE PLAN 2008 – 2011 

THEME Organisational improvement and greater efficiency 

PRIORITY Better services, quality of life and improved value for money 

 

4.3 The directorate has established three key priorities in support of the Corporate Plan 
theme and priority as follows: 

a. Our customers. 

b. Our staff. 

c. Value for Money. 

4.4 These priorities have been defined as set out in the directorate’s Annual Report for 
2007/08.  Each of the four services has added specific issues to the directorate 
priorities as can also be seen in the Annual Report. 

4.5 The directorate and four service plans for Resources have all been approved by the 
Policy & Performance team as compliant with the corporate standard. 

14



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

 

SMC Cab Memb Presentation 160708  Page 3 of 4 

 

4.6 The directorate and service plans have been used to establish and agree personal 
objectives for the year for all members of staff in the directorate.  Individual priorities 
are therefore linked to Corporate Plan priorities for 2008 – 2011. 

4.7 An improved performance management system for the directorate will have been 
fully implemented by the end of July.  The Policy & Performance team has approved 
the improved arrangements as compliant with corporate requirements.  A checklist 
system has been devised to track progress at team, service and directorate level.  
This culminates in a monthly report from RMT to all staff outlining progress against 
the directorate plan that circulated as part of the Team Talk briefing system.  The 
latest directorate performance report for 2008/09 is attached as Appendix 2 to this 
report.  Progress at the end of June is as expected at the end of the first quarter of 
the year. 

5. KEY PRIORITIES 

5.1 The Director’s key priorities for the year relate to directorate and service priorities as 
set out in agreed plans for 2008/09.  The Director’s priorities have been agreed with 
the Chief Executive, Leader and Cabinet Member (Resources) as follows: 

a. Continue to improve financial management across the Council, both in terms of 
financial support provided and financial management skills of managers, with 
particular emphasis on the Children & Young People’s directorate. 

b. Ensure all directorates have a robust budget management plan for 2008/09 in 
place. 

c. Resolve staffing and capacity issues in AMPS team in order to be able to support 
corporate priorities for capital and regeneration projects. 

d. Develop a revised accommodation strategy to rationalise the Council and PCT 
estate, keeping to the agreed timetable for preparing a business case for the 
preferred option for Cabinet to approve in November 2008 after Strategic 
Monitoring Committee has had an opportunity to comment. 

e. Implement the preferred option resulting from the Service Delivery Review of the 
Amey Wye Valley Limited contract in the AMPS team. 

f. Complete a review of the Council’s procurement strategy and a review of the 
Council and PCT’s corporate procurement function. 

g. Focus on improving customer service and ICT aspects of the benefit service. 

h. Prepare for 2008 Use of Resources assessment and the new Benefits service 
assessment. 

i. Work with the Policy & Performance team to develop a consistent approach to 
measuring value for money across all services. 

5.2 Progress on the above issues is noted in Appendix 2 to this report. 

6. FUTURE SCRUTINY 

6.1 The key issues within the Resources portfolio that will warrant scrutiny by the 
Strategic Monitoring Committee are as follows: 

15



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

 

SMC Cab Memb Presentation 160708  Page 4 of 4 

 

a. Accommodation strategy. 

b. Financial strategy. 

c. Smallholdings strategy. 

6.2 These items are already included in the Strategic Monitoring Committee’s work plan. 

7. CONCLUSIONS 

7.1 The Resources Directorate continues to direct all its efforts into supporting corporate 
priorities through effective management of resources.  The links from the Corporate 
Plan to personal performance plans are created via the directorate and service plans. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None. 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Resources Directorate Annual Report 2007/08. 

Appendix 2 – Resources Directorate Key Priorities 2008/09 – Progress as at 30 June. 

16



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
A
T
E
 

 A
N
N
U
A
L
 R
E
P
O
R
T
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

17



 
    

1

   T
h
is

 i
s
 t

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 t

im
e
 w

e
 h

a
v
e
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
 

a
n
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

 
h
ig

h
lig

h
ti
n
g
 

th
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

’s
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

ju
s
t 

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 o

u
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 o

n
e
 a

h
e
a
d
 

o
f 

u
s
. 

 
O

u
r 

fi
rs

t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

 
w

a
s
 

w
e
ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 
a
n
d
 
p
ro

v
e
d
 
to

 
b
e
 
v
e
ry

 
u
s
e
fu

l 
in

 
d
e
s
c
ri
b
in

g
 t

h
e
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 

ro
le

 r
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 h

a
s
 

to
 p

la
y
 i

n
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 a

s
 

a
n
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
. 

 In
 t

h
e
 f

o
re

w
o
rd

 t
o
 o

u
r 

fi
rs

t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

, 
I 

re
fl
e
c
te

d
 o

n
 a

 p
e
ri
o
d
 o

f 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

c
h
a
n
g
e
. 

 
In

 
th

is
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

, 
it
 

is
 

v
e
ry

 
p
le

a
s
in

g
 
to

 
n
o
te

 
th

a
t 

th
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
re

a
lly

 
is

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ro

s
s
 

a
ll 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

  
 

 
T

h
a
t’
s
 g

o
o
d
 n

e
w

s
 f

o
r 

o
u
r 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

, 
o
u
r 

s
ta

ff
 

a
n
d
 
o
u
r 

tr
a
c
k
 r

e
c
o
rd

 o
n
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 i

m
p
ro

v
e
d
 

v
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
. 

 T
h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
e
s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 l

a
s
t 

1
2
 m

o
n
th

s
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 

m
a
n
y
, 

b
u
t 

h
e
re

 
a
re

 
s
o
m

e
 

o
f 

th
e
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
ts

: 

•
 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 a

 l
a
rg

e
 a

n
d
 v

a
ri
e
d
 

c
a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 

•
 

D
e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 h

ig
h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

u
d
it
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
. 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 o

u
r 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

to
 g

o
o
d
. 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 o

u
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt

in
g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

. 

•
 

D
e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

s
a
v
in

g
s
. 

 

 
T

h
e
 

y
e
a
r 

a
h
e
a
d
 

w
ill

 
b
e
 

c
h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 

b
u
t 

e
x
c
it
in

g
 a

s
 a

 n
e
w

 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 v

a
lu

e
 

fo
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

o
p
e
n
 

u
p
 

a
s
 

c
lo

s
e
r 

w
o
rk

in
g
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 
w

it
h
 
th

e
 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 
C

a
re

 
T

ru
s
t 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
. 

 
O

u
r 

ro
le

 
is

 
to

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
th

is
 
a
n
d
 

o
th

e
r 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

 
W

o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 

y
o
u
, 

w
e
 

h
a
v
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 

a
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 P

la
n
 f

o
r 

2
0
0
8
 –

 2
0
1
1
 w

h
ic

h
 d

o
e
s
 

ju
s
t 

th
a
t:

 
 

 C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E
 P
L
A
N
 T
H
E
M
E
 

 

 O
rg

a
n

is
a
ti
o
n
a

l 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 
a
n

d
 g

re
a
te

r 
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
 

 

 C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E
 P
L
A
N
 P
R
IO
R
IT
Y
 

 

 B
e
tt

e
r 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
, 
q
u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
lif

e
 a

n
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 v

a
lu

e
 f
o
r 

m
o

n
e
y
 

 S
U
P
P
O
R
T
IN
G
 D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
A
T
E
 P
R
IO
R
IT
IE
S
 

 

 O
u
r 

c
u

s
to

m
e
rs

, 
o
u

r 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 d
e

liv
e
ri

n
g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 v

a
lu

e
 f
o

r 
m

o
n
e
y
 

 
O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S
 

 G
e
tt
in
g
 t
h
in
g
s
 r
ig
h
t 
fo
r 
o
u
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 i
n

te
rn

a
l 
a
n
d
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
s
ta

k
e
h
o

ld
e
rs

 a
n
d
 a

c
ti
n
g

 o
n

 f
e
e
d

b
a
c
k
 

•
 

C
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 o

u
r 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 t
h
e

 f
in

d
in

g
s
 

•
 

M
e

e
ti
n

g
 a

g
re

e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 

•
 

W
o
rk

in
g
 m

o
re

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h

 t
h
e
 P

C
T

 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r’
s
 F
o
re
w
o
rd
  

18



 
    

2

 
O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F
 

 M
a
k
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
ta
ff
 f
e
e
l 
v
a
lu
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 

•
 

M
e

e
ti
n

g
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 H

R
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 

•
 

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g
 f
o
r 

In
v
e
s
to

r 
in

 P
e
o
p

le
 a

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d

in
g
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
ly

 t
o
 t
h
e

 2
0
0
7
 E

m
p

lo
y
e
e
 O

p
in

io
n

 S
u
rv

e
y
 

•
 

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g
 f
o
r 

th
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
th

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
S

in
g
le

 S
ta

tu
s
 J

E
 p

a
y 

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 a

rr
a
n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 

•
 

R
e
c
ru

it
in

g
, 
re

ta
in

in
g
, 

m
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 h

ig
h
 q

u
a

lit
y
 s

ta
ff
 

 

 
V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 M
O
N
E
Y
 

 P
ro
v
id
in
g
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t,
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 U

s
e
 o

f 
R

e
s
o
u

rc
e

s
  

•
 

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g
 f
o
r 

th
e

 n
e

w
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

•
 

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g
 f
o
r 

th
e

 n
e

w
 C

o
m

p
re

h
e
n

s
iv

e
 A

re
a
 A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n
ts

 

•
 

W
o
rk

in
g
 m

o
re

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h

 t
h
e
 P

C
T

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 o
u

tc
o
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e

o
p
le

 a
n
d

 v
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 I
C

T
 a

u
d

it
 a

n
d

 c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

c
a
p

a
c
it
y
 (

th
e

 C
ro

o
k
a
ll 

R
e
v
ie

w
 r

e
fe

rs
) 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e

m
e
n
t 
in

 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t
h

e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n

d
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

•
 

D
e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
ti
n
g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i
n

 v
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 u

s
e

 o
f 
b
e
n

c
h
m

a
rk

in
g

 t
e
c
h
n
iq

u
e

s
 

•
 

B
e
g

in
n
in

g
 a

 r
e

v
is

e
d
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a

ti
o
n

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 t
o
 r

a
ti
o
n
a

lis
e
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

a
n
d
 P

C
T

 e
s
ta

te
 

•
 

M
o

n
it
o

ri
n
g
 a

n
d

 s
u
p
p

o
rt

in
g
 t
h

e
 C

o
u
n

c
il’

s
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 

 

 It
 w

ill
 b

e
 i

m
p
o
rt

a
n
t 

th
a
t 

w
e
 r

e
g
u
la

rl
y
 r

e
fe

r 
to

 
o
u
r 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e
 

y
e
a
r 

to
 

c
h
e
c
k
 

w
e
’r
e
 

o
n
 

c
o
u
rs

e
 

to
 

d
e
liv

e
r 

w
h
a
t 

w
e
 

p
ro

m
is

e
d
. 

 
T

h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

 h
a
s
 d

e
v
is

e
d
 a

 n
e
w

 w
a
y
 o

f 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 
a
n
d
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 

w
e
’ll

 b
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t

o
 a

ll 
s
ta

ff
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

m
o
n
th

ly
 T

e
a
m

 T
a
lk

. 
 

 
I 

w
a
n
t 

to
 

th
a
n
k
 

e
v
e
ry

o
n
e
 

fo
r 

th
e
ir
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 
to

 
a
 
v
e
ry

 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
y
e
a
r.

 
 
I 

lo
o
k
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 t
o
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

e
x
c
it
in

g
 y

e
a
r 

a
s
 w

e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 

w
o
rk

 
to

g
e
th

e
r 

to
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

 
W

it
h
 t

h
a
n
k
s
. 

  S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

 B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

3
5
 H

a
fo

d
 R

o
a
d
 

H
e
re

fo
rd

  
H

R
1
 1

S
H

 
T
e
l:

  
  

 0
1
4
3
2
 3

8
3
5
1
9
 

E
m
a
il

: 
 s

re
e
s
@

h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 

19



 
    

3

   K
e
y
 C
o
n
ta
c
ts
 

 

M
a
lc
o
lm
 M
a
c
A
s
k
il
l 

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 
B

ro
c
k
in

g
to

n
, 

3
5
 H

a
fo

d
 R

o
a
d
, 

H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
H

R
1
 1

S
H

 
T
e
l:

  
0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
2
2
7
 

E
m
a
il

: 
m

m
a
c
a
s
k
ill

@
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
 

 
 

 

T
o
n
y
 

F
e
a
th
e
rs
to
n
e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

(f
ro
m
 0
2
.0
6
.0
8
) 

 
F

ra
n
k
lin

 H
o
u
s
e
 

4
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
R

o
a
d

 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 H
R

1
 2

A
Z

 
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
1
8
9
1
 

E
m
a
il

: 
a
fe

a
th

e
rs

to
n
e
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
. 

g
o
v
.u

k
 

 
C
o
li
n
 B
ir
k
s
 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
F

ra
n
k
lin

 H
o
u
s
e
 

   
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
1
9
8
0

 
E
m
a
il

: 
c
s
b
ir
k
s
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
. 

g
o
v
.u

k
 

 

   R
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

 •
 

A
rc

h
it
e
c
tu

re
 
a
n
d
 
b
u
ild

in
g
 
d
e
s
ig

n
, 

a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t,

 b
u
ild

in
g
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 

e
s
ta

te
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t,

 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

u
s
to

d
ia

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

•
 

T
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 a

ll 
a
s
p
e
c
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

h
o
ld

in
g
s
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
o
ff

ic
e
 

a
n
d
 

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

c
e
n
tr

e
s
, 

fa
rm

s
, 

w
o
o
d
la

n
d
s
, 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

e
s
ta

te
s
, 

lib
ra

ri
e
s
, 

p
u
b
lic

 t
o
ile

ts
, 

lis
te

d
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

m
a
rk

e
t 

h
a
lls

 
a
n
d
 

m
o
n
u
m

e
n
ts

. 
  

•
 

P
ro

je
c
ts

 a
re

 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
c
lie

n
ts

 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 

c
o
lle

g
e
s
 

o
f 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 a

id
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

. 

•
 

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

m
a
jo

r 
a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
 

a
n
d
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
, 

c
a
te

ri
n
g
 

a
n
d
 c

le
a
n
in

g
. 

•
 

A
ll 

a
s
p
e
c
ts

 
o
f 

a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
 

a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 

A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
, 

th
e
 

m
a
jo

r 
re

v
ie

w
 

o
f 

o
ff

ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

w
id

e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 

o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

a
s
s
e
ts

 
a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 P

C
T

. 
   

    A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 R
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
ri
n
g
 

A
ft

e
r 

s
o
m

e
 f

a
ls

e
 s

ta
rt

s
, 

th
e
 p

o
s
ts

 o
f 

D
e
s
ig

n
 

a
n
d
 

M
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r,

 
E

s
ta

te
s
 

&
 

V
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 

th
e
 

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

&
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 f

ill
e
d
. 

 
 T

h
e
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

te
a
m

 
is

 
b
e
g
in

n
in

g
 t

o
 t

a
k
e
 s

h
a
p
e
. 

T
h
e
 n

e
w

 P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 

a
n
d
 

C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 

a
p
p
o
in

te
d
 

a
n
d
 

e
ff

o
rt

s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 

a
p
p
o
in

t 
th

e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r,

 w
h
o
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 f
o
r 

th
a
t 

te
a
m

. 
T

h
e
 
P

A
 
to

 
th

e
 
H

e
a
d
 
o
f 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 
h
a
s
 

a
ls

o
 b

e
e
n
 a

p
p
o
in

te
d
. 

 D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
  

 T
h
e
 

te
a
m

 
h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 

w
o
rk

in
g
 

o
n
 

a
 

la
rg

e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
a
p
it
a
l 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 
s
o
m

e
 
o
f 

w
h
ic

h
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 i

n
to

 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r.

 T
h
e
s
e
 

in
c
lu

d
e
: 

•
 

N
e
w

 l
iv

e
s
to

c
k
 m

a
rk

e
t 

•
 

E
d
g
a
r 

S
tr

e
e
t 
G

ri
d
 

•
 

N
e
w

 c
re

m
a
to

ri
u
m

 

•
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 F

u
tu

re
s
 

•
 

N
o
rt

h
o
lm

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

•
 

L
e
d
b
u
ry

 C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 C
e
n
tr

e
 

•
 

S
u
tt

o
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

20



 
    

4

    •
 

R
iv

e
rs

id
e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

•
 

W
e
o
b
le

y
 H

ig
h
 S

p
o
rt

s
 h

a
ll 

•
 

N
e
w

 M
in

s
te

r 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
 

•
 

W
y
e
b
ri
d
g
e
 A

c
a
d
e
m

y
. 

 
In

 
a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic

a
to

rs
, 

7
0
%

 
o
f 

th
e
 

m
a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

w
a
s
 

c
o
m

m
it
te

d
 

b
y
 

3
0
th

 
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r,

 2
0
0
7
. 

 U
p
g
ra

d
in

g
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 b

ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 p

u
b
lic

 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 

u
p
 

to
 

th
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 
o
f 

th
e
 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

D
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 

A
c
t 

h
a
s
 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

a
n
d
 b

y
 3

1
s
t 

M
a
rc

h
, 

2
0
0
7
 i

n
 e

x
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
6
6
%

 
o
f 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
 w

it
h
 p

u
b
lic

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

c
o
n
fo

rm
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
is

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t.
 

 E
n
e
rg

y
 c

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 f

ro
m

 
S

a
lix

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 t

e
a
m

 c
o
p
e
d
 s

u
p
e
rb

ly
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 f

lo
o
d
s
 

in
 J

u
ly

 2
0
0
7
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 a

 s
w

if
t 

in
it
ia

l 
re

s
p
o
n
s
e
 

a
n
d
 

th
e
 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 

o
f 

w
o
rk

s
 

in
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 r
e
-o

p
e
n
in

g
 a

t 
th

e
 s

ta
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 n

e
w

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
y
e
a
r.

 

 E
s
ta
te
s
 a
n
d
 V
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
  

 T
h
e
re

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 t

w
o
 m

a
jo

r 
a
d
v
a
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

e
x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 

in
  

H
e
re

fo
rd

. 
 T

h
e
  

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
  
F

u
tu

re
s
  
 P

la
n
  

    w
it
h
 

A
d
v
a
n
ta

g
e
 

W
e
s
t 

M
id

la
n
d
s
 

h
a
s
 

s
e
e
n
 

w
o
rk

 
s
ta

rt
 

o
n
 

th
e
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

o
f 

a
 

n
e
w

 
E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e
 

H
u
b
 

b
y
 

E
v
a
n
s
 

E
a
s
y
s
p
a
c
e
 

a
n
d
 

w
o
rk

 
h
a
s
 

a
lm

o
s
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

o
n
 

th
e
 

c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

a
 

n
e
w

 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 

ro
a
d
. 

 T
h
e
 
s
m

a
llh

o
ld

in
g
s
 
e
s
ta

te
 
h
a
s
 
h
a
d
 
a
n
o
th

e
r 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
y
e
a
r 

w
it
h
 

c
a
p
it
a
l 

re
c
e
ip

ts
 

fo
r 

d
is

p
o
s
a
ls

 j
u
s
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

o
f 

£
1
 m

ill
io

n
. 

 
R

e
n
t 

a
rr

e
a
rs

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 

b
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
 

c
lo

s
e
ly

. 
 T

h
e
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

e
s
ta

te
 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 

to
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

 
w

e
ll 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
re

 a
re

 o
n
ly

 a
 f

e
w

 v
o
id

 u
n
it
s
. 

 T
h
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

2
0
%

 
o
f 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

a
s
s
e
ts

 
h
a
s
 

o
n
c
e
 

m
o
re

 
b
e
e
n
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 

 T
h
e
 t

e
a
m

 i
s
 w

o
rk

in
g
 c

lo
s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 c

o
lle

a
g
u
e
s
 

in
 E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
, 

A
W

M
 a

n
d
 E

S
G

 
(H

e
re

fo
rd

) 
L
td

 
to

 
m

a
n
a
g
e
 

th
e
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 

re
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

a
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

te
n
a
n
ts

, 
w

it
h
in

 
th

e
 

E
S

G
 

a
re

a
. 

 T
h
e
 t

e
a
m

 h
a
s
 e

n
a
b
le

d
 t

w
o
 m

a
jo

r 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 t
o
 

p
ro

c
e
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 a

c
q
u
is

it
io

n
 o

f 
k
e
y
 s

it
e
s
: 

•
 

A
c
q
u
is

it
io

n
 
o
f 

th
e
 
n
e
w

 
liv

e
s
to

c
k
 
m

a
rk

e
t 

s
it
e
. 

    •
 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 a

c
q
u
is

it
io

n
s
 t

o
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 E

S
G

 
p
ro

je
c
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 

B
lu

e
s
c
h
o
o
l 

H
o
u
s
e
, 

3
2
 

C
o
n
in

g
s
b
y
 

S
tr

e
e
t,

 
5
 

B
la

c
k
fr

ia
rs

 
S

tr
e
e
t 

a
n
d
 F

ra
n
k
lin

 H
o
u
s
e
. 

 

F
a
c
il
it
ie
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
g
ro

u
n
d
s
, 

c
a
te

ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 c

le
a
n
in

g
 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 
h
a
v
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

th
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 

y
e
a
r 

a
n
d
 

a
ll 

ta
rg

e
ts

 
h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 

m
e
t.

 
T

h
e
 

C
a
te

ri
n
g
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

is
 i

n
v
o
lv

e
d
 i

n
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

m
a
jo

r 
c
a
te

ri
n
g
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 n

u
tr

it
io

n
a
l 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
, 

F
o
o
d
 M

ile
s
 a

n
d
 H

e
a
lt
h
y
 S

c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 A

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 m

o
v
e
s
 a

re
 a

 m
a
jo

r 
p
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 

F
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

&
 

P
re

m
is

e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r’
s
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 a
n
d
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

m
o
v
e
s
, 

la
rg

e
 

a
n
d
 s

m
a
ll,

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
. 

 C
u
s
to
d
ia
n
s
 

 T
h
e
 c

u
s
to

d
ia

n
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 
a
t 

a
ll 

th
e
 

m
a
in

 
a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
. 

 
T

h
e
re

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i

m
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 b

o
th

 t
h
e
 

s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 
a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 
a
t 

a
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
 a

n
d
 h

e
a
lt
h
 &

 s
a
fe

ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 

T
o
w

n
 

H
a
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 

A
s
s
e
m

b
ly

 
R

o
o
m

 
h
a
v
e
 
h
o
s
te

d
 
a
 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

w
e
d
d
in

g
s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r.

 
 

A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.
 

21



 
    

5

    L
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 I
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

 T
h
is

 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 n

o
w

 c
o
m

e
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 r

e
m

it
 o

f 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

h
a
s
 

a
n
 

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t 

  
ro

le
  

to
  

 e
n
s
u
re

  
th

e
  
q
u
a
lit

y
  
 a

n
d
  

s
u
it
a
b
ili

ty
 

o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

d
a
ta

. 
A

 
re

v
ie

w
 

o
f 

c
u
rr

e
n
t 

d
a
ta

 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
h
a
s
 
b
e
e
n
 
in

s
ti
g
a
te

d
 

a
n
d
 w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 i
n
to

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
. 

 
 T

h
e
 
2
0
0
8
/0

9
 
A

s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 
w

a
s
 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

in
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

  K
e
y
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S

 
 •
 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 

th
a
t 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 a

s
s
e
ts

 a
re

 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

ig
h
t 

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
 

fo
r 

th
e
 l

o
n
g
 t

e
rm

, 
c
o
s
t-

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 
o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

 

•
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

a
n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

o
n
 

c
a
p
it
a
l 

a
n
d
 

re
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

. 
 •
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t 

a
n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

  

    O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F
 

 •
 

C
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 t
e
a
m

 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
n
d
 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

 D
E
L
IV
E
R
IN
G
 I
M
P
R
O
V
E
D
 V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 

M
O
N
E
Y
 

 •
 

W
o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 

P
C

T
 

to
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 

a
n
d
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
t:

 
o
 

A
n
 

in
te

ri
m

 
o
ff

ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f

o
r 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 P

C
T

. 
o
 

A
 

lo
n
g
 

te
rm

 
H

Q
 

&
 

b
a
c
k
 

o
ff

ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

b
a
s
e
d
 

a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

p
la

n
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 •
 

R
e
v
ie

w
in

g
 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

s
y
s
te

m
s
 

a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 
fo

r 
a
 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 

to
 

m
a
n
a
g
in

g
 a

s
s
e
t 

re
la

te
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

 •
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
n
g
 

to
 

th
e
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 
re

v
ie

w
 

b
y
 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 
a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 
p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 
fo

r 
fu

tu
re

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 a

n
  

       
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

n
e
e
d
 g

iv
e
n
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 
 

to
 w

o
rk

 e
v
e
r 

m
o
re

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 P

C
T

. 
 •
 

C
a
rr

y
in

g
 o

u
t 

a
 v

a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 s

m
a
llh

o
ld

in
g
s
 e

s
ta

te
. 

   

A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.
 

22



 
    

6

   K
e
y
 C
o
n
ta
c
ts
 

 

T
o
n
y
 F
o
rd
 

C
h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A

u
d
it
o
r 

 
B

ro
c
k
in

g
to

n
, 

3
5
 H

a
fo

d
 R

o
a
d
, 

H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
H

R
1
 1

S
H

 
T
e
l:

  
0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
4
2
5
 

E
m
a
il

: 
ra

fo
rd

@
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
 

 
 

 

G
e
o
rg
e
 

B
ro
m
a
g
e
 

A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

(S
p
e
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
) 

 
B

ro
c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
4
3
0
 

E
m
a
il

: 
g
e
b
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
. 

g
o
v
.u

k
 

 
J
a
n
in
e
 D
a
v
ie
s
 

A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

(G
e
n
e
ra

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
) 

  
B

ro
c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
1
8
6
2
 

E
m
a
il

: 
ja

d
a
v
ie

s
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
. 

g
o
v
.u

k
 

 R
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

 •
 

T
h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e
 A

u
d
it
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 T

e
a
m

 i
s
 t

o
 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 

th
e
 

k
e
y
 

ri
s
k
s
 

to
 

w
h
ic

h
 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

is
 e

x
p
o
s
e
d
 a

n
d
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 

th
e
 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 
in

te
rn

a
l 

c
o
n
tr

o
l 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

–
 i

t 
is

 n
o
t 

a
 s

u
b
s
ti
tu

te
 f

o
r 

it
. 

 
T

h
e
 A

u
d
it
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 T

e
a
m

 i
s
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 n
o
t 

 

     
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 

fo
r 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 

th
a
t 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te

 
a
n
d
 
e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 
in

te
rn

a
l 

c
o
n
tr

o
ls

 
a
re

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 t

o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t

h
e
 k

e
y
 r

is
k
s
: 

th
a
t 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 
lie

s
 

w
it
h
 

s
e
n
io

r 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t.

 
 

•
 

A
u
d
it
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

e
n
s
u
re

 
th

a
t 

th
e
ir
 

p
la

n
s
 

a
n
d
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 a

re
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
 w

it
h
 t

h
o
s
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 J

o
in

t 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

 
in

 
th

e
 
fo

rm
 
o
f 

re
v
ie

w
in

g
 
a
n
d
 
a
p
p
ro

v
in

g
 

th
e
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
. 

 J
M

T
 c

a
n
 r

e
q
u
e
s
t 

a
d
-h

o
c
 

re
v
ie

w
s
 d

e
p
e
n
d
in

g
 o

n
 r

is
k
s
 i

d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b

y
 

th
e
m

. 
 •
 

T
h
e
 
re

la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip

 
w

it
h
 
th

e
 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 
C

a
re

 
T

ru
s
t 

in
te

rn
a
l 

a
u
d
it
o
rs

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 

to
 

b
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
, 

w
it
h
 

jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 
b
e
in

g
 
a
g
re

e
d
 
o
n
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 
to

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r.

 

  A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 •
 

A
u
d
it
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

is
 

a
 

m
e
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

th
e
 

C
h
a
rt

e
re

d
 

In
s
ti
tu

te
 

o
f 

P
u
b
lic

 
F

in
a
n
c
e
 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
ts

 A
u
d
it
 B

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 C

lu
b
. 

 •
 
D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 E
q
u
a
li
ty

 
o
 

A
ll 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

 
o
f 

A
u
d
it
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
tt

e
n
d
e
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 t

ra
in

in
g
. 

     
o
 

T
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A

u
d
it
o
r 

(C
IA

) 
is

 a
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e
 

A
d
v
is

e
r 

a
n
d
 

a
tt

e
n
d
s
 t

h
e
 R

o
y
a
l 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

C
o
lle

g
e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 
B

lin
d
 
o
n
 a

 w
e
e
k
ly

 b
a
s
is

 t
o
 

g
iv

e
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 

a
s
 

p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
is

 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 

o
 

A
 w

o
rk

 s
ta

ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
t 

u
p
 o

n
 

th
e
 
g
ro

u
n
d
 
fl
o
o
r 

o
f 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 
to

 
ta

k
e
 o

n
 w

o
rk

 p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 

R
N

C
B

. 
o
 

A
ll 

re
p
o
rt

s
 

to
 

th
e
 

A
u
d
it
 

a
n
d
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 

c
a
n
 

b
e
 

m
a
d
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 
in

 
la

rg
e
 

p
ri
n
t,

 B
ra

ill
e
 o

r 
o
n
 t

a
p
e
 o

n
 r

e
q
u
e
s
t.

 
o
 

A
u
d
it
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 

a
n
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 a

n
d
 a

 d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.

 
 

•
 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

o
 

1
0
0
%

 
c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 

o
f 

S
ta

ff
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 

a
n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
te

rv
ie

w
s
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

d
e
a
d
lin

e
 d

a
te

. 
o
 

1
0
0
%

 c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 r

a
te

 f
o
r 

th
e
 S

ta
ff

 
O

p
in

io
n
 S

u
rv

e
y
. 

o
 

A
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 

1
0
0
%

 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

in
 

b
a
c
k
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 i
n
te

rv
ie

w
s
. 

o
 

A
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 

1
0
0
%

 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

in
 

c
o
n
d
u
c
ti
n
g
 e

x
it
 i
n
te

rv
ie

w
s
. 

A
u
d
it
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

 

23



 
    

7

   S
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 •
 

In
 t

h
e
 A

n
n
u
a
l 

A
u
d
it
 a

n
d
 I

n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 l

e
tt

e
r 

d
a
te

d
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 
2
0
0
8
 

th
e
 

A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 c

o
m

m
e
n
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

“T
h
e
 A

u
d
it
 

a
n
d
  
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
  

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
  

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
  

h
a
s
 

s
h
o
w

n
 

re
a
l 

s
ig

n
s
 

o
f 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t,

 
th

e
re

 
is

 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 

in
te

ra
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 

C
h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A

u
d
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
e
 i
s
 g

o
o
d
”.

 
 

•
 

T
h
e
 A

u
d
it
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 w

a
s
 a

ls
o
 a

b
le

 t
o
 

re
ly

 o
n
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e
 A

u
d
it
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 a

s
 

p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
ir
 

re
v
ie

w
 

o
f 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ts

. 
 •
 

A
u
d
it
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

h
a
s
 

3
1
 

lo
c
a
l 

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
 

u
s
e
d
 

to
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in

s
t 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 o

u
tt

u
rn

 f
ig

u
re

s
. 

 T
h
e
s
e
 

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
 

a
re

 
lin

k
e
d
 

to
 

th
e
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

P
la

n
, 

C
IP

F
A

 C
o
d
e
 o

f 
P

ra
c
ti
c
e
 f

o
r 

In
te

rn
a
l 

A
u
d
it
, 

a
n
d
 

th
e
 

U
s
e
 

o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

K
e
y
 

L
in

e
s
 o

f 
E

n
q
u
ir
y
. 

 •
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
 

h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 

a
ff

e
c
te

d
 

b
y
 

th
e
 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
in

v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 

c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

A
u
d
it
 a

n
d
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 c

a
lle

d
 t

o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 f

o
llo

w
 u

p
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il:

 
 

       o
 

%
 o

f 
a
u
d
it
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 w

it
h
in

 1
0
%

 o
f 

ta
rg

e
t 

ti
m

e
s
 w

a
s
 o

n
ly

 3
3
%

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 

to
 

a
 

ta
rg

e
t 

o
f 

8
0
%

 
–
 

C
IA

 
w

ill
 

b
e
 

re
v
ie

w
in

g
 

th
is

 
a
re

a
 

w
it
h
 

te
a
m

 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

; 
o
 

1
6
%

 
o
f 

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n
t 

b
ri
e
fs

 
w

e
re

 
s
ig

n
e
d
 o

ff
 b

y
 c

lie
n
ts

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t

o
 a

 
ta

rg
e
t 

o
f 

1
0
0
%

 –
 C

IA
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

a
k
in

g
 

th
is

 
a
 

jo
in

t 
o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
 

in
 

th
e
 

jo
in

t 
p
ro

to
c
o
l 
w

it
h
 D

ir
e
c
to

rs
; 

o
 

a
n
s
w

e
ri
n
g
 

te
le

p
h
o
n
e
 

c
a
lls

 
w

a
s
 

a
t 

8
1
.2

4
%

 
c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 

to
 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
rg

e
t 

o
f 

9
5
%

. 
C

IA
 l

ia
is

in
g
 w

it
h
 I

C
T

 
to

 
im

p
ro

v
e
 

th
is

 
b
e
a
ri
n
g
 

in
 

m
in

d
 

a
u
d
it
o
rs

 
a
re

 
n
o
t 

a
lw

a
y
s
 

a
t 

th
e
ir
 

d
e
s
k
s
; 

o
 

s
ic

k
n
e
s
s
 
a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 
is

 
ru

n
n
in

g
 
a
t 

9
.6

 
d
a
y
s
 

p
e
r 

ft
e
 

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 

to
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
rg

e
t 

o
f 

9
; 

o
 

o
n
ly

 
8
 

o
f 

th
e
 

1
2
 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 

te
a
m

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

to
o
k
 

p
la

c
e
, 

b
u
t 

w
a
s
 

s
u
p
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 

b
y
 

re
g
u
la

r 
1
-2

-1
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 C

IA
 a

n
d
 N

e
w

s
 &

 
V

ie
w

s
 

b
e
in

g
 

c
ir
c
u
la

te
d
 

to
 

a
ll 

te
a
m

 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

. 
F

o
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
 

a
ll 

te
a
m

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

w
ill

 
b
e
 

b
o
o
k
e
d
 

w
e
ll 

in
 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
. 

 

    K
e
y
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S
 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 

a
n
a
ly

s
e
 

c
lie

n
t 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

re
q
u
e
s
te

d
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 

th
e
 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 

o
f 

e
a
c
h
 

a
u
d
it
 

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n
t,

 
ta

k
in

g
 

p
o
s
it
iv

e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

to
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 

th
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

if
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
 O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F
 

•
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

th
e
 

te
a
m

 
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

in
 

th
e
 

lig
h
t 

o
f 

th
e
 C

ro
o
k
a
ll 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 

th
e
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

fo
r 

IC
T

 
a
n
d
 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 g

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 a

u
d
it
 r

e
v
ie

w
. 

 D
E
L
IV
E
R
IN
G
 I
M
P
R
O
V
E
D
 V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 

M
O
N
E
Y

 
•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 

A
u
d
it
 

&
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 
b
y
 i

m
p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 p

la
n
. 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 

th
e
 

C
IA

’s
 

ro
u
ti
n
e
 

a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt

 t
o
 A

u
d
it
 &

 C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

it
 f

o
llo

w
s
 t

h
e
 f

o
rm

a
t 
o
f 

th
e
 n

e
w

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t.

 

•
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 a

d
 h

o
c
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
. 

•
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 f
u
n
d
a
m

e
n
ta

l 
s
y
s
te

m
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t
o
 

ti
m

e
s
c
a
le

s
. 

  

A
u
d
it
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.

 

24



 
    

8

  K
e
y
 C
o
n
ta
c
ts
 

                R
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 

A
d
m

in
is

te
ri
n
g
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
, 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

ra
te

s
, 

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

re
n
t,

 
s
u
n
d
ry

 
d
e
b
to

rs
, 

m
o
rt

g
a
g
e
s
, 

re
c
u
rr

in
g
 i
n
c
o
m

e
. 

•
 

A
d
m

in
is

te
ri
n
g
 
th

e
 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 
a
n
d
 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B

e
n
e
fi
t 

s
c
h
e
m

e
s
. 

 

•
 

E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

p
a
rk

in
g
 p

e
n
a
lt
y
 n

o
ti
c
e
s
. 

    

                        •
 

B
a
c
k
 

o
ff

ic
e
 

c
a
s
h
ie

ri
n
g
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 I

n
fo

 S
h
o
p
 c

a
s
h
 

o
ff

ic
e
s
. 

•
 

P
a
y
in

g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

’ 
a
llo

w
a
n
c
e
s
, 

s
ta

ff
 

s
a
la

ri
e
s
 
a
n
d
 p

a
y
in

g
 s

u
p
p
lie

rs
 
fo

r 
g
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

   

                   A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 o
u
r 
B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 C
P
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

W
e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 

a
n
 

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

C
P

A
 

ra
ti
n
g
 

m
o
v
in

g
 f

ro
m

 ‘
F

a
ir
’ 

to
 ‘

G
o
o
d
’.
 T

h
is

 r
e
fl
e
c
te

d
 

th
e
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ro

s
s
 a

 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
. 

    

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

  

 
M
ik
e
 T
o
n
e
y
 

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
, 

3
5
 H

a
fo

d
 R

o
a
d
, 

H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
H

R
1
 1

S
H

 
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
3
9
9
 

E
m
a
il
: 

m
to

n
e
y
@

h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

C
h
ri
s
ti
n
e
 P
e
th
e
ri
c
k
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

T
o
w

n
 H

a
ll,

 S
t 

O
w

e
n
 

S
tr

e
e
t,
 H

e
re

fo
rd

, 
 

H
R

1
 2

P
J
 

  
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
3
3
5
 

E
m
a
il

: 
c
p
e
th

e
ri
c
k
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
J
o
h
n
 P
a
rk
in

 
R

e
v
e
n
u
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

T
o
w

n
 H

a
ll,

 S
t 

O
w

e
n
 

S
tr

e
e
t,

 H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
 

H
R

1
 2

P
J
 

  
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
3
9
4
 

E
m
a
il

: 
jp

a
rk

in
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 
K
a
re
n
 D
a
rb
y
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 

F
ra

u
d
 &

 
In

v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

T
o
w

n
 H

a
ll,

 S
t 

O
w

e
n
 

S
tr

e
e
t,

 H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
 

H
R

1
 2

P
J
 

 
T
e
l:
 0

1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
3
4
9
 

E
m
a
il

: 
k
jd

a
rb

y
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
A
lu
n
 S
m
it
h

 
E

x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 

&
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

   
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
5
9
2
 

E
m
a
il

: 
a
w

s
m

it
h
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
A
m
a
n
d
a
 D
a
ll
im
o
re
 

S
o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

  
E

x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

C
o
u
n
ty

 O
ff

ic
e
s
, 

 
B

a
th

 S
tr

e
e
t,

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 
H

R
1
 2

H
Q

 
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
1
9
9
9
 

E
m
a
il

: 
a
d
a
lli

m
o
re

@
 

h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 

25



 
    

9

  In
c
re
a
s
in
g
 
c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
 
le
v
e
ls
 
fo

r 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

in
c
o
m

e
: 

 

•
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 –

 9
8
.6

2
%

 (
9
8
.3

4
%

 
in

 2
0
0
6
/7

) 

•
 

D
e
b
to

rs
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 
–
 

9
6
.4

%
 

(9
5
%

 
in

 
2
0
0
6
/7

) 

•
 

R
e
c
u
rr

in
g
 

b
ill

in
g
 

–
 

9
9
.1

%
 

(9
3
%

 
in

 
2
0
0
6
/7

) 
 Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
im
e
s
 f

o
r 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

: 

•
 

N
e
w

 c
la

im
s
 2

7
 d

a
y
s
 (

3
0
 d

a
y
s
 i
n
 2

0
0
6
/7

) 

•
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 1

3
.4

8
 d

a
y
s
 (

1
6
 d

a
y
s
 i
n
 2

0
0
6
/7

) 
 M
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 a
c
c
u
ra
c
y
 l
e
v
e
ls
 f

o
r 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

: 

•
 

9
8
.4

%
 f

o
r 

2
0
0
7
/8

 
 Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 o
u
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 c
a
n
 

c
o
n
ta
c
t 
u
s
 

W
e
 
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 
th

e
 
A

c
a
d
e
m

y
 
s
e
lf
-s

e
rv

ic
e
 

s
o
ft

w
a
re

, 
w

h
ic

h
 

e
n
a
b
le

s
 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 
to

 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 d

e
ta

ils
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

re
c
o
rd

, 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 o

r 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 r

a
te

s
 o

n
-l
in

e
. 

L
a
n
d
lo

rd
s
 c

a
n
 

a
ls

o
 

u
s
e
 

th
e
 

fa
c
ili

ty
 

to
 

c
h
e
c
k
 

p
a
y
m

e
n
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
e
 c

la
im

a
n
t 

h
a
s
 o

p
te

d
 f

o
r 

d
ir
e
c
t 

p
a
y
m

e
n
t.

 
       

  Im
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 

L
o
c
a
l 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 (
L
H
A
) 
in
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8

 
L
H

A
 w

a
s
 i

n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 f

ro
m

 7
th

 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
8
 f

o
r 

n
e
w

  
te

n
a
n
ts

  
a
n
d
  

is
  

a
  
n
e
w

  
w

a
y
  

o
f 

 p
a
y
in

g
  

h
o
u
s
in

g
 b

e
n
e
fi
t,

 r
e
m

o
v
in

g
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
fe

r 
re

n
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 R

e
n
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
. 

It
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 

a
p
p
ly

 
to

 
te

n
a
n
ts

 
o
f 

s
o
c
ia

l 
la

n
d
lo

rd
s
. 

F
o
r 

th
e
 

m
a
jo

ri
ty

 
o
f 

c
la

im
a
n
ts

 
th

e
 
a
llo

w
a
n
c
e
 
w

ill
 
b
e
 

p
a
id

 d
ir
e
c
t 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
o
 t

h
e
ir
 l
a
n
d
lo

rd
. 

 C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 
to
 
th
e
 
L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

P
e
n
s
io
n
 S
c
h
e
m
e

 

M
a
jo

r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

to
 

th
e
 

w
a
y
 

th
e
 

p
e
n
s
io

n
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 

o
p
e
ra

te
s
 

w
e
re

 
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
. 

A
ll 

s
ta

ff
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 a

d
v
is

e
d
 o

f 
th

e
 i

m
p
a
c
t 

th
e
s
e
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 o

n
 t

h
e
m

. 

 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

F
ra
u
d
 
h
a
s
 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 
a
n
 
e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

ra
ti
n
g
 f

o
r 

th
e
 s

e
c
u
ri
ty

 e
le

m
e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
. 

 
  U
p
g
ra
d
in
g
 
o
u
r 

O
n
-l
in
e
 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

w
e
b
s
it
e
 

In
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 

c
o
m

p
ly

 
w

it
h
 

th
e
 

n
e
w

 
s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

c
a
rd

 i
n
d
u
s
tr

y
 w

e
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 a

 n
e
w

 o
n
-l
in

e
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

fa
c
ili

ty
 

u
s
in

g
 

A
lli

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 

L
e
ic

e
s
te

r’
s
 

B
ill

p
a
y
 

s
o
ft

w
a
re

. 
   

  K
e
y
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 F
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S
 

•
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 

b
e
tt

e
r 

lo
c
a
l 

p
a
y
m

e
n
t 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

. 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

ro
v
id

in
g
 e

le
c
tr

o
n
ic

 b
ill

in
g
 

a
n
d
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 c
la

im
s
/c

h
a
n
g
e
s
. 

 

O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F
 

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 s

ta
ff

 a
n
d
 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 

in
d
iv

id
u
a
l 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p

la
n
s
. 

 D
E
L
IV
E
R
IN
G
 I
M
P
R
O
V
E
D
 V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 

M
O
N
E
Y
 

•
 

R
e
d
u
c
in

g
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
in

g
 c

o
s
ts

. 

•
 

B
e
tt

e
r 

w
o
rk

in
g
 
w

it
h
 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
, 

re
v
ie

w
in

g
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

te
d
 

le
tt

e
rs

 a
n
d
 f

o
rm

s
. 

•
 

U
p
g
ra

d
in

g
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

y
 

s
y
s
te

m
s
 

to
 

c
o
v
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
w

 v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
In

g
re

s
 s

o
ft

w
a
re

 a
n
d
 t
o
 

c
re

a
te

 s
e
rv

e
r 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
.  

•
 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
fr

o
m

 
s
o
ft

w
a
re

 
p
ro

v
id

e
rs

 a
n
d
 I
C

T
.  

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 a

 d
e
b
t 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

•
 

P
re

p
a
ri
n
g
 

fo
r 

th
e
 

n
e
w

 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 f
o
r 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

     

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.

  

26



 
    

1
0

  K
e
y
 C
o
n
ta
c
ts
 

                R
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

 •
 

A
s
s
is

t 
d
ir
e
c
to

rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

a
n
d
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

h
o
ld

e
rs

 
w

it
h
 

m
a
n
a
g
in

g
 

th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’

s
 b

u
d
g
e
t.
 

•
 

P
re

p
a
re

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 
a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 

a
n
d
 

m
a
in

ta
in

 
th

e
 

C
e
d
a
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

s
y
s
te

m
. 

   

                          

•
 

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 

a
s
p
e
c
ts

 
o
f 

lo
c
a
l 

g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
, 

b
u
d
g
e
ta

ry
 

p
o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

 

•
 

C
o
-o

rd
in

a
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
, 

V
A

T
 

a
d
v
ic

e
, 

b
o
rr

o
w

in
g
 

a
n
d
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

. 
   

                          •
 

M
e
d
iu

m
 

T
e
rm

 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

to
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
. 

 

•
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
a
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
. 

•
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 

o
f 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

ri
s
k
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
d
v
ic

e
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

  

 
D
a
v
id
 P
o
w
e
ll
 

H
e
a
d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
, 

3
5
 H

a
fo

d
 R

o
a
d
, 

H
e
re

fo
rd

, 
H

R
1
 1

S
H

 
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 3

8
3
1
7
3
 

E
m
a
il

: 
d
p
o
w

e
ll@

h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

G
re
g
 E
v
a
n
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
1
8
4
8
 

E
m
a
il

: 
g
e
v
a
n
s
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
H
e
a
th
e
r 
F
o
s
te
r 

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta

n
c
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
2
8
4
 

E
m
a
il
: 

h
fo

s
te

r@
 

h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

 
D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
P

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

&
 

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 R

e
v
ie

w
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
0
4
3
 

E
m
a
il

: 
d
h
o
g
a
n
@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll

 
In

s
u
ra

n
c
e
  

&
 R

is
k
  

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
ro

c
k
in

g
to

n
 

T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
2
9
5
 

E
m
a
il

: 
a
re

w
e
ll@

 
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 
M
a
lc
o
lm
 G
re
e
n

 
F

in
a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

B
la

c
k
fr

ia
rs

  
H

e
re

fo
rd

, 
H

R
1
 2

H
Q

 
T
e
l:

 0
1
4
3
2
 2

6
0
8
1
8
 

E
m
a
il

: 
m

g
re

e
n
@

  
h
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

 

27



 
    

1
1

   A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 C
o
n
s
o
li
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

A
s
 

p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

, 
F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

la
y
s
 a

 k
e
y
 r

o
le

 p
ro

v
id

in
g
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 
a
n
d
 
h
e
lp

in
g
 
to

 
e
n
s
u
re

 
o
u
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
s
 

a
re

 o
n
 a

 s
o
u
n
d
 f

o
o
ti
n
g
. 

 T
h
e
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
 w

a
s
 

p
u
t 

in
 

p
la

c
e
 

fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

a
n
d
 

a
lig

n
e
d
 

o
u
r 

w
o
rk

 w
it
h
 t

h
a
t 
o
f 

o
u
r 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

. 
  R
is
k
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

A
 

c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 

ri
s
k
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 w

a
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 

a
n
 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 

p
a
rt

n
e
r.

 
 

A
ll 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s
 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

a
n
d
 

th
e
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

w
a
s
 

e
x
c
e
lle

n
t.
 

  P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

W
e
 

m
a
d
e
 

a
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 

to
 

b
a
la

n
c
in

g
 t

h
e
 2

0
0
8
/0

9
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

b
y
 i

d
e
n
ti
fy

in
g
 

£
7
5
0
,0

0
0
 

o
f 

s
a
v
in

g
s
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
. 

 
A

 
re

v
ie

w
 
o
f 

p
o
s
ta

l 
c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

, 
le

a
s
e
 

c
a
rs

 
a
n
d
 

p
ri
n
te

r/
p
h
o
to

c
o
p
ie

rs
 

g
a
v
e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
a
n
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

 

   

     Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
  

In
 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

b
ro

u
g
h
t 

fo
rw

a
rd

 a
 s

e
ri
e
s
 o

f 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 t

h
e
 w

a
y
 

w
e
 p

re
s
e
n
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
: 

 •
 

A
 

u
s
e
r 

fr
ie

n
d
ly

 
A

n
n
u
a
l 

R
e
v
ie

w
 

a
n
d
 

S
u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

A
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 b
o
o
k
le

t 
e
x
p
la

in
s
 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 f

in
a
l 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 i
n
 e

v
e
ry

d
a
y
 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
. 

 
T

h
e
re

 
w

a
s
 
s
tr

o
n
g
 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 

fo
r 

th
e
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t.

 
 

•
 

T
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 

le
a
fl
e
t 

e
x
p
la

in
s
 

o
u
r 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

a
n
d
 
w

h
e
re

 
w

e
 
g
e
t 

o
u
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
 

fr
o
m

 i
n
 ‘
b
it
e
 s

iz
e
d
 c

h
u
n
k
s
’.
 

 

•
 

W
e
 w

o
rk

e
d
 w

it
h
 P

o
lic

y
 &

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

to
 

p
re

s
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

a
lo

n
g
s
id

e
 

o
th

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

s
o
 

th
a
t 

a
 

c
le

a
re

r 
p
ic

tu
re

 
o
f 

o
u
r 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

is
 

p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 t

o
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 i
n
 t

h
e
 i

n
te

g
ra

te
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

. 
 •
 

W
e
 

re
p
o
rt

e
d
 

in
 

a
 

ti
m

e
ly

 
m

a
n
n
e
r 

to
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

a
n
d
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

b
o
u
t 
o
u
r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
p
o
s
it
io

n
. 

   

     L
o
c
a
l 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

  
T
a
rg
e
t 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

N
o
 o

f 
ti
m

e
s
 

a
g
g
re

g
a
te

 b
a
n
k
 

b
a
la

n
c
e
s
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 

£
1
0
0
,0

0
0
 i
n
 s

u
rp

lu
s
 

o
r 

o
v
e
rd

ra
w

n
 t

o
 b

e
 

n
o
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 o

n
c
e
 

p
e
r 

m
o
n
th

 
 

M
a
x
im

u
m

 
1
2
 

1
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in

s
t 

P
ru

d
e
n
ti
a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

rs
 f

o
r 

b
o
rr

o
w

in
g
 a

re
 w

it
h
in

 
ta

rg
e
t 

 

1
0
0
%

 
1
0
0
%

 

V
A

T
 p

a
rt

ia
l 

e
x
e
m

p
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n

o
t 

e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 

 

1
0
0
%

 
1
0
0
%

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 a

ll 
re

tu
rn

s
 

b
y
 t

h
e
 d

u
e
 d

a
te

 
 

1
0
0
%

 
1
0
0
%

 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.

 

28



 
    

1
2

    K
e
y
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 F
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

  O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S
 

 •
 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 

a
ll 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
 

te
a
m

s
 

a
re

 
p
e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
tl
y
 

to
 

a
 

h
ig

h
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

. 
 •
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 a

d
v
ic

e
 
o
n
 a

 r
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
fe

e
s
 &

 
c
h
a
rg

e
s
 t

h
a
t 

c
o
n
fo

rm
s
 w

it
h
 b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 

in
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 •
 

P
ro

v
id

in
g
 

h
ig

h
 

q
u
a
lit

y
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

tr
a
in

in
g
. 

             

         O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F

 
 •
 

C
o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 
th

e
 
te

a
m

 
re

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 
in

 
th

e
 

lig
h
t 

o
f 

th
e
 C

ro
o
k
a
ll 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 

th
e
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

fo
r 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

a
d
v
ic

e
. 

                    

         D
E
L
IV
E
R
IN
G
 I
M
P
R
O
V
E
D
 V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 

M
O
N
E
Y

 
 •
 

O
v
e
rs

e
e
in

g
 

th
e
 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 
o
f 

a
 

c
a
s
h
 

re
le

a
s
in

g
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
c
y
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
s
o
m

e
 

£
3
m

. 
 •
 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 

th
a
t 

th
e
 

n
e
w

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

L
e
v
e
l 

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 
a
re

 
im

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
. 

 •
 

R
e
v
ie

w
in

g
 t

h
e
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

 •
 

R
e
s
o
lv

in
g
 

d
is

a
s
te

r 
re

c
o
v
e
ry

 
is

s
u
e
s
 

fo
r 

k
e
y
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
s
y
s
te

m
s
. 

 •
 

W
o
rk

in
g
 

w
it
h
 

P
o
lic

y
 

&
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

c
o
lle

a
g
u
e
s
 
to

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
 
v
a
lu

e
 
fo

r 
m

o
n
e
y
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 C
o
n
t.

 

29



30



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 2
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
A
T
E
 K
E
Y
 P
R
IO
R
IT
IE
S
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 –
 P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 A
S
 A
T
 3
0
 J
U
N
E
 2
0
0
8
 

 

P
a
g
e
 1
 o
f 
3
 

 
O
U
R
 C
U
S
T
O
M
E
R
S
 

 G
e
tt
in
g
 t
h
in
g
s
 r
ig
h
t 
fo
r 
o
u
r 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 

 •
 
Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 o
u
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
n
g
 o
n
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

 •
 
C
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 o
u
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

im
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

 •
 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
g
re
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

 •
 
W
o
rk
in
g
 m
o
re
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

fo
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 

 

T
h
e
 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 
te
a
m
 
h
a
s
 
a
 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
fo
c
u
s
 
o
n
 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 
a
n
d
 
is
 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 
w
o
rk
in
g
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
W
o
rk
 &
 P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 t
o
 s
e
e
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
’s
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
ff
e
ri
n
g
 

c
a
n
 b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
. 
 T
h
is
 w
o
rk
 w
ill
 l
in
k
 i
n
 t
o
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 b
e
in
g
 

le
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 I
n
te
ri
m
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
. 
 T
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 i
n
 o
n
e
 

c
o
n
ta
c
t,
 r
ig
h
t 
fi
rs
t 
ti
m
e
. 

 A
 P
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
. 
 O
v
e
r 
h
a
lf
 o
u
r 
s
ta
ff
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
 

th
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
, 
d
e
ta
ils
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 s
h
o
rt
ly
 o
n
c
e
 d
a
te
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

C
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 t
ra
in
e
rs
. 

 A
ll 
te
a
m
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 f
o
r 
g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
, 
m
o
s
t 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
tl
y
, 
th
a
t 
th
e
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
’s
 t
ra
in
in
g
 d
a
y
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 1
0
 J
u
n
e
. 
 T
h
o
s
e
 n
o
t 
a
b
le
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

w
ill
 j
o
in
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 d
a
y
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
o
u
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 c
a
n
 b
e
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 o
n
 t
im
e
 b
y
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

 W
e
 h
a
v
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
iv
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 –
 o
n
e
 a
t 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 l
e
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 o
n
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 o
f 
o
u
r 
fo
u
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 A
ll 
o
u
r 

p
la
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
o
lic
y
 &
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 t
e
a
m
. 
 W

e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
ly
 r
e
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 o
u
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 a
 s
im
p
le
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 t
h
a
t 
s
ta
rt
s
 a
t 
te
a
m
 

le
v
e
l,
 i
s
 a
g
g
re
g
a
te
d
 a
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 c
u
lm
in
a
te
s
 i
n
 a
 m
o
n
th
ly
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
t 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 l
e
v
e
l.
  
W
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
n
th
ly
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 o
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
is
 
c
lo
s
e
ly
 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 
in
 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 
w
it
h
 
th
e
 
In
te
ri
m
 
D
e
p
u
ty
 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 
a
n
d
 
o
th
e
r 
jo
in
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
te
a
m
 (
J
M
T
) 
c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 o
n
 h
o
w
 t
o
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
a
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
s
h
a
re
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 c
a
re
 t
ru
s
t.
  
A
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
a
d
y
 f
o
r 
J
M
T
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
in
s
ta
n
c
e
 b
y
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

 J
o
in
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
re
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
in
g
 e
x
p
lo
it
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
e
a
m
 

(d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 o
ff
ic
e
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
) 
a
n
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
e
a
m
 (
a
 j
o
in
t 
in
te
rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 

p
la
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 c
a
re
 t
ru
s
t)
. 

31



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 2
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
A
T
E
 K
E
Y
 P
R
IO
R
IT
IE
S
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 –
 P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 A
S
 A
T
 3
0
 J
U
N
E
 2
0
0
8
 

 

P
a
g
e
 2
 o
f 
3
 

 
O
U
R
 S
T
A
F
F
 

 M
a
k
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
ta
ff
 f
e
e
l 
v
a
lu
e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 

 •
 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
R
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 

•
 
P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
In
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

•
 
R
e
s
p
o
n
d
in
g
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

2
0
0
7
 E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 O
p
in
io
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 (
E
O
S
) 
w
it
h
 a
 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 

m
a
k
in
g
 s
u
re
 a
ll 
c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 

a
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
, 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 

s
ta
ff
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 u
s
 m
a
k
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
 t
w
o
-w
a
y
 

d
ia
lo
g
u
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 

s
ta
ff
 t
o
 g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
-m
a
k
in
g
 

•
 
P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
S
in
g
le
 S
ta
tu
s
 J
E
 

p
a
y
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

•
 
R
e
c
ru
it
in
g
, 
re
ta
in
in
g
, 

m
o
ti
v
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 

h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 s
ta
ff
 

 

W
e
 a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 H
R
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
R
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
s
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 t
im
e
ly
. 
 T
h
is
 S
R
D
 w
a
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
e
e
k
 a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

d
e
a
d
lin
e
. 

 A
ll 
2
3
1
 S
R
D
s
 d
u
e
 b
y
 3
1
 M
a
y
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 c
u
t-
o
ff
 d
a
te
 o
f 
2
7
 J
u
n
e
. 

 T
h
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r’
s
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 I
iP
 p
re
-a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
is
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 
 W

e
 w
ill
 p
la
n
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
t 
in
to
 o
u
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 a
s
 

s
o
o
n
 a
s
 i
t 
is
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 t
w
e
n
ty
 f
o
u
r 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
n
th
ly
 T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
. 
 A
ll 
tw
e
n
ty
 f
o
u
r 
T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 f
o
r 
J
u
n
e
 w
e
re
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 a
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 b
e
e
n
 h
e
ld
 a
s
 a
t 
2
7
 J
u
n
e
. 
 

P
la
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 t
e
a
m
s
 t
o
 h
o
ld
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 s
ta
ff
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
e
a
m
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 

 A
ll 
te
a
m
s
 h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 s
ti
ll 
in
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
p
a
y
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
re
 o
p
e
n
in
g
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
 t
o
 l
o
o
k
 a
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
. 
 T
h
is
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 H
R
. 

 A
 k
e
y
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
s
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 b
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 A
M
P
S
 t
e
a
m
 i
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r.
  
P
la
n
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

w
it
h
 H
R
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 c
a
re
fu
lly
 a
s
 t
h
is
 c
o
u
ld
 a
ff
e
c
t 
o
u
r 
a
b
ili
ty
 

to
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 
to
 
a
 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ro
je
c
ts
. 
 
T
h
e
 
o
ff
ic
e
 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
w
ill
 
b
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
h
e
n
 i
t 
e
n
te
rs
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
h
a
s
e
. 

32



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 2
 

R
E
S
O
U
R
C
E
S
 D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
A
T
E
 K
E
Y
 P
R
IO
R
IT
IE
S
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 –
 P
R
O
G
R
E
S
S
 A
S
 A
T
 3
0
 J
U
N
E
 2
0
0
8
 

 

P
a
g
e
 3
 o
f 
3
 

 V
A
L
U
E
 F
O
R
 M
O
N
E
Y
 

P
ro
v
id
in
g
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t,
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 U
s
e
 o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

•
 

P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

•
 

P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 A
re
a
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

•
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 m
o
re
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 V
fM
 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 I
C
T
 a
u
d
it
 a
n
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 (
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 
R
e
v
ie
w
 

re
fe
rs
) 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

•
 

D
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
n
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 

te
c
h
n
iq
u
e
s
 

•
 

B
e
g
in
n
in
g
 a
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 

ra
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

P
C
T
 e
s
ta
te
 

•
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 p
ro
je
c
t 

P
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
e
lf
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
y 
th
e
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
d
e
a
d
lin
e
 i
s
 g
o
in
g
 a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 p
la
n
. 
 E
le
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
a
d
y
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 w
o
rk
 l
o
a
d
s
. 

 T
h
e
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
 w
a
s
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 e
a
rl
ie
r 
th
a
n
 e
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 &
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 o
n
 2
0
 J
u
n
e
. 

 T
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
W
o
rk
 &
 P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 f
re
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 t
e
a
m
 p
re
p
a
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 n
e
w
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
re
g
im
e
. 

 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 A
re
a
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 

m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 v
e
ry
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 a
n
d
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 a
s
s
is
te
d
 i
n
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
. 

 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 A
u
d
it
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
s
ta
g
e
s
 o
f 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 

 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
d
 w
it
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 f
ro
m
 o
u
r 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
r.
 

 P
la
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
’s
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y 
o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 t
e
a
m
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
is
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
. 

 T
h
e
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 C
e
n
tr
e
 f
o
r 
E
x
c
e
lle
n
c
e
 i
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
’s
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
n
o
 c
o
s
t 
to
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il.
  
T
h
e
ir
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
s
 d
u
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 s
u
m
m
e
r.
 

 A
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 a
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
e
v
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
o
 2
0
0
9
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
. 

 A
ll 
te
a
m
s
 a
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
. 

 A
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y 
is
 b
e
in
g
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
. 
 F
o
rm
a
l 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
re
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d
 f
o
r 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r.
  
A
 p
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 j
o
in
t 
h
e
a
d
q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 a
t 
B
ro
c
k
in
g
to
n
 a
n
d
 a
 

jo
in
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
r 
u
n
it
 a
t 
B
e
lm
o
n
t.
  
S
ta
ff
 m
o
v
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
g
in
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
B
ro
c
k
in
g
to
n
 i
s
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 b
y 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 o
n
 t
ra
c
k
 a
n
d
 a
 ‘
m
in
i 
g
u
id
e
’ 
to
 d
o
in
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

 

33



34



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

 CABINET MEMBER PRESENTATIONS - CORPORATE 
& CUSTOMER SERVICES & HUMAN RESOURCES 
AND ICT, EDUCATION AND ACHIEVEMENT 

Report By: Cabinet Member for Corporate & Customer 
Services & Human Resources, 

                     Cabinet Member for ICT, Education and 
Achievement 

 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To receive presentations from both the Cabinet Members for Corporate & Customer 
Services and Human Resources and ICT, Education & Achievement. 

Financial Implications 

2. None, both the former corporate and customer services directorate and the human 
resources service finished 2007/08 close to budget. Despite financial pressures – 
referred to in Appendix 1 – Services will be delivered within budget in this financial 
year. 

Background 

2. The performance improvement framework includes a requirement that Cabinet 
members make annual presentations to the appropriate Scrutiny Committee. 
Appendix 1 to this report meets these requirements. The Appendix is structured as 
follows: 

i. A brief general background to the former Corporate & Customer Services 
Directorate (now Deputy Chief Executives Office) 

ii. Details of Corporate & Customer Services looking at 2007/08 including ICT, 
the key issues to address in 2008 and beyond (excluding ICT) and what is 
changing. 

iii. A brief general background to Human Resources  

iv. Details of Human Resources looking at 2007/08, the key issues to address in 
2008 and beyond and what is changing 

v. Details of the future challenges for ICT 

AGENDA ITEM 6

35



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

3. The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Customer Services and Human Resources will 
address points (i) and (ii). The Cabinet Member will then move onto address points 
(iii) and (iv) concerning Human Resources. Finally the Cabinet member for ICT, 
Education & Attainment will cover point (v).  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the information provided be considered and the Committee 
consider what subjects they might like to consider again as part of their 
future work programme. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

 

Appendix 1 Performance in 2007/08 and challenges for 2008 and beyond 

36



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

APPENDIX 1 

 

PERFORMANCE IN 2007/08 AND CHALLENGES FOR 2008 AND 
BEYOND 

 

 

(i) BACKGROUND TO THE FORMER CORPORATE & CUSTOMER SERVICES 
DIRECTORATE 

 

The former corporate & customer services directorate consisted of: 

v Corporate communications, 

v Emergency and service continuity planning  

v Herefordshire Partnership team 

v Information technology, customer services, modern records and archives 

v Corporate programmes, 

v Legal and democratic services 

v Corporate policy and performance (policy, research and equalities & diversity) 

v Herefordshire Connects 

The budget outturn for 2007/08 showed an overspend of some £1.160m. The largest 
elements were the community network (£1.06m), legal and democratic services (£160k) and 
INFO (£150k) which were only partly balanced by under-spends in corporate ICT projects, 
ICT services, the Directors office and Policy & Performance.  

The budget for 2008/09 is some £10.94m. Current forecasts are that there will be a small 
overspend of £20k. Nevertheless, there remain sizeable budget pressures in legal and 
democratic services (falling land registry income declining and coroners costs increasing) 
while the costs of running the archives building continue to rise. Budget provision has now 
been made for the community network. The outcome of the customer services strategy 
review will determine how INFO continues in 2009/10, when the start up funding of £500k is 
no longer available.  

 

(iia)          2007/08 IN THE FORMER CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 
DIRECTORATE 

 
Highlights during the year were: 

37



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

 
v Responding to floods in June & especially July 2007 & flood threats in January 2008 
v Preparation and issue of the City Centre evacuation plan and re-issue of an updated 

County flood plan. 
v New corporate business continuity strategy and plans approved by CMB / JMT. 
v Establishing a joint emergency planning unit for the Council and PCT  
 
v Achieving level three of the local authority equality standard (although this has to be 

assessed externally in the autumn.) 
v Establishing a complete suite of equality schemes, statutory race, gender and 

disability schemes and a comprehensive equalities policy which now also addresses 
the Government’s community cohesion requirements 

 
v Achieving top scores (green flags) for the LAA & successfully developing the second 

generation LAA (2008 – 2011) with partners (to be signed off by Ministers in June) 
v The first Pride of Herefordshire Awards ceremony, organised with the Hereford 

Journal, was held in October with ten categories & an overall prizewinner. The 
Awards for 2008 are being organised now with an awards ceremony on 16th October. 

v There are now e-consultation capabilities on the Council’s website. Local people can 
see what consultations are underway and respond, if they wish, on line. A message 
board has been trialled for the current consultation on waste and we will be looking at 
text messaging over the coming months. 

v A new look Herefordshire Partnership web site has been launched which is easier to 
navigate, easier to search and contains more documents and information. 

v The co-ordination of a number of successful European funding bids particularly for 
skills and training projects that will bring several £’000k of grant into the County. 

 
v Beginning the implementation of the new social care system to replace CLIX. 
v Maintaining the top performing West Midlands council website rating (SOCITM) 
v Successfully reducing the projected ICT overspend mid year to balance the budget 
v ISO27001 – the international standard for information security - awarded to ICT and 

Modern Records Unit 
v Supporting Cabinet agreement for a Corporate ICT Strategy and the funding to 

support it 
v The implementation of four out of ten critical ICT projects (LANDesk upgrade, 

Web/SPAM filtering, Community Network upgrade and VRF Lite), with four being 
deferred to 2008/09 pending budget authorisation from relevant departments and two 
annually recurring activities (Programme Management and Herefordshire Connects 
support)  

v Deploying of GIS Mapping on intranet for all staff to view 
 
v Launching Info by Phone 
v Retaining Charter Mark for the Info service 
v ISO9001 retained by ICT and Corporate Programmes. Corporate Programmes 

became a corporate service in June 2007 and actively managed 77 projects between 
April 2007 and January 2008. 

v Corporate Programmes completed 42 projects successfully including Info by Phone 
and Community Access points. New large projects included the new Crematorium 
and the Amey service delivery review. 

 
v Creating a single communications team for the Council and PCT combining the press 

office, internal communications, Herefordshire Matters and the Service update for 
Members and non-executive directors 

38



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

v Herefordshire Matters moving from 4 to 6 editions a year with additional costs offset 
by additional advertising and design income 

v Communications unit on target to produce 1000 press releases & press coverage of 
3000 articles a year. In the top 10% of local authorities for media productivity. 

v Implementing ‘Team talk’ across the PCT and Council, adding weekly electronic 
communications and summaries of press coverage 

v Introducing a fortnightly electronic newsletter for members in addition to the quarterly 
Services update that has been expanded to include the PCT 

v Introducing a new weekly communications channel for schools – Schools online 

 
v Improving employee satisfaction scores in three of the directorates four key areas as 

measured by the opinion survey (staff development, leadership style and fair 
treatment; only feeling valued did not improve) 

v 99% of SRDs were completed 
v The Directorate met or improved on the authority’s targets for sickness absence, time 

to recruit, employing 16-24 year olds, employing disabled people and the employee 
opinion survey response rate. 

  
v The percentage of the authority’s best value performance indicators improving year 

on year reached an all time high in 2006/07 - 74%; and the shortly to be reported out-
turn will show that, compared with that performance in 2006/07, 63% improved in 
2007/08 

v Establishing the network of improvement managers across the authority to address 
performance management weaknesses 

v Completing four social care needs assessments on time and to the satisfaction of the 
Director of Adult and Community Services 

v Completing the annual research programme including user satisfaction, housing 
needs and employee opinion surveys, producing the annual State of Herefordshire 
report and demographic forecasts for the County.  

v Undertaking an assessment for Investors in People accreditation 
 
v Land charges and Electoral Registration retained ISO9001 accreditation and Legal 

services retained Lexel 
v The 2007 Council, town and parish elections were managed and there have 

subsequently been by-elections at Old Gore Ward, Little Dewchurch and Colwall 
Parish Councils. 

v Legal services is performing in the upper quartile of indicators for benchmarked 
comparator authorities 

v Legal services handled a number of high profile cases including the Cadbury 
prosecution that secured a record £1m fine for a food hygiene offence 

v Legal services successfully defeated Judicial Reviews with significant media interest 
including Waste Watchers and Brierley Court Farm. 

v The core legal services budget was turned around from a large deficit to a surplus in 
2007/08. 

v Training seminars for employees, stakeholders and outside organisations including 
the diversity agenda, human rights, information law and code of conduct. 

v Revisions to the Member code of conduct were adopted by Council in July 2007 
v Ombudsman complaints are now being processed within 29 days compared with 42 

days in the previous year 
 
 
In contrast:- 
v The Authority’s Section 151 Officer issued a special report on ICT in September 2007 

39



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

v There was an Independent Review into the issues raised by this special report 
(Crookall report), which lead to strengthening of the financial control and corporate 
governance arrangements.  

v User satisfaction with the Authority as a whole remained low at 44% 
v Only 32% of the targets set in the 2007/08 Annual Operating Plan were achieved, 

albeit that a number of those that failed to do so maintained or improved compared 
with performance in the previous year. 

v The authority’s direction of travel score as measured by the Audit Commission 
remained, ‘improving adequately’ for the third year running.  

v The informal assessment for Investors in People accreditation showed that we had a 
long way to go to reach the required standard. 

v The Council’s overall rating from the Audit Commission dropped from 3* to 2* 
v The Directorate still has to meet the authority’s targets for employees from BME 

groups and low turnover. 
v A lack of resources prevented the updating of the major emergency response plan 

 

(iib)       KEY ISSUES FOR THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVES OFFICE TO  
ADDRESS IN 2008 AND BEYOND                

 

v Driving consistent and sustainable improvement in performance, particularly for the 
Council’s and Herefordshire partnership priorities, including the new Local Area 
Agreement 

v Which is all at the heart of preparations for the CAA performance regime 
v As is embedding the new national indicator set in the work of the Council and its 

partners, including establishing adequate benchmarking and  
v Systematic pursuit of value for money as part of our performance improvement cycle, 

including budget setting. 
v Demonstrating that the Council continues to take steps to increase the quality of its 

data in line with national standards. 
v The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
v The review of Overview and Scrutiny arrangements in the light of Police and Justice 

Act 
 
v Supporting the establishment of public service arrangements 
v The Herefordshire Partnership’s governance arrangements are being reviewed to 

ensure it is fit for purpose in relation to the new LAA. The review should be 
completed by September. 

v The development and implementation of a full performance improvement framework 
for the Partnership 

v Work is underway with the Resources Directorate to decide how the Area Based 
Grant should be distributed for 2009 onwards. 

v The PACT’s arrangement is currently being re-examined following the recent 
Councillors seminar. 

 
v The current LPSA2 is coming to an end and enables us to draw down ‘reward grant’ 

where we have achieved the targets. Half the targets are already completed and 
there remains a focus on the rest. We should be able to claim approximately 60% of 
the total reward funding available. 

v Raising levels of user satisfaction across the Council’s services, through clear 
service standards and routine feedback from Citizens that we use to improve 
services continuously. 

40



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

v Increasing demands on research including the statutory Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment with the PCT. 

v Making better use of current resources by developing a joint research team with the 
PCT 

v Strengthening our routine ability to find out what our residents want, particularly 
where they are disadvantaged. 

v The need to engage with our diverse communities and enable local people to have 
greater influence on how their public services are planned and delivered 

v Conducting a strategic consultation with the public to inform future Council and PCT 
budgets and priorities. 

 
v Evidencing the value for money of the Deputy Chief Executive’s Office 
v Making sufficient / adequate provision for corporate records (through storage at MRU 

and archives) 
v Recruiting an emergency planning officer for health 
v Preparing joint emergency response and business continuity plans 
v Obtaining resources (budgets and trained staff) to meet the demands of the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004. 
 
v Leading the work towards IIP accreditation 
v Delivering an ICT-based corporate performance management system through the 

Herefordshire Connects programme 
v Developing a joint approach to equality and diversity between the PCT and the 

Council. 

 
(iic)WHATS CHANGING FOR THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE 

v Public service arrangements including the establishment of a single management 
structure and potential changes to the governance arrangements of the Council 

v The progressive development of joint objectives and programmes between the 
Council and the PCT. 

v The change from Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) to 
Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) 

v Filling the most important gaps in our knowledge and understanding identified by the 
initial, baseline Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, and using the results to re-shape 
services and deliver better outcomes for people and communities  

v The central role Government envisages for customer perceptions of the Council’s 
services 

v The need to improve scrutiny and the role of frontline members 
 
v Responding to local calls for action and ‘place shaping’ initiatives generally 
v Developing the role of the Herefordshire Partnership, particularly in relation to 

accountability and governance 
v Reviewing and refreshing the customer services strategy 
v Increased area based grant to £9million in 2008/2009 and agreeing a distribution 

mechanism 
v Changes to Standards Committee work, local filtering & the work of other committees 

as a result of the Local Government Involvement in Public Health Act 2007 
 
v The emerging local development framework 
v Changes to the corporate programmes service, strengthening the programme and 

project management service as a corporate resource and developing best practice 

41



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

Human Resources                                                          JULY 2008 

 

PERFORMANCE IN 2007/08 

CHALLENGES FOR 2008 AND BEYOND 

 

1. Context: What does HR do? Background to Human Resources 

 
We are working to develop an HR function that is efficient and effective in delivering services that provide the 

framework for developing and sustaining excellent recruitment, employment and retention practice, in relation to 

all our employees. We aim to be an easily accessible service where people can readily find employment 

information /advice to support them in their roles. We have real enthusiasm for growing and developing both the 

Council and the PCT workforce. 

 
The aim of the Human Resources Service is to provide both strategic HR & OD support at a corporate level and 

operational HR support to service directorates, enabling them to plan and deliver high quality services to the 

people of Herefordshire. We will be further developing the areas of joint working already initiated with the PCT 

HR Team e.g. moving to a joint recruitment service, etc. as part of the evolution of the partnership arrangements 

between the Council and the PCT. 

 
We provide services to ensure that: 

 

• We recruit, develop and retain a workforce with the requisite skills, knowledge and experience to 

deliver high quality services that meet service user/client/patient needs. 

• We support the development of a performance management culture, along with the change 

management processes required to develop the partnership between Herefordshire Council and the 

PCT. 

• Staffing levels and the management of employees is undertaken within corporate and partnership 

priorities and in line with legal requirements/best practice. 

• We are building on and strengthening the workforce planning undertaken within the Council, to 

develop a Corporate Workforce plan, working in conjunction with the PCT. 

 

The Services we provide: 
 

• Employee Relations and Reward: We develop HR policies and procedures that reflect 

corporate, national and statutory requirements. We carry out impact assessments on all new and 

revised policies and procedures to ensure they are non discriminatory and accessible to all 
employees.  We oversee the job evaluation process to ensure pay equity. We provide advice, 

guidance, support and interventions to assist the effective management and promotion of 

occupational health and safety including confidential counselling, physiotherapy and risk 

assessment support. 

• Learning and Development: Offers a service to implement development activities defined by the 

corporate plan and individual SRD processes. Within this we also offer a specific service to the Adult 

and Community Services and Children and Young People’s Directorates, supporting them in ensuring 

they meet legal, registration and operational learning and development requirements.  

 

42



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

• Operational HR: This service covers all Directorates. It supports operational services providing 

advice and guidance to Directors, Heads of Service, Managers, Governors, Head Teachers and 

employees and within the PCT to the Provider Services where the majority of staff are located 

 

• Organisational Development: Working with the PCT there is a new emphasis on organisational 

development, with all the organisational learning needed to create OD confidence and capability 

 

• Recruitment Centre: The Recruitment Team offers a comprehensive service across all 

Directorates.  The team provide an expert resource to managers, on all aspects of recruitment, including 

employment legislation, and will handle administration from advertising, through to appointment. The 

team also work with Directorates to find cost effective solutions to short term staffing gaps. There are 

increasing moves to integration with the PCT recruitment staff 

 

• Data Management: We compile both manual and electronic data information systems and provide 

management information across the Council’s operations. 

 

We maintain and are building our links with the HR Team at the PCT. This is aligned with increasing 

collaboration on recruitment between the two organisations and the support we offer to joint initiatives. We 

are increasingly supporting the establishment of Integrated Teams for those functions where working jointly 

will offer benefits to service users and providers. Work is also underway to explore further possibilities for 
joint working between the two HR functions, which will add value to the services we provide, by offering 

better, more cost efficient, streamlined HR services based on more unified, effective policies, procedures 

and HR advice. 

 

2. The Human Resources Function:  2007/08  

HR and Change 

It goes without saying that 2007/2008 has been a year of significant change. Human Resources, by its 

nature both lead and respond to large-scale organisational change. As a function HR has continued to 

provide expert and professional support while it has participated in a range of corporate developments 

to facilitate the delivery of services across the Council and increasingly the Primary Care Trust 

A year of two halves 

At the end of September 2007, the HR function experienced the loss of the incumbent Head of HR, 

David Johnson, to a new post with the West Midlands Fire Service. Within a short time the Deputy to 

David, Amanda Attwood, left to take up a promotion to head up the HR function in Cheltenham. The 

Primary Care Trust simultaneously lost its Assistant Director HR, (the Head of the Function). 

Up until that period the HR agenda across the Council had focussed on the continuing development of 

the Pay and Workforce Strategy, the delivery of operational HR services and some minimal 

partnership work with the Primary Care Trust in establishing an HR framework around the (then) 

anticipated Public Services Trust (PST). This work was carried out under the aegis of the Steering 

Group.  

Plus: 

• An Investors in People (IIP) pre assessment during this period confirmed that the Council was 

not yet ready to move towards a full assessment with the aim of gaining IIP accreditation 

• The full establishment of a central recruitment team who simultaneously developed a Master 

Vendor arrangement with the aim of creating more efficient and cost effective arrangements 

re agency staff 

43



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

• Another successful employee opinion survey was undertaken, that was the product of real 

teamwork in respect of research, communications and HR 

 

A major issue was the absence of progress relating to the ‘Herefordshire Connects’ initiative. This 

situation remains the same and continues to throw into sharp relief the vulnerabilities of the HR 

function in respect of poor systems that continue to demand double or triple handling of data. 

Managing this situation is particularly resource intensive and pulls staff away from more constructive 

and often more demanding work 

Before he left, David Johnson provided valuable HR support to the recruitment process surrounding 
the successful appointment of the joint Chief Executive, Chris Bull 

From November through to April 2008 

From mid October 2007, an interim Head/Director of HR was appointed to manage the function 

across the PCT and the Council. Since that time, the emphasis across HR has been on developing 

links across the two teams, where little had previously existed. From this point much of what is 

described below incorporates members of both the Council and the PCT HR teams.  

 The focus of the HR function over the six-month period has been: 

• Adjusting to a leadership across the joint function that has been comprised of three interim 

senior managers. This has worked well, but it must be acknowledged that the instability will 
have affected the various teams across both organisations 

• Compounding this, the fact that the Head/Director of the function continues to devote a great 

deal of time to the very high level organisational development and restructuring processes 

associated with the development of the Partnership.  

• Stabilising the HR senior management tier in respect of reducing the many ‘acting up’ 

arrangements and ensuring the right people are in the right jobs 

• The development of a Service Plan for the period 2008-2011, involving a range of staff in 

establishing a document that is coherent and comprehensive and which reflects a realistic set 

of aspirations in supporting the corporate priorities of the growing Partnership 

• Reviewing the HR (Council) Learning and Development teams to establish a more co-

ordinated approach with more integrated teams under one manager 

• Working across and with the PCT HR function, which was recognised as needing significant 

and immediate support and development 

• The establishment of a major organisation development programme which has increasingly 

involved HR staff in working with Directorates re preparing for reorganisation and 

restructuring. This will continue, and demands significant input and management from the 

Head/Director of the function. 

Plus 

• The difficult period in respect of the ‘Crookall’ Inquiry and Report resulted in a range of 

recommendations that have placed great demands upon the HR function, and in particular the 

teams responsible for the establishment of Policies and Procedures. To work through a 

challenging workload, a work programme defining priorities against the comparative urgency 

of responses has been drawn up  

44



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

3. Key Issues for Human Resources in 2008 and beyond 

Strategic HR 

Given the complexity and nature of the changes driven by the establishment of the Partnership, there 

is a requirement for the HR function to further establish its strategic credentials and capabilities 

This is already happening in respect of: 

• Initiating an HR strategy which describes a range of mid-term and strategic changes in 

commissioning and service provision that will require an HR function that can both lead and 

support anticipated changes in staffing, skill mix and integration across teams 

• Initiating the development of a Corporate workforce strategy, that incorporates the PCT 

workforce strategy, the adult social care workforce planning process and the children and 
young people’s workforce strategy. This will facilitate the identification of workforce trends, 

gaps and future needs in a way that has not been previously undertaken 

 

Operational HR 

The development of the HR teams across the PCT and the Council will continue to represent a major 

priority. Development encompasses the recognition of potential and a positive aim of internal 

promotion and career development across the HR teams  

Operational or transactional HR will always demand a high proportion of the team’s time and effort. 

Case management and ensuring the maintenance of a strong relationship with Directorates, including 

schools, will continue to be a priority 

Immediate priorities 

Policy Development 

In relation to both the Council and the PCT, there is a significant amount of ‘catch-up’ needed, where 

Policies and Procedures need updating, rewriting or in some cases developing for the first time: 

• The Crookall requirements drive some of this, i.e. a new policy on ‘Close Working 

Relationships’ 

• The need to support organisational change by re-establishing policies on ‘Flexible 

Working’………………and a lot more 

Plus 

• Determining and establishing a much more defined, consistent approach to the management 

of CRB checks and associated processes, led by the HR team 

Herefordshire Connects 

• Work is currently underway, led by the Deputy Interim Chief Executive, to re- initiate the key 

elements of this significant initiative, which will be now much more connected to the PCT. 

HR both welcomes and needs this development, since this will help us deliver: 

• Improved performance management processes 

• Faster, better data handling which will impact on key processes like CRB and associated 

checking/validation processes 

• Better support to managers 

• A significant step change in relation to efficiency 

45



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

 

New Developments 

• Corporate Induction : we have nearly completed 

• The establishment of a change management and communications working group which is 

linking the major change initiatives through its membership across the Council and the PCT: 

this is also focussing on developing internal OD capability 

• The initiation of an HR functional restructuring…. currently under development, but which 

will need to be consulted upon over the next few months 

• The increasing development of integrated teams, where we have developed comprehensive 

guidance applicable to managers and their teams across the Partnership. This is supplemented 

by guidance and support from the HR teams, on an ongoing basis 

• Accommodation: from September through to end of October those HR teams that are 

currently located in Blackfriars and Belmont (the PCT) will all be co-located in Plough Lane 

with the existing HR/OH/Training and Development staff 

 

What’s changing for Human Resources? 

A lot will continue to change, namely: 

• A new appointment of an Assistant Chief Executive, HR, which will consolidate the changes 

already introduced and will bring new perspectives and ideas 

• There will be a joint HR team fully restructured and established over the next twelve months. 

It may take less time as much of the groundwork is already underway 

• This will mean that services are delivered more coherently across the Partnership 

• The HR function will play significantly into the preparation for the CAA: this includes the 

development of the Corporate Workforce Plan 

• This can be dovetailed with work to achieve our IIP accreditation: this will also involve 

working with the PCT, but the Council will need to pursue accreditation on its own account 

• HR will need to work closely with those within the Council and the PCT regarding the 

Commissioning agenda. World Class Commissioning, whilst being driven from the 

Department of Health, impacts hugely on the Council in relation to the integration of the 

Commissioning agenda. HR support and involvement in aspects of reconfiguration, in relation 

to change management and staff development will be essential 

• The Provider Services Review will undoubtedly initiate a range of demands regarding the 

need to ensure that the workforce has the skills and capability (predominantly clinically 

focussed) to deliver and adapt. This will include the transfer of the management responsibility 

for staff providing services across the Partnership, over the short to mid term 

• Organisation Development, including Leadership and Management Development will become 

more pre-eminent as the capability and capacity to deliver OD support across the Partnership 

is developed internally. Work however will continue with external expert partners who will 
continue to support the change agenda 

 

46



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

ICT SERVICES 

(v) KEY ISSUES FOR ICT TO ADDRESS IN 2008 AND BEYOND 

 
ICT Services continues to provide support to the Council and its partner organisations 
across a wide range of activities. The issues can be broadly seperated into: 

• Internal – work required to run the service effectively. 

• Service priorities – as indicated by Directorates and services. 

• Corporate ICT Strategy – activities required to deliver te Corporate ICT Strategy 
signed off by Cabinet July 2007. 

 
Internally ICT Services will be focusing on: 
 

• Responding to the issues raised within the S151 and Crookall reports. 

• Fully implementing the ICT Value for Money indicator process (as recommended by 
the Audit Commission and invigilated by CIPFA [Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy]) to use as the performance management basis for the service. 
This will cover efficiency, user and commissioner satisfaction and best opractice 
indicators. 

• Working with HR to address the continuing recruitment and salary issues. 

• Working with services and the Joint Management Team to try to embed ICT into 
strategic planning to smooth the demands on the service. 

• Working to address the current people capacity issues with the service. An estimated 
70% of time is spent on operational activities – keeping the existing ICT estate up 
and running and fit for current purpose. 

 
The service priorities that have been indicated to us for 2008/09 are: 

• Support for the 10 to date IPG approved business cases involving technology 
(appendix attached). Highlights include: - 

o CEDAR upgrade and support for disaster recovery 
o Academy (revenues and benefits system) major technology upgrade 
o 14-19 Agenda support 

• Support for Herefordshire Connects including: 
o Social care system replacement 
o Ensuring adequate ICT support for corporate performance management 
o Support for printer rationalisation 
o Strategic technology to both the Connects team and Deloitte’s. 

• Support for the Accommodation Strategy 
o Support Interim Accommodation Strategy through desktop and infrastructure 

moves and network enabling.  
o Support and help shape the overall Accommodation Strategy. 

• Support for Herefordshire Public Services 
o Enabling a new Joint Management Team to work across the Council and PCT 

locations. 
o Work with our colleagues at Health Informatics (PCT) to begin to scope the 

technology required for joint team working. 
o Continue to share knowledge and skills with Health Informatics team. 

 
ICT Services delivers improvement in services for its customers through the Corporate ICT 

Strategy. This focuses on providing the technology base that allows service owners to take 

advantage of technology in improving services to citizens for their respective service areas. 

47



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

It is important to note this distinction, ICT can provide the tools, but services must specify 

what they require to improve their customer’s experience. 

The Corporate ICT Strategy Programme delivers these new capabilities and concentrates 

technology requirements into a five year programme of work to ensure that money is 

invested wisely to provide maximum benefit at the right time at the right cost. 

Priorities for 2008/09 are to continue the programme management, development and five 

year roadmap to deliver Corporate ICT Strategy objectives and capabilities.  

Continuing to work with & actively seek links between the ICT Strategy & other change 

programmes to enable & support their objectives (Accommodation Strategy, Organisational 

Development, Herefordshire Connects, Flexible Working and Herefordshire Public Services). 

The following projects have been identified as priorities for 2008/09 under this programme of 
work: 
 

Server Virtualisation Improving performance, stability and support for applications 

across the authority whilst decreasing ongoing infrastructure 

and disaster recovery costs. 

Standardisation Standardisation of IT client devices including Personal 

Computers (PC’s), laptops, tablets, smart phones, 

Blackberries and Personal Digital Assistants (PDA’s) to 

contribute to annual efficiency savings,improve user 

experience and improve quality of service. Also includes 

licence pooling and the renewal of the Microsoft Enterprise 

Agreement to improve efficiencies in software licensing. 

Secure Email Connection to the Government secure intranet to provide 

secure email services and secure data transfer between the 

authority and Central Government. 

Data Centre 

Replacement 

Both Data Centres are in leased accommodation the Thorn 

Office data centre, planning to relocate to purpose built HPS 

shared facilities by end of 2010.  There will also need to be 

consideration for the plough lane data centre. 

Geographic 

Information Systems: 

Positional Accurracy 

Data cleansing across current Geographic Information 

Systems inline with the Mapping Services Agreement 

following Ordanance Surveys Positional Accuracy 

programme to ensure that all mapping data is geographically 

accurate.  This data underpins all location based activities 

within the Council including land charges, planning and 

development control. 

Herefordshire Public 
Services Support 

Support and develop the formation of Herefordshire Public 
Services and explore possibilities for joint service delivery 
and technology support with the Primary Care Trust. 

Internet Feed Increase the bandwidth and performance of the current 

48



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

Upgrade Internet feed for corporate and schools. 

Network Contract 

Renewal 

Current Community Network Upgrade (CNU) contract with 

Siemens expires March 2010. Scoping required to start now 

for exit strategy from contract & procurement process to 

renew. 

 

49



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Tony Geeson, Head of Policy and Performance on 01432 261855 

 

 

CabinetannualreportJuly08JFPPfinal0.doc  

Business Cases Approved by IPG since Jan 2008 – Current status 

Business Case Name 

Date 
approved 
by IPG Complete In Progress Not Started 

Traffic Management Act Compliant Streetworks System  Feb-08       

Parking Handsets Feb-08   

Corporate 
Programmes 
project manager   

Village Halls Feb-08       

Tallis Assure Feb-08       

Competent Person Scheme Registration  Feb-08       

Benefits Intervention Software  Mar-08       

Server Virtulisation Mar-08   

Corporate 
Programmes 
project manager   

Secure Email Mar-08       

Driver Feedback Software Signs  May-08       

Engaging Young People in Local Democracy  May-08       

Academy Ingress Upgrade  May-08   

Corporate 
Programmes 
project manager   

Positional Accuracy Improvement Program  May-08       

Cedar Upgrade  May-08       

Online Recruitment Jun-08       

 
 
 

50



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from:  
Andrew Williams, Interim Deputy Chief Executive, (01432) 383517  

 

 

HerefordshireConnectsSMCreportJuly080.doc  

 HEREFORDSHIRE CONNECTS 

Report By: Interim Deputy Chief Executive 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1.  To advise Strategic Monitoring Committee of the outcome of an options appraisal 
carried out to inform future implementation of the Herefordshire Connects 
programme, and to seek the views of the Committee on recommendations arising 
from the options appraisal prior to consideration by Cabinet on 31st July. 

Financial Implications 

2.  The financial business case is detailed in the accompanying report enclosed 
separately (Appendix A, paragraphs 7.1 to 7.7), but it is emphasised that programme 
cost estimates are based on an expected ‘worst case’, and will require confirmation 
upon selection of the systems identified in the technology options appraisals. 

3.  The accompanying report indicates that in 2009/09 and 2009/10, using the 
assumptions underpinning the model, there will be a need to provide additional 
resources to meet a shortfall in the project. This can be met by using a combination 
of reserves and the unallocated capacity in the agreed 2008/09 to 2010/11 Medium 
Term Financial Management Strategy. 

Background 

4.  Strategic Monitoring Committee will be aware that in February 2008 Cabinet, having 
considered the recommendations made by Strategic Monitoring Committee following 
the call-in of Cabinet’s decision on the acquisition of preferred technology to replace 
client systems within both Adult Social Care and Children’s Services, authorised the 
completion of a framework agreement with Deloitte, and confirmed Corelogic 
Frameworki as the preferred technology in respect of social care. 

5.  The framework agreement entered into with Deloitte did not commit the council to the 
totality of the Herefordshire Connects programme or to specific technology solutions 
for the programme, but provided the vehicle by which the various elements of the 
programme could be progressed. The first element, replacement of the social care 
client system, also approved in February by Cabinet is underway and the new 
Corelogic Frameworki system is scheduled for launch in November as planned.  

6.  The Audit Commission has been maintaining an overview of the council’s progress 
with Herefordshire Connects, and in its Annual Audit & Inspection Letter 
recommended that before progressing further elements the council take the 
opportunity “..to re-focus and clarify the purpose, outcomes and actions of 
Herefordshire Connects. This should include formally considering in a short paper 
what other options are still open to the council including the costs, benefits and risks 

AGENDA ITEM 7

51



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from:  
Andrew Williams, Interim Deputy Chief Executive, (01432) 383517  

 

 

HerefordshireConnectsSMCreportJuly080.doc  

of each option. It should also set out how the programme fits with the new joint 
working arrangements with the Primary Care Trust.” 

7.  As a result the Joint Management Team, with strategic partner Deloitte, has 
undertaken an options appraisal to: 

• ensure the vision for Herefordshire Connects is fit for purpose both now and for 
the future 

• update the business case to take account of current and future needs and identify 
those benefits already achieved 

• ensure that governance arrangements are robust and appropriate. 

8.  The report attached at Appendix A details the outcome of that options appraisal, 
which is summarised below. 

Herefordshire Connects Vision 
9.  The original vision was found to be still valid, but has been refreshed to reflect the 

broader change programme, necessary to support the active pursuit of closer 
partnership arrangements with the Primary Care Trust, to which it contributes. The 
proposed refreshed vision is: 

“Herefordshire Connects is a technology enabled change programme that will 
support the delivery of high quality, responsive and integrated services by the 
Council as part of Herefordshire Public Services. It will seek to reduce costs, to help 
forge a new joint culture of partnership working, rationalise and update systems and 
infrastructure, and harmonise and improve accessibility and responsiveness of 
services to both internal and external customers.”  

10.  This will be achieved by: 

• Improving the service outcomes delivered to customers through integrated 
customer services, thereby positively impacting the Council’s performance rating 
in core service areas; 

• Delivering productivity gains, including cashable savings to address budget 
challenges, in front line service delivery and in the back office, through integrated 
support services; and 

• Aligning organisational goals and individual performance objectives, refining and 
integrating existing corporate performance management processes and 
embedding a performance-oriented culture within the organisation. 

Delivery of Herefordshire Connects 
11.  The above points will be addressed through the creation of three projects: 

• Integrated Customer Services 

• Integrated Support Services 

• Performance Management 

Technology Options 
12.  To ensure that systems are in place to support the delivery of the vision, it is 

recommended that the number of ICT applications are rationalised to the minimum 
necessary. This strategy should be complemented by investment in technology to 
support effective integration. It is therefore recommended that the council selects, 
through the existing framework agreement and from a set of proven market solutions, 
the following software applications: 

• Integrated ‘Back Office’ system 

• Integrated Environment & Regeneration system 

• Performance Management system 

52



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from:  
Andrew Williams, Interim Deputy Chief Executive, (01432) 383517  

 

 

HerefordshireConnectsSMCreportJuly080.doc  

• Integration tools 

Business Case 
13.  The council has made savings during the period of the ‘strategic pause’ of some 

£1.7m which were in the previous Herefordshire Connects Business Case. Based on 
‘worst case’ costings and the revised cashable benefits a revised financial profile has 
been established (Appendix A, paragraph 7.7). As previously, CAPITA are 
undertaking an independent review of these figures. The revised profile identifies the 
need for the council to invest £2.8m in the programme over the first two years, but 
that the programme begins to be ‘cash-positive’ by the third year, and by the fifth 
year will generate recurring cashable savings of £3.4m.  

Governance  
14.  The governance structure has been refreshed (Appendix A, paragraph 8.1) to reflect 

the newly defined programme and to ensure alignment with the revised senior 
management structure. Links have also been developed to ensure integration with 
the wider change agenda. 

15.  For completeness sake the options appraisal has also reconfirmed the corporate and 
service resource requirement, in broad terms, to support delivery of the programme. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Strategic Monitoring Committee: 

(a) Notes the outcome of the options appraisal; and 

(b) Comments on the recommendations arising from the options 
appraisal. 

Background Papers 

• None identified 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – “Herefordshire Connects – The Way Forward” Options Appraisal Report 
 

53



54



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

 END-OF-YEAR PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Report By: Interim Deputy Chief Executive 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To report performance for the whole of the operating year 2007-08 against the 
Annual Operating Plan 2007-08, Best Value Performance Indicators, and the 
Direction of Travel indicators used previously by the Audit Commission. 

Financial Implications 

2. None.  

Background 

3. The end-of-year report is only 1 element of the overall Performance 
Improvement Framework, which includes external assessments such as the 
annual assessments of Children’s and Adults Services.  The structure of this 
report covers performance against: 

• the council’s priorities, as contained in the Annual Operating Plan (AOP) 
2007-08 (paragraphs 5-8); 

• Best Value Performance Indicators (paragraphs 9-10); and 

• Direction of Travel indicators (paragraphs 11-16). 

4. The content of future performance reports is currently being agreed by the 
Joint management Team, who will be developing the performance 
improvement culture and systems of the Council, Herefordshire Public 
Services and the Herefordshire Partnership to meet future requirements in 
respect of improving services for customers; providing value for money; and, 
delivering the Local Area Agreement, whilst recognising the requirements of 
the forthcoming Comprehensive Area Assessment.  Service Improvement 
Plans have been developed for each of the Council’s services as the basis for 
improved performance in 2008-09. 

Highlights 

• 32% (36 of 111) of Council-lead AOP indicators achieved target. 

• 36% (40 of 111) of Council-lead AOP indicators failed to achieve target. 

AGENDA ITEM 8

55



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

• The number of LPSA indicators marked R is 12 (compared to 6 at the end 
of January. 

• The number of LAA indicators marked R is 33 (compared to 17 at the end 
of January). 

• 64% of BVPIs improved, compared to 68% in 2006-07. 

• 63% of Direction of Travel indicators improved compared to 74% in 2007. 

• 77% of Direction of Travel indicators have improved over the last 3 years, 
compared to 51% last year. 

• These figures show that whilst performance against the majority of 
indicators continued to improve, performance against the targets in the 
Annual Operating Plan was more mixed. 

• In terms of two of the Council’s top priorities: 

- Older People and Healthier Communities - 88% of indicators used in 
the Direction of Travel assessment improved, but only 1 of 8 indicators 
in the AOP achieved target; and 

- Children and Young People - 81% of indicators improved over the year, 
but only one-third of AOP indicators achieved target. 

• Many targets were set with the intention of achieving top quartile 
performance.   Despite the improvement in a large proportion of indicators, 
the pace of service improvement needs to be increased and sustained to 
achieve the Council's ambitions and match the expected national pace of 
improvement for leading councils. 

• Based on relevant performance indicator outturns, the Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment (CPA) service judgements for Environment and 
Culture are expected to remain at a score of 3; the Housing score should 
improve from a 1 in 2007 to a 3 when confirmed at the beginning of 2009. 

• The remaining CPA service scores for Benefits, Children and Young 
People, Social Care (Adults) and Use of Resources are provided by 
external agencies such as the Benefit Fraud Inspectorate, Ofsted, CSCI 
and the Audit Commission, and will not be available until later in the year.  
However, it is not expected that there will be a significant variance from 
last year’s assessments. 

• The overall CPA judgement for the Council, to be announced in 2009, is 
predicted to show maintenance of a 2* rating (out of 4) for the Council.  

Council Priorities (The Annual Operating Plan) 2007-08 

5. The Council’s Corporate Plan 2007-10 set out the Council’s objectives, 
priorities and targets. The Annual Operating Plan (AOP) was the detailed 
action plan for the first of these years, 2007-08, and was updated to include 
the indicators in the Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA), Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) and Herefordshire Community Strategy (HCS). 

56



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

6. It should be noted that the a ‘zero tolerance’ approach has been taken in the 
assessment of performance for these indicators, judgement being made 
purely on the basis of whether or not targets have been achieved; if they 
haven’t they are marked R.  This does not necessarily mean that performance 
has deteriorated.   Indeed, for a number of indicators there has been 
significant improvement in the past 12 months, and this would have been 
reflected in the direction of travel summary.  

7. Appendix 1 shows outturn for each of the AOP indicators on which the 
Council leads.  The increase in the number of indicators marked R and G 
reflects the availability of year-end data allowing for a more accurate judgment 
of performance.  19 of the indicators have been judged Amber at year-end; 
these are perception / satisfaction indicators, for which there was no 
significant variance over the period, so it is not possible to say with any 
confidence whether or not the target had been achieved. 

8. The table below shows performance against each of the Council’s priorities 
for 2007-08. 

Judgement  Priority No. of 
Indicators 

Red Amber Green n/a1 

Securing the essential infrastructure 
for a successful economy 

3 0 0 2 1 

Giving effective community leadership 1 0 0 0 1 

Improving transport and the safety of 
roads 

9 3 1 5 0 

Maximising the health, safety, 
economic well-being, achievements 
and contribution of every child 

30 17 0 10 3 

Sustaining thriving communities 36 6 16 7 7 

Reshaping adult social care to enable 
vulnerable adults to live independently 
and, in particular, to enable many 
more older people to continue to live in 
their own homes 

8 6 1 1 0 

Protecting the environment 10 2 0 4 4 

Understanding the needs and 
preferences of service users and 
Council Tax-payers, and tailoring 
services accordingly 

2 0 1 1 0 

                                                 

1
 16 indicators have been considered as not suitable for awarding a judgement, essentially because 
they are either tracker indicators (indicators that are unlikely to be affected by actions over a short 
period, such as climate change) or indicators that require a baseline to be set during the year. 

57



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

Judgement  Priority No. of 
Indicators 

Red Amber Green n/a1 

Recruiting, retaining and motivating 
high quality staff 

4 3 0 1 0 

Embedding corporate planning, 
performance management and project 
management systems 

3 0 0 3 0 

Promoting diversity and community 
harmony 

4 2 0 2 0 

Ensuring that essential assets are in 
the right condition for the long–term 
cost-effective delivery of services, and 
ensure business continuity in the face 
of emergencies 

1 1 0 0 0 

Total number of indicators (with last 
report’s judgements in brackets) 

111 40 

(25) 

19 

(43) 

36 

(27) 

16 

(16) 

Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs) 

9. Appendix 2 shows outturns for 2007-08.  64% of BVPIs have improved in the 
past year, compared to a 68% improvement in 2006-07.   

10. The graph below shows the levels of improvement for BVPIs over the last 3 
years. 

BVPI Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2005-06 2006-07 2007-08

%
 o
f 
P
Is Improvement

Deterioration

No Change

 

58



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

Direction of Travel 

11. Each year, as part of the Comprehensive Performance Assessment, the Audit 
Commission issues a Direction of Travel assessment for each local authority, 
an important part of which is based on the Council’s improvement compared 
with the previous year against a selection of performance indicators.  The 
direction of travel assessment is intended to reflect a council’s progress 
towards achieving improvement in the services it delivers to the public.  It is 
reported alongside the council’s CPA category. 

12. 63% of indicators have improved in the last 12 months, compared to 74% in 
2007.  This rate of improvement lies within the 60.8-63.2% average of single-
tier authorities in 2007. 

13. The graph below shows the levels of improvement over 12 months and 3 
years. 

DoT Indicator Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2006 2007 2008

%
 o
f 
P
Is

Annual Improvement

3-year Improvement

 

14. Over a 3-year period, there has been a considerable rise, from a 
comparatively low base, in the proportion of indicators improving: 77% 
compared to 51% in 2007.  The average for single-tier authorities in 2007 was 
61.9-64.1%. 

15. Appendix 3 shows the indicators used in previous Direction of Travel 
assessments, on which the above assessment has been made. It indicates 
which indicators have improved, deteriorated or stayed the same.  The areas 
of Corporate Health, Regulation and Sustainable Communities & 
Transportation have seen a slight dip in performance.  In respect of the latter 
two areas, the fall in performance is against particularly high levels of 
performance achieved in 2007. 

16. The areas of Older People and Healthier Communities, and Children and 
Young People each have a large number of indicators that are part of the 
direction of travel set.  The disproportionately high level of improvement in 
these areas enabled the Council to achieve a decent overall improvement 
figure (63%).  If these areas are taken out of the equation, the percentage 
improvement would be only 54%. 

59



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

Risk Management 

The main risk is that the key points to emerge from this report will not be 
addressed, that further improvement will not be achieved (particularly as 
regards the Council’s new Corporate Plan priorities), and that this will be 
reflected in adverse judgements under the Comprehensive Area Assessment 
in 2009. 

This will be avoided if directors ensure that the issues are picked up and 
addressed within their respective areas, updating service improvement plans 
accordingly.  This will be tested as part of the upcoming review meetings 
between the Leader, Chief Executive, lead Cabinet members and directors. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT  

(i) performance in 2007-08 be noted; and 

(ii) agrees that directors should ensure that the issues are 
addressed within their respective areas, including the 
updating of service improvement plans. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

60



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

G A R

n
/a

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

Baseline

Target

Outturn

Judgement

3
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
G
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
. 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)

� ���
� ���

� ���
9
2
.8
0
%

=
>
9
6
%

M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
a
fe
ty
, 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
, 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
 c
h
il
d

T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
e
a
c
h
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 t
u
rn
. 
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 l
e
d
 b
y
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 l
is
te
d
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 a
p
p
e
n
d
ix
.

K
E
Y

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
in
d
ic
a
to
r

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
v
e
r 
a
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
 p
e
ri
o
d
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 l
it
tl
e
 o
r 
n
o
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 b
u
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 a
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e

E
it
h
e
r 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
 f
o
r 
m
e
a
s
u
ri
n
g
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 
o
r 
n
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 o
r 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

T
a
rg
e
t 
m
is
s
e
d
 o
r 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 m
is
s
e
d

S
o
m
e
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
/d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 s
o
 n
o
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
 t
re
n
d

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

P
la
n
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 

fr
o
m

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
s
 p
e
r 
A
O
P

A
O
P
 t
a
rg
e
t

IP
R
 j
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
t

R
e
d
, 
G
re
e
n
 o
r 
A
m
b
e
r 
(s
e
e
 

K
E
Y
 a
b
o
v
e
)

C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

61



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

1
H
C
S

R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
e
a
rn
in
g
s
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
s
 R
e
g
io
n

� ���
0
.9
4
:1

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

0
.8
9
:1

n
/a

2
H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
V
A
T
 r
e
g
is
te
re
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s

� ���
� ���

8
,5
2
0

2
%
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e

4
.1
%

(8
,8
7
0
)

G

3
H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 

in
d
u
s
tr
ie
s

� ���
� ���

� ���
9
,3
3
9

(2
0
0
3
)

=
>
1
0
,2
8
6

1
0
,9
2
3

(2
0
0
6
)

G

1
2

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 3
0
m
in
s
 o
f 
m
o
d
e
ra
te
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
t 

le
a
s
t 
5
 d
a
y
s
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
4
7
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

5
2

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 (
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 r
o
a
d
s

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
1
9

<
=
1
3
4

1
3
3

G

9
9

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s

6
6
3

<
=
7
8
8

7
1
3

G

6
H
C
S

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 t
h
a
t 
u
s
u
a
lly
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
to
 w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 m
a
in
 j
o
b
 b
y
 d
ri
v
in
g
 a
 c
a
r 
o
r 
v
a
n
 -
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
w
n
 (
M
e
th
o
d
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
to
 W

o
rk
)

� ���
6
1
%

<
=
5
7
%

5
8
%

A

7
H
C
S

a
In
d
e
x
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
a
ily
 t
ra
ff
ic
 (
A
A
D
T
) 
v
o
lu
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
 C
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

1
0
0
.6
3

<
=
1
0
8

9
9
.3
9

G

7
H
C
S

b
In
d
e
x
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
a
ily
 t
ra
ff
ic
 (
A
A
D
T
) 
v
o
lu
m
e
s
 o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 

ru
ra
l 
ro
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
s

� ���
� ���

1
0
0
.6
3

<
=
1
0
9

9
9
.3
9

G

7
2

H
C

In
d
e
x
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
y
c
lin
g
 t
ri
p
s

1
1
8
.9
9

=
>
1
1
8

1
1
0
.8
6

R

7
6

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r 
o
n
 p
u
b
lic
 b
u
s
e
s
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 (
th
o
u
s
a
n
d
s
)

3
,4
3
3
,0
4
3

=
>
3
,9
4
8
,0
0
0

3
,3
5
5
,0
0
0

R

8
3
a

H
C

P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
s
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n

1
4
%

<
=
5
%

6
%

R

8
3
b

H
C

N
o
n
 P
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
R
o
a
d
s
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n

2
1
%

<
=
1
9
%

1
1
%

G

1
3

H
C
S

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 B
&
B
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

� ���
1
5

0
 w
e
e
k
s

5
 w
e
e
k
s

R

2
4

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
it
h
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 S
c
h
o
o
ls
 s
ta
tu
s

� ���
7
0

=
>
7
8

7
4

R

2
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
th
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
-

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
s

� ���
1
4
.5
0
%

<
=
1
5
%

1
4
%

G

2
9

H
C
S

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 f
a
m
ily
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
e
r 
c
a
p
it
a
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
1
8

� ���
£
3
5

£
2
9

£
4
1

R

3
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
G
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)

� ���
� ���

� ���
8
8
.1
%

(2
0
0
4
)

=
>
9
6
%

(L
P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 9
6
.5
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 

e
x
a
m
s
)

9
3
.6
0
%

R

G
iv
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip

M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
s
a
fe
ty
, 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
, 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
 c
h
il
d

S
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 f
o
r 
a
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m
y

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
a
fe
ty
 o
f 
ro
a
d
s

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

62



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

3
1

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
- 
C
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
a
th
s
 &
 E
n
g
lis
h
 (
L
E
A
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
)*

� ���
� ���

4
8
.2
0
%

=
>
5
1
.6
%

5
1
.7
0
%

G

4
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
1
6
-1
8
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 N
O
T
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
tr
a
in
in
g

� ���
7
.2
0
%

<
=
5
.3
%

5
.4
0
%

R

6
6

H
C

%
 o
f 
3
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 a
 g
o
o
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 f
re
e
 e
a
rl
y
 

y
e
a
rs
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
la
c
e

8
5
%

=
>
8
5
%

9
9
.2
0
%

G

8
9

H
C

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d

2
6
6

=
>
2
8
0

2
3
6

R

8
9

H
C

b
C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 7
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
l

5
8
.7
0
%

=
>
6
8
%

7
5
%

G

8
9

H
C

c
C
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
re
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 3
5
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

6
1
%

=
>
6
6
%

7
5
%

G

2
2

H
C
S

a
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
S
m
o
k
in
g
 r
a
te
s

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

b
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

s
p
o
rt
/p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

c
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
 e
a
ti
n
g
 5
-a
-d
a
y

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

d
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
o
b
e
s
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

e
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
a
lc
o
h
o
l 

c
o
n
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

f
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
 

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
2

H
C
S

g
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
 f
o
r 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
: 
s
c
o
re
s
 f
o
r 

m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
w
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9

R

2
8

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 s
ta
te
d
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 b
u
lli
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

la
s
t 
1
2
 m
o
n
th
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

2
4
%

n
/a

3
3

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

5
.2
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
4
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

5
.1
%

(2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

G

63



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

3
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

7
.8
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
6
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

7
.9
%

(2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r)

R

3
5

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 m
is
s
e
d
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
2
5
 d
a
y
s
 o
r 

m
o
re
 s
c
h
o
o
lin
g

� ���
� ���

1
4
 @

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
4

7
 i
n
 2
0
0
8

1
6

R

3
5

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
s
 %

 o
f 

to
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

3
.4
9
%

<
=
4
.2
5
%

3
.8
5
%

G

3
5

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 b
y
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 a
s
 %

 o
f 

to
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
  
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls

� ���
� ���

5
%

<
=
7
%

9
.0
4
%

R

3
7

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
1
1
-1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

3
5
%

n
/a

3
8

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

Y
o
u
th
 S
u
rv
e
y

3
1
%

n
/a

4
1

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
in
 1
7
th
 y
e
a
r 
in
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
a
g
e
 1
9

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
6
/1
9
 (
2
0
0
5
/0
6
)

1
4
/1
4
 (
2
0
0
6
/0
7
)

4
6
 (
c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

1
6
/1
7

G

8
4

H
C
S

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 w
it
h
 a
n
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
tr
a
v
e
l 
p
la
n
 (
S
T
P
) 

� ���
5
4
%

=
>
6
8
%

8
6
%

G

8
5

H
C
S

C
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 b
e
lo
w
 a
g
e
 1
8
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 g
ir
ls
 a
g
e
 1
5
-1
7
)

� ���
-1
5
.7
0
%

<
=
-1
9
%

-2
9
.6
0
%

G

64



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

9
1

H
C

N
o
. 
o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
in
g
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
0
%

9
5
%

R

1
4

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 &
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 w
h
o
m
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a
 f
u
ll 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty

� ���
� ���

1
4
9

<
=
1
6
0

2
0
7

R

5
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
s
tr
e
e
ts
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 a
re
a
s
 f
a
lli
n
g
 b
e
lo
w
 G
ra
d
e
 B
 f
o
r 

c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 (
lit
te
r)

� ���
� ���

� ���
3
4
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
1
7
%

1
4
%

G

9
2

H
C

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
re
 v
is
ib
le

2
%

<
=
2
%

2
%

G

9
3

H
C

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 

o
f 
fl
y
-p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le

1
%

<
=
1
%

0
%

G

9
4

H
C

G
ra
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 y
e
a
r-
o
n
-y
e
a
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 ‘
fl
y
-t
ip
p
in
g
’ 
(G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 -
 v
e
ry
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
; 
2
 -
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
; 
3
 -
 g
o
o
d
; 
4
 -
 p
o
o
r)

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 (
v
e
ry
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
)

1
3

R

9
6

H
C

%
 o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 

w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 l
e
g
a
lly
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
e
h
ic
le

9
9
%

1
0
0
%

9
7
.8
3
%

R

5
9

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
L
ib
ra
ry

� ���
� ���

6
9
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

7
0
%

A

5
9

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
S
p
o
rt
s
/l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e

� ���
� ���

6
4
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

6
9
%

G

5
9

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
C
u
lt
u
ra
l/
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

fa
c
ili
ty
 e
.g
. 
th
e
a
tr
e
, 
c
in
e
m
a

� ���
� ���

4
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

5
2
%

G

6
0

H
C
S

a
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 A
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
te
e
n
a
g
e
rs

� ���
� ���

-3
2
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-3
1
%

A

6
0

H
C
S

b
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 d
e
c
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g

� ���
-5
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-5
7
%

R

6
0

H
C
S

c
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 J
o
b
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts

� ���
� ���

-4
2
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-4
0
%

A

6
0

H
C
S

e
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n

� ���
� ���

-7
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-7
0
%

G

6
0

H
C
S

f
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 W

a
g
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
liv
in
g

� ���
-5
6
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-6
4
%

R

6
1

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

� ���
� ���

� ���
3
5
%

(2
0
0
5
)

=
>
4
0
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
3
%

A

6
1

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a

� ���
2
9
%

=
>
3
3
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
0
%

A

S
u
s
ta
in
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
y
 s
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 m
o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r-
fo
c
u
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
c
le
a
n
 s
tr
e
e
ts
, 
ta
c
k
li
n
g
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g

65



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

6
2

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 f
o
rm

a
l 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
a
n
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
2
 h
rs
 a
 w
e
e
k
 o
r 
m
o
re
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r

� ���
� ���

� ���
1
7
%

(2
0
0
5
)

=
>
2
2
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

1
7
%

A

6
3

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 w
h
e
re
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 g
e
t 
o
n
 w
e
ll 
to
g
e
th
e
r

� ���
7
4
%

=
>
7
7
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y

7
6
%

A

6
4

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 a
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

� ���
� ���

8
0
%

=
>
8
7
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

7
9
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
S
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 

m
o
n
th

� ���
2
5
%

=
>
3
0
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
0
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 m
o
n
th

� ���
3
2
%

=
>
3
4
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

2
9
%

R

6
5

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 o
r 
g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 e
v
e
ry
 6
 

m
o
n
th
s

� ���
1
9
%

=
>
2
1
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

2
4
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
T
h
e
a
tr
e
s
 o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rt
 h
a
lls
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 

e
v
e
ry
 6
 m
o
n
th
s

� ���
3
2
%

=
>
3
6
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y

3
2
%

A

6
5

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 u
s
e
: 
P
a
rk
s
, 
o
p
e
n
 p
la
y
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a
 m
o
n
th

� ���
4
9
%

m
a
in
ta
in
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

5
0
%

A

7
0

H
C

%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
  
th
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
o
e
s
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 

th
e
m
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
lo
c
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
6
%

=
>
2
8
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

2
8
%

A

7
9

H
C

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 C
iv
il 
C
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 A
c
t,
 D
a
ta
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

F
re
e
d
o
m
 o
f 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

G

8
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
p
a
re
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 a
re
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

ta
k
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
h
ild
re
n

� ���
3
5
%

=
>
3
9
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

3
5
%

A

8
7

H
C
S

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a
 t
re
a
t 

th
e
m
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n

� ���
4
5
%

=
>
4
9
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

4
4
%

A

9
5

H
C

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

6
6
%

=
>
6
6
%

6
3
%

A

9
0

H
C

A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 c
h
ild
re
n

-5
%

-2
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

b
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 C
L
E
A
N
 S
T
R
E
E
T
S

-2
3
%

-2
8
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

e
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 E
D
U
C
A
T
IO
N
 P
R
O
V
IS
IO
N

1
5
%

1
1
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

h
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 P
U
B
L
IC
 T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T

-2
4
%

-1
8
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

i 
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 R
A
C
E
 R
E
L
A
T
IO
N
S

-1
3
%

-1
7
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

j
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 R
O
A
D
 A
N
D
 P
A
V
E
M
E
N
T
 

R
E
P
A
IR
S

-5
1
%

-5
6
%

n
/a

9
7

H
C

m
A
d
u
lt
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 T
H
E
 L
E
V
E
L
 O
F
 

P
O
L
L
U
T
IO
N

-4
2
%

-4
0
%

n
/a

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

R
e
s
h
a
p
e
 a
d
u
lt
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
d
u
lt
s
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 m
a
n
y
 m
o
re
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s

66



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

1
6

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
+
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

� ���
8
1
.1

=
>
8
3

8
1
.3

R

7
4

H
C

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

2
.9

=
>
3

2
.9

R

7
4

H
C

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 

(p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

4
.1

=
>
4
.4

4
.3

R

7
4

H
C

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
)

6
=
>
6

4
.8

R

1
7

H
C
S

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 v
ia
 d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 (
6
5
+
)

� ���
� ���

5
8
%

=
>
6
6
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

5
6
%

R

1
8

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 C
re
d
it

� ���
� ���

� ���
7
5
9
6

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
8
,1
3
8

8
,0
7
0
 t
o
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
(y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

u
n
ti
l 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r)

A

1
8

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
8
7
4

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
6
,7
0
2

6
,8
8
0
 t
o
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
(y
e
a
r-

e
n
d
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

u
n
ti
l 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
)

G

1
8

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
g
e
d
 6
0
 o
r 
o
v
e
r*
*

� ���
� ���

� ���
6
8
6
2

(2
0
0
4
-0
5
)

=
>
8
,0
6
1

7
,5
6
1

R

67



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
6

H
C
S

a
A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m

� ���
� ���

5
0
5
.8
2
k
g

<
=
5
0
5
k
g

4
8
3
.3
3
 k
g

G

5
6

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
fi
ll

� ���
7
2
.8
5
%

<
=
6
8
.5
%

6
9
.5
7
%

R

5
6

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
) 
re
c
y
c
le
d

� ���
0
%

0
%

0
%

G

5
6

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
) 
la
n
d
fi
lle
d

� ���
1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

G

5
6

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 r
e
c
y
c
le
d

� ���
1
8
.7
1
%

=
>
2
3
.9
7
%

2
2
.8
0
%

R

5
5

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
S
it
e
s
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 
S
c
ie
n
ti
fi
c
 I
n
te
re
s
t 
(S
S
S
Is
) 
in
 f
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n

� ���
2
2
%

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

5
7

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
k
e
y
 s
p
e
c
ie
s

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

5
8

H
C
S

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l/
C
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 (
C
a
rb
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
)

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

6
7

H
C

%
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il-
o
w
n
e
d
 o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 l
a
n
d
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
 n
a
tu
re
 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
, 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y

1
3
.4
2
%

=
>
1
5
%

2
5
.3
0
%

G

1
0
2

H
C

C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
a
rb
o
n
 d
io
x
id
e
 e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

6
8

H
C

%
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
te
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
it
h
 a
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
t 
w
h
o
 a
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
t 
w
a
s
 h
a
n
d
le
d
 

o
v
e
ra
ll

3
6
%

=
>
5
0
%

(i
n
 2
0
0
9
 s
u
rv
e
y
)

2
7
%

A

6
9

H
C

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
fe
e
l 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
o
e
s
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 

th
e
m
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
b
o
u
t 
lo
c
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s

1
9
.2
%
 (
2
0
0
5
)

2
8
%
 b
y
 2
0
0
8

3
1
%

G

7
1

H
C

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 l
o
s
t 
d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 

p
e
r 
m
e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
s
ta
ff

8
.4
1

<
=
8

8
.5
8

R

7
7

H
C

S
ta
ff
 t
u
rn
o
v
e
r

9
%

<
=
9
%

8
%
 @

 e
n
d
-o
f-

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

G

1
0
3

H
C

S
R
D
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s

9
4
%

1
0
0
%

9
7
%

R

7
3

H
C

In
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n

N
o
t 
a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d

A
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 b
y
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7

N
o
t 
a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d

R

7
8

H
C

S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 P
la
n

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

U
n
q
u
a
lif
ie
d

G

8
1

H
C

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
B
V
P
Is
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d

0
0

0
G

8
2

H
C

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
k
e
y
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
u
d
it

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

C
o
m
p
lia
n
t

G

8
0

H
C

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd

2
=
>
3

3
G

1
0
0

H
C

a
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 e
th
n
ic
 m
in
o
ri
ti
e
s

0
.6
4
%

=
>
0
.8
%

0
.7
3
%

R

E
m
b
e
d
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s

R
e
c
ru
it
, 
re
ta
in
 a
n
d
 m
o
ti
v
a
te
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
li
ty
 s
ta
ff

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

P
ro
te
c
t 
th
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 m
u
c
h
 l
e
s
s
 w
a
s
te
, 
re
c
y
c
li
n
g
 m
u
c
h
 m
o
re
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
re
m
a
in
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 c
a
rb
o
n
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s

U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il
-T
a
x
 p
a
y
e
rs

P
ro
m
o
te
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
a
rm

o
n
y
 a
n
d
 s
tr
iv
e
 f
o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s

68



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

1
0
0

H
C

b
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 b
la
c
k
 a
n
d
 e
th
n
ic
 m
in
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
th
e
 t
o
p
 5
%
 o
f 
w
a
g
e
 e
a
rn
e
rs

2
.1
4
%

=
>
2
.8
5
%

2
.3
6
%

R

1
0
0

H
C

c
%
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 d
e
c
la
ri
n
g
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

0
.6
9
%

=
>
0
.7
5
%

0
.8
6
%

G

1
0
1

H
C

U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
c
o
re

3
3

2

(r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 

ju
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
d
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 C
P
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
)

R

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
s
s
e
ts
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
, 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
il
d
in
g
s
, 
ro
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 I
C
T
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 l
o
n
g
–
te
rm

 c
o
s
t-
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 d
e
li
v
e
ry
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
e
 o
f 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
ie
s

69



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
c
a
lls
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 W

o
m
e
n
's
 A
id
 H
e
lp
lin
e

� ���
8
6
0

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
6
5
4

6
7
8

G

4
H
C
S

a

%
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
4
 (
%
 o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 
q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
)

%
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 (
%
 o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 
q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
)

� ���

2
6
%

(2
0
0
5
)

4
4
%

(2
0
0
5
)

T
ra
c
k
e
r 
In
d
ic
a
to
rs

2
9
%

4
7
%

n
/a

4
H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

3
5

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
5
7

2
0
6

G

4
H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 (
e
x
c
l.
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
)

� ���
� ���

1
,7
3
8

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
1
,8
7
2

2
,2
1
5

G

4
H
C
S

d
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g

� ���
� ���

2
6

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
4
4

1
2
1

G

4
H
C
S

e
N
o
. 
o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 (
1
9
+
) 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 (
e
x
c
l.
 

m
a
n
u
fa
c
tu
ri
n
g
 &
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
)

� ���
� ���

8
2
5

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
8
7
8

8
7
9

G

5
H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
b
a
s
ic
 s
k
ill
s
 (
T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
)

� ���
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

n
/a

1
0

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
d
e
a
th
s
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
 f
ro
m
 c
h
ro
n
ic
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 (
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
� ���

1
6
9
.6

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
1
7
4
.7

(2
0
0
5
-0
7
)

1
5
0

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
5

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 u
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
b
e
d
 d
a
y
s
 o
c
c
u
p
ie
d
 b
y
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
 7
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r

� ���
� ���

3
4
,6
9
1

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
3
1
,2
2
2

3
2
,0
5
1

R

2
0

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 w
h
o
 a
re
 b
re
a
s
tf
e
d
 a
t 
6
 w
e
e
k
s

� ���
4
8
%

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
4
3
%

3
7
.3
0
%

R

2
1

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 t
o
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 m
o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 b
re
a
s
tf
e
e
d
in
g
 a
t 
6
 

w
e
e
k
s

� ���
� ���

1
5
.1
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
3
0
%

1
5
.1
0
%

R

2
1

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s
 b
o
rn
 t
o
 m
o
th
e
rs
 i
n
 S
.W

y
e
 a
re
a
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

b
re
a
s
tf
e
e
d
in
g
 a
t 
6
 w
e
e
k
s

� ���
� ���

2
5
.4
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

=
>
4
0
%

3
0
.5
%

(s
ti
ll 
n
e
e
d
s
 

v
a
lid
a
ti
n
g
)

R

2
3

H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
s
e
x
u
a
lly
 t
ra
n
s
m
it
te
d
 i
n
fe
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
1
%
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

A

4
6

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 d
ru
g
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t

� ���
6
3
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
7
2
0

5
9
9
 @

 e
n
d
-o
f-

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

A

4
7

H
C
S

M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
D
ru
g
s
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
0
%

G

5
3

H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
2
1
.2
6
 (
2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

2
2

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

R

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
 L
E
D

H
E
R
E
F
O
R
D
S
H
IR
E
 I
N
F
R
A
S
T
R
U
C
T
U
R
E
 C
O
N
S
O
R
T
IU
M

L
E
A
R
N
IN
G
 &
 S
K
IL
L
S
 C
O
U
N
C
IL

P
R
IM
A
R
Y
 C
A
R
E
 T
R
U
S
T

70



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

8
H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 c
a
n
c
e
r 
fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 (
p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
1
0
4
.2

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
9
3

1
0
3
.2

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

R

9
H
C
S

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 c
ir
c
u
la
to
ry
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 

(p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

� ���
8
1
.4

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
7
7

7
2
.5

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
1

H
C
S

G
a
p
 i
n
 a
ll-
a
g
e
, 
a
ll-
c
a
u
s
e
 m
o
ra
lit
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le

� ���
2
3
.7
%

(2
0
0
3
-0
5
)

<
=
2
6
%
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

2
1
%

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

G

1
2

H
C
S

a
T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 s
to
p
 s
m
o
k
in
g

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

=
>
1
,2
0
0

1
,2
0
1

G

1
2

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w
h
o
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 i
n
ta
k
e
 o
f 

a
lc
o
h
o
l 
p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
1
7
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

1
2

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 e
a
ti
n
g
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 5
 p
o
rt
io
n
s
 o
f 
fr
u
it
 a
n
d
 v
e
g
e
ta
b
le
s
 o
n
 

a
 t
y
p
ic
a
l 
d
a
y
 (
a
d
u
lt
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty
le
s
)

� ���
3
4
%

N
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d

-
n
/a

5
9

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
D
o
c
to
r

� ���
� ���

8
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

7
9
%

A

5
9

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 f
in
d
in
g
 i
t 
e
a
s
y
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
: 
L
o
c
a
l 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l

� ���
� ���

5
7
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

5
9
%

A

2
5

H
C
S

N
o
.o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 (
u
n
d
e
r 
2
5
) 
w
h
o
 a
re
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 
c
ri
m
e
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e

� ���
6
,3
3
8

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
6
,1
7
3

6
,4
5
3

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

4
2

H
C
S

a
B
C
S
 C
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r 
c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
6
,0
0
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
5
,8
7
2

6
,4
4
4

R

4
2

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
c
ri
m
in
a
l 
d
a
m
a
g
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts

� ���
� ���

2
,5
2
4

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
2
,1
0
1

2
,6
9
6

R

4
2

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
ll 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
1
1
,5
3
5

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
1
0
,2
2
9

1
1
,5
0
4

R

4
5

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
s

� ���
� ���

2
,8
4
4

(2
0
0
3
-0
4
)

<
=
2
,5
5
3

2
,7
8
2

R

4
8

H
C
S

a
M
e
a
s
u
re
 o
f 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 P
ro
lif
ic
 O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 S
c
h
e
m
e

� ���
N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
5
%
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

N
o
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 

u
n
ti
l 
2
0
0
9

n
/a

4
9

H
C
S

a
N
o
. 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

� ���
3
7
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
6
0
0

2
9
9

G

4
9

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

� ���
9
7
1

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

<
=
1
0
8
6

8
9
0

G

5
0

H
C
S

N
o
. 
o
f 
C
la
s
s
 A
 d
ru
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
to
 j
u
s
ti
c
e

� ���
3
3

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
2
8

3
4

G

5
1

H
C
S

b
N
o
. 
o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

� ���
4
6
2

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
4
2
5

1
,1
1
2

n
/a

 

W
E
S
T
 M
E
R
C
IA
 C
O
N
S
T
A
B
U
L
A
R
Y

71



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

5
1

H
C
S

c
N
o
. 
o
f 
a
rr
e
s
ts
 f
o
r 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 o
ff
e
n
c
e
s

� ���
3
2
6

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

4
7
5

n
/a

5
1

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
te
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e

� ���
6
7
%

(2
0
0
5
-0
6
)

=
>
5
5
%

5
5
%

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

3
6

H
C
S

%
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 (
re
c
id
iv
is
m
 r
a
te
s
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
)

� ���
� ���

5
0
%

<
=
4
5
%

4
7
%

n
/a

T
h
is
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 h
a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
, 
m
e
a
n
in
g
 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in
a
l 
b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

v
a
lid
.

4
3

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 s
p
e
e
d
in
g
 t
ra
ff
ic
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
7
0
%

<
=
7
6
%

(2
0
0
8
)

7
4
%

G

4
3

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 v
a
n
d
a
lis
m
, 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 

d
a
m
a
g
e
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
2
%

<
=
5
5
%

(2
0
0
8
)

6
1
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 u
s
in
g
 d
ru
g
s
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
6
0
%

<
=
5
5
%

(2
0
0
8
)

6
1
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 d
e
a
lin
g
 d
ru
g
s
 i
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
3
%

<
=
4
8
%

(2
0
0
8
)

5
5
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
in
k
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 b
e
in
g
 d
ru
n
k
 o
r 
ro
w
d
y
 i
n
 p
u
b
lic
 p
la
c
e
s
 

is
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a

� ���
� ���

� ���
5
1
%

<
=
4
8
%

(2
0
0
8
)

5
4
%

R

4
3

H
C
S

f
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
w
o
rr
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r

� ���
2
7
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
7
%

A

4
4

H
C
S

a
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
u
s
e
 b
u
rg
la
ry

� ���
3
0
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
7
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

b
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
v
a
n
d
a
lis
m
 o
r 
d
a
m
a
g
e
 t
o
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y

� ���
2
8
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
9
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

c
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
d
ru
n
k
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m

� ���
2
1
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
3
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

d
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
ir
 c
a
r 
b
e
in
g
 b
ro
k
e
 i
n
to

� ���
1
8
%

4
%
 o
v
e
r 
3
 y
e
a
rs

2
0
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

e
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
a
v
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
r 
s
to
le
n

� ���
1
2
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
3
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

f
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 h
a
ra
s
s
e
d
 w
h
ils
t 
in
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
la
c
e

� ���
1
2
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
5
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

g
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e

� ���
3
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

4
%

R

4
4

H
C
S

h
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 a
s
s
a
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 p
la
c
e

� ���
9
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

9
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

i 
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
b
e
in
g
 m
u
g
g
e
d
 o
r 
ro
b
b
e
d

� ���
1
1
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

1
0
%

G

4
4

H
C
S

j
%
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 w
o
rr
ie
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
c
ri
m
e
 (
o
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 a
-i
 a
b
o
v
e
)

� ���
3
%

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
r 
re
d
u
c
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

2
%

G

72



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1
  
- 
A
O
P
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

P
E
R
F
O
R
M
A
N
C
E
 A
G
A
IN
S
T
 T
A
R
G
E
T

In
d
ic
a
to
r

Herefordshire Community 

Strategy (HCS)

Local Area Agreement (LAA)

Local Public Service Agreement - 

second generation (LPSA2G)

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

Target

Outturn

Judgement

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

4
8

H
C
S

b
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g

N
o
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t

N
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

A

6
0

H
C
S

d
N
e
t 
p
e
rc
e
iv
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
3
 y
e
a
rs
 f
o
r 
Q
o
L
 

fa
c
to
rs
 (
a
d
u
lt
s
):
 L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
c
ri
m
e

� ���
� ���

-4
6
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

-4
6
%

A

9
8

H
C
S

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
in
fo
rm

e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 

d
o
n
e
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
.

� ���
2
0
%

4
%
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9

2
0
%

A

73



74



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 2
 

      

 

   

B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 2
0
0
7
-0
8

75



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2 

C
o
n
te
n
ts
 

 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 A
re
a
 

P
a
g
e
 N
o
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

3
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

6
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 C
h
il
d
re
n
 

9
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

1
2
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

1
3
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

1
4
 

W
a
s
te
 &
 C
le
a
n
li
n
e
s
s
 

1
7
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

2
1
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

2
5
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

2
6
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

2
8
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 &
 W

e
ll
-b
e
in
g
 

3
0
 

 
 

 
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

3
3
 

76



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
3

 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

2
a
 

T
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
lo
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

to
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

c
o
n
fo
rm

s
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 

ra
c
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

L
e
v
e
l 
2
 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 

�
 

2
b
 

T
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
a
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

R
a
c
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
R
E
S
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 

fr
o
m
 i
ts
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
8
%
 

7
9
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
4
%
 

7
9
%
 

7
9
%
 

�
�
 

3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
ir
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
3
%
 

  

 

5
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
p
la
in
a
n
ts
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
o
m
p
la
in
t 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

3
6
%
 

  

 

3
7
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
v
o
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 
g
o
o
d
s
 &
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
a
id
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

w
it
h
in
 3
0
 d
a
y
s
 o
f 
re
c
e
ip
t 
o
r 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 

te
rm

s
 

H
ig
h
 

9
2
.3
3
%
 

9
2
.6
7
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
7
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
1
.9
%
 

�
 

9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

9
7
.7
%
 

9
8
.3
4
%
 

 
9
8
.6
%
 

9
8
.6
2
%
 

�
 

77



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 

Q
2
 

9
8
.4
8
%
 

1
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
o
n
-

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 r
a
te
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 

H
ig
h
 

9
7
.4
%
 

9
8
.9
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
9
.3
%
 

9
9
.1
%
 

9
8
.6
3
%
 

�
 

1
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 w
o
m
e
n
 

H
ig
h
 

4
0
.5
7
%
 

3
8
.5
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

4
3
.5
6
%
 

4
2
%
 

4
0
.9
4
%
 

�
 

1
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 f
ro
m
 a
n
 e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.8
9
%
 

2
.1
4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

4
.5
3
%
 

2
.8
5
%
 

2
.3
6
%
 

�
 

1
1
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

(e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
) 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

0
.7
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

5
.4
9
%
 

1
.4
%
 

0
.7
9
%
 

�
 

1
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s
/s
h
if
ts
 l
o
s
t 
to
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 

a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 

L
o
w
 

1
0
.5
 F
T
E
 

8
.4
1
 F
T
E
 

Q
2
 

 

8
.0
9
 F
T
E
 

8
 F
T
E
 

8
.5
8
 F
T
E
 

�
 

1
4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

re
ti
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
ll-

h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
) 
a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
w
o
rk
 

fo
rc
e
 

L
o
w
 

0
.3
1
%
 

0
.1
6
%
 

Q
1
 

 

0
.1
8
%
 

0
.1
4
%
 

0
.2
8
%
 

�
 

1
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 o
n
 

g
ro
u
n
d
s
 o
f 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

L
o
w
 

0
.3
8
%
 

0
.1
4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

0
%
 

0
.1
3
%
 

0
.1
6
%
 

�
 

78



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

1
6
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 w
it
h
 a
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

0
.3
9
%
 

0
.6
9
%
 

Q
4
 

 

4
.4
3
%
 

0
.7
5
%
 

0
.8
6
%
 

�
 

1
6
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 w
h
o
 

h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

N
/a
 

7
.8
%
 

7
.8
%
 

 
7
.8
%
 

1
3
.5
3
%
 

 

1
7
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 f
ro
m
 

e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
.3
%
 

0
.6
4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

5
.2
%
 

0
.8
%
 

0
.7
3
%
 

�
 

1
7
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 (
p
e
rs
o
n
s
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
5
) 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 

e
th
n
ic
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

0
.8
%
 

0
.8
%
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

1
5
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 a
ll 
p
u
b
lic
 a
re
a
s
 

a
re
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r,
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

to
, 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 

H
ig
h
 

4
5
.9
%
 

6
3
.8
%
 

 
7
0
%
 

8
0
%
 

�
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

2
2
1
a
 

Y
o
u
th
 W

o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
ig
h
 

4
7
%
 

5
8
.2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

6
3
%
 

6
0
%
 

8
2
.9
%
 

�
 

79



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

2
2
1
b
 

Y
o
u
th
 W

o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
n
 a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

3
2
%
 

3
3
.4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

3
0
%
 

3
0
%
 

5
4
%
 

�
 

3
8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 a
t 

g
ra
d
e
s
 A
*-
C
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 

H
ig
h
 

5
8
%
 

6
1
.8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

6
1
.9
%
 

6
6
%
 

6
2
%
 

�
 

3
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
s
 o
r 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
*-
G
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 

M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

8
8
%
 

9
2
.8
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
1
.5
%
 

9
6
%
 

9
3
.6
%
 

�
 

4
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t 

H
ig
h
 

7
6
%
 

7
5
.5
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
8
%
 

8
2
%
 

7
7
%
 

�
 

4
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

H
ig
h
 

8
1
%
 

8
0
.6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
1
.3
%
 

8
3
%
 

8
1
%
 

�
 

80



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t 

4
3
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

5
6
.5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

4
3
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

4
4
.1
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
8
.5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

4
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
s
 

m
is
s
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
o
ta
l 
a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

7
.4
%
 

7
.9
%
 

Q
3
 

 

7
.4
%
 

6
%
 

7
.9
%
 

�
�
 

4
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
a
lf
 d
a
y
s
 

m
is
s
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
o
ta
l 
a
b
s
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

5
.1
%
 

5
.6
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

5
.3
4
%
 

4
%
 

5
.1
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

7
6
%
 

7
6
.5
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
6
.5
5
%
 

8
3
%
 

8
0
.5
%
 

�
 

81



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

1
8
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 

M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
%
 

7
9
.8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
%
 

8
3
%
 

7
9
.2
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 S
c
ie
n
c
e
 

H
ig
h
 

7
2
%
 

7
7
.5
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

7
6
.9
5
%
 

8
4
%
 

7
9
.3
%
 

�
 

1
8
1
d
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 i
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 t
e
s
t 
in
 I
C
T
 

H
ig
h
 

7
4
%
 

7
2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

7
5
%
 

8
4
%
 

7
5
.2
%
 

�
 

2
2
2
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
d
e
rs
 o
f 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
c
a
re
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
it
h
 a
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 

L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 

H
ig
h
 

2
4
%
 

2
9
.2
4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

4
2
%
 

3
4
.9
%
 

3
6
.8
9
%
 

�
 

2
2
2
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
d
e
rs
 o
f 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
c
a
re
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

H
ig
h
 

2
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

82



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
p
u
t 
fr
o
m
 

s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
 g
ra
d
u
a
te
 o
r 
p
o
s
t 

g
ra
d
u
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 t
e
a
c
h
in
g
 o
r 

c
h
ild
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

1
9
4
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
1
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 t
e
s
t 
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

H
ig
h
 

2
9
%
 

3
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

3
5
%
 

3
3
%
 

3
5
%
 

�
 

1
9
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
1
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
 

p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
n
 K
e
y
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 t
e
s
t 
in
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 

H
ig
h
 

3
2
%
 

3
0
.2
%
 

Q
3
 

 

3
5
%
 

3
5
%
 

3
4
%
 

�
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 C
h
il
d
re
n
 

4
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
o
k
e
d
 A
ft
e
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
t 
3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 w
it
h
 t
h
re
e
 

o
r 
m
o
re
 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

5
.7
7
%
 

8
.9
%
 

 
8
%
 

5
%
 

�
 

5
0
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 l
e
a
v
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
 o
r 

o
v
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
 G
C
S
E
 a
t 

G
ra
d
e
 A
*-
G
 o
r 
a
 G
N
V
Q
 

H
ig
h
 

9
2
%
 

7
6
.5
%
 

 
9
0
%
 

8
0
%
 

�
 

1
6
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

o
n
 1
 A
p
ri
l 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 1
7
th
 y
e
a
r 

(a
g
e
d
 1
6
),
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 

in
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9
 t
o
 

th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.0
6
 

1
.2
5
 

 
0
.9
9
 

1
.0
6
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l 

�
 

83



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
0

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 

o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9
 

1
6
2
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
 

p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
, 
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 

c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

 
1
0
0
%
 

9
3
%
 

�
 

1
6
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 

c
e
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 g
ra
n
ti
n
g
 o
f 
a
n
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
r 

s
p
e
c
ia
l 
g
u
a
rd
ia
n
s
h
ip
 o
rd
e
r,
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 

u
n
a
c
c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
d
 a
s
y
lu
m
 

s
e
e
k
e
rs
) 
w
h
o
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 
fo
r 
6
 m

o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 o
n
 

th
a
t 
d
a
y
 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
.8
%
 

4
.1
%
 

 
8
%
 

1
1
.8
%
 

�
 

1
9
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 

1
5
-1
7
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 

L
o
w
 

1
.4
%
 

-1
5
.6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-1
1
.2
1
%
 

-1
9
%
 

-2
9
.6
%
 

�
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 &
 H
e
a
lt
h
 -
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

5
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 

H
ig
h
 

5
.6
7
 

6
.7
 

 
8
.1
0
 

7
.5
 

�
 

84



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

o
v
e
r 

5
4
 

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 

h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 

H
ig
h
 

8
1
.6
1
 

8
1
.1
 

 
8
3
 

8
1
.3
 

�
 

5
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
it
e
m
s
 o
f 

e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
d
e
 w
it
h
in
 7
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s
 

H
ig
h
 

9
4
%
 

9
6
%
 

 
9
6
%
 

9
6
.4
%
 

�
 

1
9
5
 

F
o
r 
n
e
w
 o
ld
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
 (
th
a
t 
is
 

o
v
e
r 
6
5
 y
e
a
rs
 o
f 
a
g
e
),
 t
h
e
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 

(i
) 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

ti
m
e
 f
ro
m
 f
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 
to
 

b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

is
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
8
 

h
o
u
rs
, 
a
n
d
 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

ti
m
e
 f
ro
m
 f
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ta
c
t 
to
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

is
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
 

w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
0
.1
%
 

8
3
.6
%
 

 
9
0
%
 

8
9
.6
%
 

�
 

1
9
6
 

F
o
r 
n
e
w
 o
ld
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
, 
th
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 f
o
r 
w
h
o
m
 t
h
e
 t
im
e
 

fr
o
m
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

to
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
a
re
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 i
s
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 o
r 

e
q
u
a
l 
to
 4
 w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
.1
%
 

7
6
%
 

 
8
5
%
 

8
4
.7
%
 

�
 

85



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
2

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

2
0
1
 

A
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
(a
g
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
) 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
 

8
8
 

 
1
0
0
 

9
7
.6
 

�
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

6
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 

d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

H
ig
h
 

5
4
 

5
2
 

Q
2
 

 

9
5
 

5
5
 

1
1
5
 

�
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

1
8
3
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 

b
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
re
a
k
fa
s
t 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

th
a
t 
a
re
 u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

1
1
 w
e
e
k
s
 

1
5
 w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
4
 

 

1
 w
e
e
k
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

1
8
3
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 

h
o
s
te
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 

u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
9
 w
e
e
k
s
 

2
6
 w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
4
 

 

0
 w
e
e
k
s
 

6
 w
e
e
k
s
 

2
7
 w
e
e
k
s
 

�
 

2
0
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
le
e
p
in
g
 

ro
u
g
h
 o
n
 a
 s
in
g
le
 n
ig
h
t 
w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

 
0
 

Q
1
 

 0
 

<
 3
 

0
 

�
 

86



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
3

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

th
e
 a
re
a
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

2
0
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fa
m
ili
e
s
 

p
la
c
e
d
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

2
6
.1
%
 

-1
9
.4
7
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-2
6
.1
2
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
1
3
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 a
s
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
, 
w
h
o
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
d
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
(s
),
 a
n
d
 

fo
r 
w
h
o
m
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

c
a
s
e
w
o
rk
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
d
 

th
e
ir
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

1
 

3
.1
2
 

Q
2
 

 5
 

4
 

4
 

�
 

2
1
4
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ri
ly
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 

a
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ri
ly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

s
a
m
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
2
 y
e
a
rs
 

L
o
w
 

2
.8
8
%
 

5
.4
0
%
 

Q
4
 

 

0
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

7
6
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

c
la
im
a
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 v
is
it
e
d
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

N
/a
 

1
5
8
.4
2
 

2
6
5
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

7
6
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fr
a
u
d
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
to
rs
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

N
/a
 

0
.2
6
 

0
.2
9
 

 
0
.2
8
 

0
.3
4
 

 

87



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

7
6
c
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
fr
a
u
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 

N
/a
 

5
6
.6
1
 

4
0
 

 
3
5
 

3
7
 

 

7
6
d
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
p
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

s
a
n
c
ti
o
n
s
, 
p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
, 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

9
.2
4
 

7
.5
 

 
8
 

1
2
 

 

7
8
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
n
e
w
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
/C
T
B
) 

c
la
im
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 d
a
te
 o
f 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

y
e
a
r 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

L
o
w
 

5
2
.2
 d
a
y
s
 

2
9
.8
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
3
 

 

2
4
.5
 d
a
y
s
 

2
6
 d
a
y
s
 

2
7
.0
8
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

7
8
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
f 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 a
 c
la
im
a
n
t’
s
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
 a
 n
e
w
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 o
n
 b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

4
2
.6
 d
a
y
s
 

1
5
.6
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

7
.8
 d
a
y
s
 

1
5
 d
a
y
s
 

1
3
.2
6
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

88



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

7
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 

a
 r
a
n
d
o
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 f
o
r 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
/C
T
B
) 
is
 f
o
u
n
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
rr
e
c
t 

H
ig
h
 

9
8
.2
%
 

9
8
.4
%
 

Q
2
 

 

9
9
.2
%
 

9
8
.8
%
 

9
8
.4
%
 

�
�
 

7
9
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
) 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

o
n
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
H
B
 

d
e
e
m
e
d
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ra
b
le
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 

p
e
ri
o
d
 

H
ig
h
 

6
1
.9
%
 

6
6
.5
8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
.6
1
%
 

6
6
%
 

6
2
.3
%
 

�
 

7
9
b
 i
i 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 

o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 p
lu
s
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

H
ig
h
 

3
8
.7
9
%
 

5
1
.2
4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

3
8
.3
8
%
 

5
5
%
 

4
8
.9
%
 

�
 

7
9
b
 i
ii 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 o
ff
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
p
lu
s
 

a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

N
/a
 

5
.4
5
%
 

4
.7
8
%
 

 
9
%
 

6
.0
9
%
 

 

89



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

8
0
a
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
3
%
 

 

 

8
2
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
b
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
7
%
 

 

 

8
4
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
c
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
9
%
 

 

 

7
9
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
d
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
9
%
 

 

 

8
4
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
e
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 f
o
rm

s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

5
6
%
 

 

 

6
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
f 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 s
p
e
e
d
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
8
%
 

 

 

7
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

8
0
g
 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
  

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
6
%
 

 

 

8
2
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

W
a
s
te
 &
 C
le
a
n
li
n
e
s
s
 

8
2
a
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 

H
ig
h
 

1
7
.4
6
%
 

1
8
.5
9
%
 

Q
3
 

Q
3
 

 

2
4
.1
9
%
 

2
1
.7
1
%
 

2
3
.9
7
%
 

2
2
.8
%
 

�
 

8
2
a
 i
i 

T
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
n
t 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 

H
ig
h
 

1
6
,2
3
1
.4
 t
 

1
6
,8
7
7
.0
8
 t
 

Q
1
 

 

1
6
,8
6
2
.2
5
 t
 

2
2
,4
4
4
.1
1
 t
 
1
9
,7
0
6
.0
3
 t
 

�
 

90



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 

8
2
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 

d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
.6
1
%
 

7
.3
3
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
5
.5
3
%
 

6
.8
5
%
 

7
.6
3
%
 

�
 

8
2
b
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 s
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 o
r 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 a
n
a
e
ro
b
ic
 

d
ig
e
s
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
,1
4
8
.2
1
 t
 

6
,6
5
7
.0
2
 t
 

Q
2
 

 

1
0
,7
9
5
.8
6
 t
 

6
,4
1
3
.9
4
 t
 

6
,5
9
4
.3
7
 t
 

�
 

8
2
c
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

to
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 u
s
e
d
 

to
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
h
e
a
t,
 p
o
w
e
r 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

1
.3
1
%
 

Q
2
 

 

1
1
.6
6
%
 

1
.0
5
%
 

0
%
 

�
 

8
2
c
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

u
s
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
v
e
r 
h
e
a
t,
 p
o
w
e
r 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
e
n
e
rg
y
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
t 

1
,1
8
8
.8
3
t 

Q
2
 

 

2
5
,4
8
0
.6
4
t 

9
8
3
.1
6
t 

0
 t
 

�
 

8
2
d
 i
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

la
n
d
fi
lle
d
 

L
o
w
 

7
6
.1
%
 

7
2
.7
2
%
 

Q
4
 

 

5
5
.6
3
%
 

6
8
.5
%
 

6
9
.5
7
%
 

�
 

8
2
d
 i
i 

T
h
e
 t
o
n
n
a
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

w
a
s
te
 a
ri
s
in
g
s
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

la
n
d
fi
lle
d
 

L
o
w
 

7
0
,5
9
9
 t
 

6
6
,0
1
2
.7
9
 t
 

Q
2
 

Q
3
 

 

4
9
,1
4
5
.7
6
 t
 

3
8
,1
9
3
.4
1
 t
 

6
3
,7
9
2
.9
6
 t
 
6
0
,6
3
4
.7
3
 t
 

�
 

91



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

8
4
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

5
2
1
.7
 k
g
 

5
0
7
.7
 k
g
 

Q
4
 

 

3
9
5
 k
g
 

5
0
5
 k
g
 

4
8
3
.3
3
 k
g
 

�
 

8
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
y
e
a
r 
in
 

th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 p
e
r 

h
e
a
d
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

1
.4
2
%
 

-2
.6
9
%
 

Q
1
 

 

-1
.7
8
%
 

-0
.1
5
%
 

-4
.4
5
%
 

�
 

8
6
 

T
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 

L
o
w
 

£
4
4
.6
9
 

£
4
7
.7
1
 

Q
2
 

 

£
4
2
.0
4
 

£
5
2
.1
3
 

£
5
5
.0
1
 

�
 

8
7
 

T
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
p
e
r 

to
n
n
e
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te
 

L
o
w
 

£
7
8
.9
9
 

£
7
3
.9
1
 

Q
4
 

 

£
4
0
.4
5
 

£
8
2
.3
3
 

£
8
6
.4
8
 

�
 

8
9
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
6
%
 

 

 

7
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

9
0
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
2
%
 

 

 

8
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

9
0
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
0
%
 

 

 

7
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

9
0
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
6
%
 

 

 

8
5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

9
1
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 

H
ig
h
 

6
2
.3
%
 

6
9
.4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

7
0
%
 

7
3
%
 

�
 

92



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
1
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 

9
1
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

re
s
id
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

a
re
a
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
2
 

re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 

H
ig
h
 

6
0
.3
%
 

6
9
.4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

7
0
%
 

7
3
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
th
a
t 
is
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 

a
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 d
e
p
o
s
it
s
 o
f 

lit
te
r 
a
n
d
 d
e
tr
it
u
s
 t
h
a
t 
fa
ll 
b
e
lo
w
 

a
n
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l 

L
o
w
 

1
8
%
 

1
7
%
 

Q
4
 

 

7
%
 

1
5
%
 

1
4
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 

a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 

L
o
w
 

3
%
 

2
%
 

Q
2
 

 

1
%
 

2
%
 

2
%
 

�
�
 

1
9
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 (
e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
) 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
fl
y
-

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le
 

L
o
w
 

2
%
 

1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

0
%
 

1
%
 

0
%
 

�
 

1
9
9
d
 

T
h
e
 y
e
a
r-
o
n
-y
e
a
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 ‘
fl
y
-t
ip
p
in
g
’ 

L
o
w
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

Q
1
 

 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

G
ra
d
in
g
 1
 

(V
e
ry
 

E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
) 

G
ra
d
in
g
 3
 

�
 

93



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
0

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

2
2
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
1
%
 

1
4
%
 

Q
4
 

 

6
%
 

5
%
 

6
%
 

�
 

2
2
4
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
o
n
-

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 m

a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

4
9
.5
%
 

2
1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

9
%
 

1
9
%
 

1
1
%
 

�
 

2
2
4
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

u
n
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

L
o
w
 

2
2
.2
%
 

2
4
.2
8
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
%
 

1
9
%
 

3
2
%
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

1
4
1
 

1
4
7
 

Q
3
 

 

7
7
 

<
 1
3
4
 

1
1
9
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

-3
%
 

4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

-1
4
%
 

-2
8
%
 

-1
9
%
 

�
 

9
9
a
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-

9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

-4
3
%
 

-4
1
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-4
4
%
 

-4
6
%
 

-5
2
.2
%
 

�
 

94



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

9
9
b
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
a
g
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
1
6
 y
e
a
rs
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

8
 

1
3
 

Q
2
 

 

1
0
 

<
 1
5
 

1
0
 

�
 

9
9
b
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 (
a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

1
6
 y
e
a
rs
) 
k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 

y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

3
3
%
 

6
3
%
 

Q
4
 

 

-3
1
.6
%
 

-7
%
 

-2
3
.1
%
 

 
�
 

9
9
b
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
K
S
I)
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-

9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

-6
4
%
 

-4
1
%
 

Q
3
 

 

-6
0
.6
%
 

-3
0
%
 

-5
4
.5
%
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

7
8
3
 

7
3
2
 

Q
2
 

 

6
5
4
 

<
 7
8
8
 

6
6
3
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
i 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

L
o
w
 

9
 

-6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

-1
0
%
 

5
%
 

-9
.4
%
 

�
 

9
9
c
 i
ii 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
s
io
n
s
 

s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

L
o
w
 

9
%
 

2
%
 

Q
4
 

 

-2
4
.8
%
 

1
0
%
 

-7
.8
%
 

�
 

1
0
0
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
ls
, 
o
r 

L
o
w
 

0
 

0
 

 
0
 

0
 

�
 

95



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
2

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
ls
, 
o
r 

ro
a
d
 c
lo
s
u
re
, 
o
n
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 

ro
a
d
s
, 
c
a
u
s
e
d
 b
y
 r
o
a
d
w
o
rk
s
, 

p
e
r 
k
m
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 r
o
a
d
 

Q
1
 

0
.1
 

1
0
2
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 

p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 o
ri
g
in
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 e
a
c
h
 y
e
a
r 

H
ig
h
 

3
,2
4
8
,9
3
5
 

3
,4
3
3
,0
4
3
 

Q
4
 

 

2
4
,0
1
4
,6
7
7
 

3
,9
4
8
,0
0
0
 

3
,3
5
5
,2
1
3
 

�
 

1
0
3
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
8
%
 

 

 

6
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
0
4
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
rs
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
9
%
 

 

 

6
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
6
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 

c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 w
it
h
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
a
s
 a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 

o
f 
a
ll 
c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

H
ig
h
 

7
5
.6
%
 

9
2
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
9
.9
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
2
%
 

�
�
 

1
7
8
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

le
n
g
th
 o
f 
ri
g
h
ts
 o
f 
w
a
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
, 
th
a
t 
a
re
 

e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
s
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

p
u
b
lic
 

H
ig
h
 

5
2
%
 

4
8
%
 

Q
4
 

 

9
0
.7
%
 

5
0
%
 

3
9
%
 

�
 

1
8
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 

1
, 
1
a
 a
n
d
 2
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

w
h
e
re
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

L
o
w
 

3
1
%
 

3
1
%
 

Q
4
 

 

1
7
%
 

2
7
.5
%
 

1
1
.2
%
 

�
 

96



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
3

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

2
1
5
a
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 

fa
u
lt
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 

o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

L
o
w
 

1
0
.3
3
 d
a
y
s
 

8
.7
8
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

3
.0
7
 d
a
y
s
 

5
 d
a
y
s
 

6
.6
1
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

2
1
5
b
 

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

re
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
, 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
im
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
a
 D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 O
p
e
ra
to
r 
(D
N
O
) 

L
o
w
 

4
7
.1
 d
a
y
s
 

5
7
.1
6
 d
a
y
s
 

Q
4
 

 

1
4
.8
3
 d
a
y
s
 

3
0
 d
a
y
s
 

9
.5
 d
a
y
s
 

�
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

1
6
6
a
 

S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

H
ig
h
 

4
5
%
 

9
8
.7
5
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

1
6
6
b
 

S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
T
ra
d
in
g
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
.8
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

Q
1
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

2
1
6
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
‘s
it
e
s
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
’ 
[w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
],
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
to
 

la
n
d
 c
o
n
ta
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

 
5
,9
1
0
 

2
,8
9
6
 

 
5
,8
4
1
 

2
,8
9
2
 

 

2
1
6
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
d
e
ta
ile
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
c
id
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 

re
m
e
d
ia
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
ig
h
 

0
 

0
.2
 

Q
4
 

 

1
0
 

2
 

0
.0
4
 

�
 

97



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
4

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

a
ll 
‘s
it
e
s
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
’ 

2
1
7
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
o
llu
ti
o
n
 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

o
n
 t
im
e
 

H
ig
h
 

9
5
%
 

9
6
.8
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

9
6
.8
0
%
 

9
7
.9
0
%
 

�
 

2
1
8
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 

o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 o
f 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

8
3
%
 

9
8
%
 

Q
2
 

 

9
8
.5
5
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
4
.7
4
%
 

�
 

2
1
8
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 

h
o
u
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
s
 l
e
g
a
lly
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
e
h
ic
le
 

H
ig
h
 

9
0
%
 

9
9
%
 

Q
1
 

 

9
7
.8
7
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

9
7
.8
3
%
 

�
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

1
0
6
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 

b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

la
n
d
 

H
ig
h
 

7
1
.3
%
 

7
6
.7
%
 

Q
3
 

 

9
6
.9
2
%
 

6
0
%
 

7
4
.6
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

5
6
%
 

7
6
.5
6
%
 

Q
2
 

 

8
0
.6
5
%
 

7
6
%
 

6
8
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

w
e
e
k
s
 

H
ig
h
 

6
7
%
 

8
4
.2
4
%
 

Q
1
 

 

8
3
.3
8
%
 

8
5
%
 

7
9
%
 

�
 

1
0
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
‘o
th
e
r’
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

H
ig
h
 

7
8
%
 

9
0
.9
8
%
 

 
9
3
%
 

8
9
%
 

�
 

98



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
5

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

w
e
e
k
s
 

Q
2
 

9
2
.4
6
%
 

1
1
1
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 o
n
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
6
%
 

 

 

8
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
a
 

D
id
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

s
u
b
m
it
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 
b
y
 2
8
 M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
6
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
a
ft
e
r 
m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 

3
-y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
?
  

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 

2
0
0
b
 

H
a
s
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m

e
t 
th
e
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
L
o
c
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 

s
e
ts
 o
u
t?
 

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 

2
0
0
c
 

D
id
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

p
u
b
lis
h
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

re
p
o
rt
 b
y
 3
1
s
t  D

e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r?
 

N
/a
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
0
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
l 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
llo
w
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 t
o
 

re
fu
s
e
 o
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
re
fu
s
a
ls
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

L
o
w
 

2
8
%
 

2
2
%
 

Q
1
 

 

2
5
.6
%
 

2
1
%
 

3
6
%
 

�
 

99



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
6

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

2
0
5
 

T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 s
c
o
re
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 ‘
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
’ 
c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 

H
ig
h
 

9
4
%
 

9
4
%
 

Q
3
 

 

1
0
0
%
 

9
4
%
 

9
4
%
 

�
�
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 R
e
la
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

1
1
8
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 f
o
u
n
d
 a
 b
o
o
k
 t
o
 b
o
rr
o
w
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
9
%
 

 

 

9
0
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
8
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 f
o
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
y
 

w
e
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 f
o
r 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

8
3
%
 

 

 

8
0
.5
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
8
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 u
s
e
rs
 

w
h
o
 w
e
re
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

9
0
%
 

 

 

9
4
.3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
a
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 s
p
o
rt
s
 /
 l
e
is
u
re
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

5
8
%
 

 

 

6
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

7
0
%
 

 

 

7
7
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

1
1
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 /
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
5
%
 

 

 

5
1
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r  

100



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
7

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

1
1
9
d
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
s
 /
 c
o
n
c
e
rt
 

h
a
lls
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

4
8
%
 

 

 

5
3
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
1
9
e
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 p
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
 

H
ig
h
 

N
o
t 

a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

6
9
%
 

 

 

7
8
%
 

S
u
rv
e
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 

1
7
0
a
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
is
it
s
 t
o
/u
s
a
g
e
s
 

o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 o
r 

p
a
rt
-f
u
n
d
e
d
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 

g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

7
7
4
 

8
7
6
 

Q
2
 

 

1
,0
6
7
 

8
8
0
 

7
4
9
 

�
 

1
7
0
b
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 v
is
it
s
 t
o
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 f
u
n
d
e
d
, 
o
r 
p
a
rt
-

fu
n
d
e
d
 m

u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 

th
a
t 
w
e
re
 i
n
 p
e
rs
o
n
, 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

H
ig
h
 

6
9
3
 

6
8
9
 

Q
1
 

 

6
2
0
 

7
2
0
 

6
8
0
 

�
 

1
7
0
c
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 v
is
it
in
g
 

m
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 i
n
 

o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 

H
ig
h
 

3
,8
1
0
 

6
,4
9
1
 

Q
2
 

 

8
,8
6
6
 

6
,5
0
0
 

4
,4
6
7
 

�
 

2
1
9
a
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

N
/a
 

6
4
 

6
4
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
1
9
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 w
it
h
 a
n
 u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 

H
ig
h
 

1
.5
6
%
 

1
2
.5
%
 

Q
3
 

 

4
3
.6
3
%
 

2
6
.5
6
%
 

2
5
%
 

�
 

101



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 

2
1
9
c
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 w
it
h
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 

H
ig
h
 

0
%
 

0
%
 

Q
4
 

 

2
3
.2
%
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

2
2
0
 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 

L
ib
ra
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

(P
L
S
S
) 

H
ig
h
 

2
 

1
 

 
3
 

1
 

�
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 &
 W

e
ll
-B
e
in
g
 

1
2
6
 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

4
.9
 

4
.2
 

Q
1
 

 

5
.8
 

4
.2
 

3
.9
 

�
 

1
2
7
a
 

V
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

1
4
.7
 

1
5
.1
 

Q
2
 

 

1
3
.1
 

1
4
.7
 

1
5
.6
 

�
 

1
2
7
b
 

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

0
.2
 

0
.4
 

Q
2
 

 

0
.3
 

0
.4
 

0
.2
 

�
 

1
2
8
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 

p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 

L
o
w
 

5
.5
 

5
.1
 

Q
1
 

 7
 

5
.1
 

5
.0
 

�
 

1
7
4
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 

a
n
d
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
, 
p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

L
o
w
 

8
8
.5
 

2
8
.3
3
 

 
5
7
 

3
2
.6
2
 

�
 

1
7
5
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

H
ig
h
 

1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

 
1
0
0
%
 

1
0
0
%
 

�
 

102



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
2
9

In
d
ic
a
to
r 

N
o
. 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 

P
o
la
ri
ty
 

2
0
0
5
/0
6
 

2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
A
c
tu
a
l 

A
c
tu
a
l 

A
ll 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

T
o
p
 Q
u
a
rt
ile
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
c
tu
a
l 

 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
h
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 

Q
1
 

1
0
0
%
 

2
2
5
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

v
io
le
n
c
e
 

N
/a
 

6
3
.6
%
 

8
1
.8
%
 

 
8
1
.8
%
 

8
1
.8
%
 

�
�
 

2
2
6
a
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
n
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

N
/a
 

£
4
1
3
,3
9
9
 

£
1
9
5
,2
3
2
 

 
£
1
9
5
,2
3
2
 

£
1
8
4
,3
7
5
 

 

2
2
6
b
 

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
o
n
ie
s
 

s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 w
a
s
 

g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 h
o
ld
in
g
 

th
e
 C
L
S
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 M
a
rk
 a
t 

‘G
e
n
e
ra
l 
H
e
lp
’ 
le
v
e
l 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 

N
/a
 

1
7
%
 

1
2
%
 

 
1
2
%
 

1
1
%
 

 

2
2
6
c
 

T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
w
e
lf
a
re
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
r 
m
a
tt
e
rs
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

N
/a
 

£
3
1
9
,7
1
5
 

£
7
5
6
,9
9
7
 

 
£
7
5
6
,9
9
7
 

£
7
6
7
,9
6
7
 

 

1
9
8
 

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
 i
n
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
5
-4
4
 

H
ig
h
 

7
9
.9
8
 

1
1
 

 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
D
e
le
te
d
 

 

103



B
V
P
I 
O
u
tt
u
rn
s
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

 

 
3
0

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

 

C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 M
a
tt
e
rs
 w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
 

104



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

2
0
0
6
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
fi
le

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

3
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

1
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

3
-y
e
a
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h

B
V
P
I 
2
b
 D
u
ty
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 r
a
c
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y

�
�

�
�
�

�

O
m
b
u
d
s
m
a
n
: 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
v
o
ic
e
s
 p
a
id
 b
y
 a
g
re
e
d
 d
a
te
 o
r 
w
it
h
in
 3
0
 d
a
y
s

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 c
o
lle
c
te
d

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
N
N
D
R
 c
o
lle
c
te
d

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
8
a
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 n
e
w
 c
la
im
s
 (
d
a
y
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
8
b
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 o
f 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 (
d
a
y
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
7
9
a
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
s
: 
C
a
s
e
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
d
 c
o
rr
e
c
tl
y

�
�
�

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
7
9
b
 i
 T
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 (
H
B
) 
re
c
o
v
e
re
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
ll 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
.

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
7
9
b
 i
i 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 a
s
 a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
e
b
t.

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
1
1
a
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 w
o
m
e
n
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
m
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
1
b
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
s
 a
 r
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
1
c
 R
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
to
p
 5
%
 o
f 
e
a
rn
e
rs
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
1
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
s
 a
 r
a
ti
o
 o
f 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
fo
o
tp
a
th
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
s
e

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
5
7
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
in
te
ra
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 p
u
b
lic
 w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
e
le
c
tr
o
n
ic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry

�

B
V
 3
 O
v
e
ra
ll 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

N
o
t 
c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le
 -
 a
p
p
e
a
rs
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 m
a
d
e
. 
T
h
is
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
r 
v
a
ri
o
u
s
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 e
it
h
e
r 
th
e
 P
I 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 i
n
 o
n
e
 o
r 
b
o
th
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 

c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
, 
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 P
I 
in
 o
n
e
 o
r 
b
o
th
 y
e
a
rs
, 
o
r 
o
n
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 d
a
ta
 i
te
m
s
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
.

S
h
a
d
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
6
 a
n
d
 2
0
0
7
 s
h
o
w
 w
h
ic
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 w
e
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
IP
; 
2
0
0
8
 i
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 2
0
0
7
, 
e
x
c
e
p
t 
th
a
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 r
e
m
o
v
e
d
.

2
0
0
7
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
fi
le

2
0
0
8

105



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
P
I 
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
u
s
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 h
a
n
d
lin
g

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
2
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 l
o
s
t 
to
 s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 a
b
s
e
n
c
e

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
ll 
h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 r
e
ti
ri
n
g
 o
n
 g
ro
u
n
d
s
 o
f 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
7
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
fo
o
tw
a
y
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
1
8
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 1
6
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 c
ro
s
s
in
g
s
 w
it
h
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
1
6
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 2
2
3
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
ro
a
d
s

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n

B
V
P
I 
1
6
6
a
 S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
6
6
b
 S
c
o
re
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
o
f 
e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
4
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
: 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
llo
w
e
d

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
5
 P
la
n
n
in
g
: 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�

B
V
 1
1
1
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 w
it
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
3
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

L
o
c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

B
V
P
I 
8
4
a
 H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 (
k
ilo
g
ra
m
s
 p
e
r 
h
e
a
d
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
9
1
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 a
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
 8
2
a
 &
 8
2
b
 A
c
tu
a
l 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 &
 c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 r
a
te
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
6
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 8
6
 C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 p
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

�
�

�
�

B
V
 8
7
 C
o
s
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
p
e
r 
to
n
n
e
 o
f 
m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
w
a
s
te

�
�

�
�

B
V
 9
1
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
e
d
 b
y
 k
e
rb
s
id
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
 (
tw
o
 r
e
c
y
c
la
b
le
s
) 
(C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
4
5
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 9
0
a
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
A
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 9
0
b
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 r
e
c
y
c
lin
g
- 
a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
B
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
0
c
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 W

a
s
te
 D
is
p
o
s
a
l 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
8
c
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

106



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
9
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 l
it
te
re
d
 t
o
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
o
r 
h
e
a
v
y
 e
x
te
n
t 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
4
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
g
ra
ff
it
i 
a
re
 

v
is
ib
le
.

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
9
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
la
n
d
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
fl
y
-p
o
s
ti
n
g
 a
re
 v
is
ib
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 8
9
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
le
a
n
lin
e
s
s
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 s
p
a
c
e
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
3
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
fe
lt
 t
h
a
t 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 o
r 
b
u
rn
t 
o
u
t 
c
a
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re
a
 w
a
s
 a
 v
e
ry
 b
ig
 o
r 

fa
ir
ly
 b
ig
 p
ro
b
le
m
. 
(B
V
P
I 
u
s
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 1
0
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
. 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
2
3
) 
(a
ls
o
 

u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
is
 d
e
re
lic
t 
(N
L
U
D
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

H
o
u
s
in
g

B
V
P
I 
6
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
A
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
8
3
a
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 B
&
B
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
in
 w
e
e
k
s
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
8
3
b
 A
v
e
ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 
s
ta
y
 i
n
 h
o
s
te
l 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
in
 w
e
e
k
s
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
3
1
s
t 
M
a
rc
h

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

H
IP
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
fo
r 
s
ix
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 

(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
8
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

H
S
S
A
 H
s
e
1
b
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
n
c
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
H
S
S
A
 

e
1
b
&
a
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

C
u
lt
u
re

B
V
 1
1
9
a
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
5
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

B
V
 1
1
9
e
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
9
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 –
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 s
u
rv
e
y
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
7
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

V
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 –
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 s
u
rv
e
y
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

L
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 -
 c
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 w
it
h
in
 2
0
 m
in
u
te
s
 

tr
a
v
e
l 
ti
m
e
 (
u
rb
a
n
 -
 w
a
lk
in
g
; 
ru
ra
l 
- 
d
ri
v
in
g
) 
o
f 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
3
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
p
o
rt
s
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 t
y
p
e
s
 (
ta
k
e
n
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 S
p
o
rt
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
la
c
e
s
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
) 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
1
9
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
1
9
c
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 m
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
7
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
1
9
d
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
 &
 c
o
n
c
e
rt
 h
a
lls
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
8
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 u
n
ti
l 
y
e
a
r-

e
n
d

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

107



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
1
9
b
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 l
ib
ra
ry
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
C
6
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 2
1
9
b
 P
re
s
e
rv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
: 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt

B
V
P
I 
6
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L
A
-o
w
n
e
d
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 
d
e
m
o
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

y
e
a
r 
a
s
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
re
s
u
lt
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
)

�
�

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
4
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
e
a
ls
: 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 a
llo
w
e
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
P
I 
2
0
5
 P
la
n
n
in
g
: 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
e
c
k
lis
t 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

�
�
�

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
3
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
).

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
m
in
o
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
).

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

B
V
P
I 
1
0
9
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 w
e
e
k
s
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
)

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
a
lly
 a
c
ti
v
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
(L
F
S
)

�

B
V
 1
0
3
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
0
4
 S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 2
1
9
b
 P
re
s
e
rv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
: 
c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 

C
u
lt
u
re
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
7
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
th
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
9
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 3
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
to
 G
 (
In
c
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

&
 M
a
th
s
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
)

�
�

�
�

H
IP
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 v
a
c
a
n
t 
fo
r 
s
ix
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
r 
m
o
re
 -
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 

(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
8
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
 1
0
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
a
n
d
. 
(C
P
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
E
2
3
) 
(a
ls
o
 

u
n
d
e
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)

�
�

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
B
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
 l
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
is
 d
e
re
lic
t 
(N
L
U
D
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
L
o
c
a
l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)

�
�

S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r

B
V
P
I 
2
2
4
a
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

B
V
P
I 
2
2
4
b
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
n
o
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
u
n
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
re
p
a
ir

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

C
D
R
P
: 
D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
T
h
e
ft
 o
f 
a
 m
o
to
r 
v
e
h
ic
le
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le

108



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

C
D
R
P
: 
T
h
e
ft
 f
ro
m
 a
 m
o
to
r 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
V
io
le
n
c
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 p
e
rs
o
n
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
e
rs
o
n
s

�

C
D
R
P
: 
S
e
x
u
a
l 
O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�

Y
O
T
. 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 r
e
o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
 (
2
4
 m
o
n
th
s
) 
s
in
c
e
 2
0
0
1
 c
o
h
o
rt
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

�

B
V
P
I 
1
7
4
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

D
F
T
) 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 (
3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
 D
F
T
) 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 1
9
9
4
-9
8
 a
v
e
ra
g
e

N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

P
A
F
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
g
e
d
 1
0
 t
o
 1
7
 g
iv
e
n
 a
 f
in
a
l 
w
a
rn
in
g
, 
re
p
ri
m
a
n
d
, 
c
a
u
ti
o
n
e
d
 

o
r 
c
o
n
v
ic
te
d
 i
n
 y
e
a
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
7
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
c
ia
l 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
th
a
t 
re
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
P
A
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
H
1
9
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
a
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
o
a
d

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
b
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 9
9
c
i 
R
o
a
d
 a
c
c
id
e
n
t 
- 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 A
ll 
s
lig
h
tl
y
 i
n
ju
re
d

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

B
V
 5
4
/P
A
F
 C
3
2
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 (
a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r)
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 s
o
c
ia
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 h
o
m
e
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
6
/P
A
F
 D
5
4
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
it
e
m
s
 o
f 
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 7
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
2
9
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 a
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
3
1
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 

6
4

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
5
/P
A
F
 D
5
5
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
e
re
 w
a
it
in
g
 t
im
e
 w
a
s
 w
it
h
in
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
6
/P
A
F
 D
5
6
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 c
a
re
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
e
re
 w
a
it
in
g
 t
im
e
 w
a
s
 w
it
h
in
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
3
/ 
P
A
F
 C
2
8
 I
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 H
o
m
e
 C
a
re
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r

�
�

�
�

P
A
F
 C
3
0
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
 a
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4

�
�

�
�

C
h
il
d
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le

B
V
 3
8
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
1
5
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 f
iv
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 g
ra
d
e
 A
* 
to
 C

�
�

�
�

B
V
 3
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 G
C
S
E
's
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
a
t 
g
ra
d
e
s
 A
* 
to
 G
 (
In
c
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

&
 M
a
th
s
) 
(a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 l
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

109



D
IR
E
C
T
IO
N
 O
F
 T
R
A
V
E
L
 I
N
D
IC
A
T
O
R
S

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 3

B
V
 1
8
1
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
c
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 S
c
ie
n
c
e
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
8
1
d
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 3
 I
C
T
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
4
a
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 M
a
th
e
m
a
ti
c
s
 t
e
s
t

�
�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
9
4
b
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
5
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
e
s
t

�
�

�
�

B
V
 4
9
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
re
e
 o
r 
m
o
re
 p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
(P
A
F
 A
1
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 5
0
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 l
e
a
v
in
g
 c
a
re
r 
a
g
e
d
 1
6
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
1
 G
C
S
E
 a
t 
g
ra
d
e
 A
* 

to
 G
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
(P
A
F
 A
2
)

�
�

�
�

B
V
 1
6
1
 P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
c
a
re
 l
e
a
v
e
rs
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
9

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

B
V
 1
6
2
/P
A
F
 C
2
0
 R
e
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 c
a
s
e
s

�
�

�
�
�

B
V
 1
6
3
/P
A
F
 C
2
3
 A
d
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r

�
�

�
�

B
V
 9
9
b
i 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 -
 c
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 i
n
ju
re
d
 (
a
ls
o
 u
n
d
e
r 
S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 S
tr
o
n
g
e
r)

�
N
o
t 

c
o
m
p
a
ra
b
le

�
�

H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 a
g
e
d
 1
5
 t
o
 1
7
 -
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
1
9
9
8
 b
a
s
e
lin
e

�

4
8
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

7
4
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

5
1
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

6
3
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

7
7
%
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

110



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16TH JULY, 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT PREPARATION 
PROGRAMME PROGRESS REPORT 

Report By: Interim Deputy Chief Executive 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To report progress against the Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation 
Programme. 

Financial Implications 

2. None.  

Background 

3. The Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation Programme (Appendix 1) 
is currently being implemented.  Judgement has been made against those 
actions timetabled for completion during the first 6 months of the year on the 
following basis: 

• Green signifies that the action has been achieved; 

• Amber signifies that the action is delayed or there is other cause for 
concern; if remedial action is taken it should be achieved although not 
necessarily on the original timescale; and 

• Red signifies that the action has not been achieved or is not expected to 
be achieved 

4. The majority of actions required to have been delivered thus far have either 
been achieved and marked Green, or are currently on track and marked 
Amber.  There are no Reds. 

5. Those actions currently marked Amber are: 

• 1.3 Identify changes needed to data collection and analysis to provide 
reliable, regular data, e.g. single, shared client data-bases, setting a 
prioritised timetable for each element; 

• 3.2 Action plan for the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS), including 
the new LAA; 

• 4.1 Integrated planning and performance improvement cycle between the 
Council, the PCT and the Herefordshire Partnership; 

AGENDA ITEM 9

111



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16TH JULY, 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

• 4.10 Review ICT requirements to deliver this programme; 

• 4.12 Establish strengthened scrutiny arrangements that will make a major 
contribution to planning and performance management across the 
Council/PCT and the Herefordshire Partnership; 

• 4.14 Council and PCT workforce development strategy to deliver the 
programme; 

• 4.15 Annual training and development programme for the Council, PCT 
and partner organisations to help deliver the programme; 

• 4.16 Corporate, directorate and service induction to include the core 
objectives and themes of the programme, relating them to each 
individual’s role and responsibilities; 

• 4.17 Programme to develop understanding for the roll-out of the strategic 
risk identification and management process; 

• 5.1 Establish shared strategic risk identification and management process 
for the Council, the PCT and their partners, integrated with performance 
management systems and reporting; 

• 6.4 Action plan for prioritised improvements in partners’ indicator 
performance and other factors relevant to the Direction of Travel 
assessment to improve the rating in February 2010; 

• 7.5 Rationalisation of back-office accommodation; and 

• 8.1 Communications strategy and action plan designed and rolled out. 

6. Confirmation of the new CAA framework will be published towards the end of 
July, together with consultation on its detailed operation.  Whatever the 
details, the Council’s and Partnership’s success depends on their being able 
to evidence continuous improvement and the robustness of plans for further 
improvement. 

Risk Management 

7. Delivery of the programme will have a significant bearing on the Council’s 
performance for the forthcoming Comprehensive Area Assessment from April 
2009. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT  

i. progress made in delivering the Comprehensive Area 
Assessment Preparation Programme over the first 6 months of 
2008 be noted; and 

ii. agrees the need for effective remedial action for the items 
marked Amber, which are listed in paragraph 5. 

112



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16TH JULY, 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research 
Manager on 01432 261877 or David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

113



114



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
 

   H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 A

re
a

 A
s
s
e

s
s

m
e
n

t 
p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

: 
J
a
n

u
a

ry
 

2
0
0

8
 t

o
 D

e
c

e
m

b
e
r 

2
0

0
9
 

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

s
: 

 

•
 
T
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
d
 b
e
g
in
 t
o
 o
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 w
e
ll-
p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 f
u
ll 
in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w

e
ll/
h
a
v
e
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

 

•
 
 T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

115



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
 

T
h

e
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

: 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
  

3
. 
U
s
in
g
 
th
is
 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
e
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
a
s
 
th
e
 
b
a
s
is
 
fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
s
k
ill
s
, 
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
rs
, 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 

v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll/
h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

116



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
3
 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

1
.1
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

N
e
e
d
s
 A
n
a
ly
s
is
 –
 J
S
N
A
 

(h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g
; 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
, 
c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 

e
ff
e
c
t 
1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
) 

 
 

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 (
lik
e
ly
 

fo
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 o
n
 

m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
a
ta
 

s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

B
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
, 

w
it
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

1
.2
 N
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
th
e
r 
a
s
p
e
c
ts
 

 
 

 

D
e
te
rm

in
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
e
b
 0
8
 

R
o
lle
d
 u
p
 w
it
h
 J
S
N
A
 t
o
 f
o
rm

 a
 

s
in
g
le
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 b
y
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 (
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

b
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
) 
 

C
le
a
r 
le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
  

T
h
e
 S
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

117



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
  
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

(l
ik
e
ly
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 

o
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

d
a
ta
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

B
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
n
d
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
J
S
N
A
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

(s
e
e
 a
b
o
v
e
),
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 
in
 

p
la
c
e
 

1
.3
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 d
a
ta
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 r
e
lia
b
le
, 

re
g
u
la
r 
d
a
ta
, 
e
.g
. 
s
in
g
le
, 

s
h
a
re
d
 c
lie
n
t 
d
a
ta
-

b
a
s
e
s
, 
s
e
tt
in
g
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 e
le
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
D
e
s
ir
e
d
 

d
a
ta
 

a
n
d
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 

s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 
a
n
d
 
ta
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

1
.4
 P
la
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

m
a
n
d
a
to
ry
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

F
in
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

D
C
L
G
; 
fi
e
ld
w
o
rk
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
9
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 1
9
th
 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
n
y
 C
ra
m
p
 

(M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
it
iz
e
n
s
’ 

p
a
n
e
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
, 
a
n
d
 i
ts
 

118



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

1
.5
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 (
E
IA
s
) 

 
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

Y
e
a
r 
4
 o
f 
5
 y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 4
5
 E
IA
s
 i
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
, 
H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 G
ro
u
p
. 

N
e
x
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

Y
e
a
r 
5
 s
ta
rt
e
d
. 
A
ll 
D
M
T
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 3
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 s
p
o
tl
ig
h
t 
th
is
 

y
e
a
r 
(R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 o
ff
ic
e
) 
h
a
v
e
 h
a
d
 a
n
 

in
it
ia
l 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 f
o
r 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
te
a
m
s
. 
E
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 5
1
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
is
 

y
e
a
r.
 

P
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

C
a
ro
l 
T
ra
c
h
o
n
it
is
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
; 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 

 

119



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
6
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

2
.1
 M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

(c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 1
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
),
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
, 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
ti
ti
o
n
s
 

 
 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 
e
x
is
ts
, 

th
e
n
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
s
c
o
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

d
o
n
e
. 
T
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
8
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
m
is
e
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
w
h
it
e
 

p
a
p
e
r.
  

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 

A
b
le
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

d
u
ty
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

W
o
rk
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 

a
n
y
 l
ik
e
ly
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
, 
M
a
rt
in
 

H
e
u
te
r,
 A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

s
ta
ff
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

te
a
m
’s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

2
.2
 S
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

 
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

G
e
o
ff
 C
o
le
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

120



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

N
e
w
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

la
u
n
c
h
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
ly
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

A
 n
e
w
 I
T
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 
re
c
o
rd
in
g
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
lim

e
n
ts
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 u
n
d
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 w
it
h
 

a
n
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 d
a
te
 o
f 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
. 

M
o
re
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

2
.3
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r,
 

m
o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

P
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

fr
o
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
s
 s
e
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

lit
e
ra
tu
re
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 

fo
r 
J
u
ly
-S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
to
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 

w
h
it
e
 p
a
p
e
r.
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 H
A
L
C
 t
o
 s
e
t 
u
p
 a
 

te
le
p
h
o
n
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 l
in
e
 a
n
d
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 t
o
 a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
  

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
 c
lo
s
u
re
s
, 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

m
e
th
o
d
s
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 k
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
s
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t.
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
. 

M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 N
in
a
 

B
ri
d
g
e
s
, 
R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)
 

E
a
rl
y
 w
in
s
 f
ro
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 

p
la
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 

m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

121



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
, 
th
e
 

v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
ils
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
o
n
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
. 

 3
. 
U
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

3
.1
 N
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
(L
A
A
) 
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

L
A
A
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
ll 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
. 

M
in
is
te
ri
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l.
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

3
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
S
C
S
),
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

L
A
A
; 
n
o
 d
a
te
 a
g
re
e
d
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

A
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 m

a
in
 

ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 S
C
S
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

122



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

3
.3
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 S
C
S
 

in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
 

a
n
d
 2
 a
b
o
v
e
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

L
e
s
s
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 S
C
S
 i
n
 2
0
0
5
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

p
u
lle
d
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 0
9
/1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
. 

S
C
S
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
  

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

3
.4
 R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
o
ll 

fo
rw
a
rd
 o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 i
n
 

p
a
ra
lle
l 
w
it
h
 3
.3
  

A
p
r 
0
9
 

 
L
A
A
 r
e
v
is
e
d
, 
a
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

S
C
S
 R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 

3
.3
 

3
.5
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
C
S
/L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 

b
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

 

3
.6
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
1
0
-1
3
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 S
C
S
/L
A
A
  

J
u
ly
 0
9
 

 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

S
M
C
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 

0
8
) 
 

123



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

0
8
) 
 

3
.7
 D
e
te
rm

in
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

3
.8
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

p
la
n
s
  

A
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
; 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
 (
to
 

b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
) 
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

 

124



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
1
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.1
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 o
f 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
, 

p
re
p
a
re
d
. 
 W

ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 
 M
a
in
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

P
C
T
 c
y
c
le
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 c
y
c
le
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 
M
ic
h
a
e
l 

H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 

D
a
v
id
 P
o
w
e
ll,
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

 

4
.2
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
J
o
in
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
th
e
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

A
re
a
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

125



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
2
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.3
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

 
J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

(c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
).
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.4
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 b
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 [
W
M
R
IE
P
] 
to
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 

a
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 w
a
y
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
is
 p
e
rf
o
rm

e
d
 r
ig
h
t 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
o
 

fo
rm

u
la
te
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
is
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
m
o
re
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
. 
T
h
is
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 

w
o
rk
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
. 
W
M
R
IE
P
 a
re
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 t
h
is
 p
ie
c
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
. 
T
h
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 

a
p
p
o
in
te
d
. 
 W

o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
. 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
C
T
, 
E
le
a
n
o
r 
B
ra
z
il,
 

o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.5
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

A
s
 4
.4
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
) 
 

 

126



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
3
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.6
 R
e
v
ie
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
le
v
e
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 r
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re
d
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

n
e
w
 J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 

c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
s
 b
o
th
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 

a
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
. 
 

W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 j
o
b
-

e
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
ro
le
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
o
in
t 
to
 t
h
e
 p
o
s
ts
. 
 

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
ts
: 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
C
lin
ic
a
l 
L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 Q
u
a
lit
y
, 

th
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
R
. 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

th
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 t
e
a
m
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

T
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 J
o
in
t 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 T
e
a
m
 n
e
a
r 
c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
. 

N
e
w
 o
r 
a
d
a
p
te
d
 H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
p
p
o
in
tm

e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

J
o
in
t 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
e
a
m
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 j
o
in
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

127



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
 

T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
s
e
e
 4
.8
) 
is
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

fu
tu
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
fo
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 

 
 

 

4
.7
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
n
e
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.6
 

A
s
 4
.6
. 

N
e
w
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

A
n
d
re
w
 W

ill
ia
m
s
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

 

4
.8
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 i
s
 i
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
g
a
g
in
g
 w
it
h
 L
S
P
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

to
 s
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
ir
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
, 
le
d
 b
y
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
 a
n
d
 O
liv
e
r 

G
o
o
d
e
 (
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
R
IE
P
) 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 D
e
liv
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t)
. 
 R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 

B
o
a
rd
 r
e
-l
a
u
n
c
h
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
9
th
 

J
u
ly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

 

4
.9
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
re
v
is
e
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
N
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

 

128



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

M
a
y
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
. 

In
it
ia
l 
re
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
, 

e
a
rl
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

4
.1
0
 R
e
v
ie
w
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

th
is
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
R
e
v
ie
w
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
, 
lo
n
g
e
r-

te
rm

 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

4
.1
1
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.1
0
  

 
T
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

4
.1
0
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

4
.1
2
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 

m
a
k
e
 a
 m

a
jo
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
fo
rm

a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

A
p
ri
l.
  

S
M
C
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
. 
 T
h
e
re
 

a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
p
e
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 a
u
tu
m
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

4
.1
3
 O
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

H
a
s
 b
e
g
u
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

129



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

W
o
rk
 i
s
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 

H
R
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

P
C
T
, 
d
ra
w
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 I
n
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 P
e
o
p
le
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
u
rs
u
e
d
 b
u
t 
th
e
 

p
re
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 n
o
t 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l.
 

A
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 W

o
rk
fo
rc
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 

m
a
p
p
e
d
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 

th
e
 w
o
rk
. 
W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

w
ill
 e
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 i
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 P
C
T
. 

T
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
 T
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
a
n
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
te
a
m
 a
n
d
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
. 

In
it
ia
l 
jo
in
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

4
.1
4
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

 
S
tr
o
n
g
 l
in
k
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 f
o
rg
e
d
 

w
it
h
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
, 
th
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

(T
h
e
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 C
e
n
tr
e
),
 t
h
e
 

W
o
rl
d
 C
la
s
s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
ro
v
id
e
r 
R
e
v
ie
w
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

 

G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 a
n
d
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
la
n
s
. 

In
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 P
e
o
p
le
 

a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 

W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

J
o
in
t 
h
e
a
th
 a
n
d
 a
d
u
lt
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 

P
ro
v
id
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

re
v
ie
w
. 

130



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
F
u
ll 
jo
in
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

 
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

th
is
 w
o
rk
 (
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
lig
n
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
).
 

In
it
ia
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

4
.1
5
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

h
e
lp
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  

A
u
g
 0
8
 

 
M
e
d
iu
m
-t
e
rm

 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 (
in
 

lig
h
t 
o
f 
S
R
D
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
).
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

e
a
c
h
 o
th
e
r’
s
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
u
lt
u
re
s
 

a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
s
ir
e
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

(s
e
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 8
 b
e
lo
w
) 

4
.1
6
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
, 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 

c
o
re
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
re
la
ti
n
g
 

th
e
m
 t
o
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 

ro
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
 p
la
c
e
 f
o
r 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

fr
o
m
 M
a
y
 0
8
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

(M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

131



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.1
7
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

fo
r 
th
e
 r
o
ll-
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
ra
ft
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 n
e
w
, 
jo
in
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
. 

T
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
. 
P
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 

b
e
in
g
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 2
0
0
8
 b
y
 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w
id
e
r 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 

a
b
o
v
e
) 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
h
o
 a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-t
o
-

h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
) 

 

4
.1
8
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

w
h
a
t 
is
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 e
q
u
ip
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 p
la
y
 a
 f
u
lly
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 r
o
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
w
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
’ 
s
e
m
in
a
rs
 h
a
v
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
. 
A
n
o
th
e
r 
is
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
, 

to
 w
h
ic
h
 n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 c
e
n
tr
e
, 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

M
o
re
 s
u
c
h
 e
v
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d
, 
fi
rs
t,
 f
o
r 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

C
A
A
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 l
a
te
 J
u
ly
) 

a
n
d
, 
s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
. 

C
A
A
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
))
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
ta
k
in
g
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
  

132



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
1
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
B
e
tt
e
r 
m
u
tu
a
l 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 m

e
m
b
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

 
 

4
.1
9
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 b
y
 m

e
a
n
s
 

o
f 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
e
n
io
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 p
e
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

fi
n
a
l 
s
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
P
A
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
w
 t
o
o
 l
a
te
 a
s
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 j
u
s
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
e
ir
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
 g
ro
u
p
 

h
a
s
 a
s
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
t 
th
e
ir
 n
e
x
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

It
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
g
re
a
te
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

ID
e
A
 s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 p
e
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
n
 

fu
tu
re
. 

S
o
m
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
e
n
io
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 p
e
e
r 

re
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
  

 

4
.2
0
 R
e
v
is
e
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
 c
o
re
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
le
a
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

a
n
d
 J
M
T
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
ill
 b
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 

C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 b
y
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

fr
o
m
 e
n
d
-o
f-
J
u
ly
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

133



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
0
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

5
.1
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
h
a
re
d
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 

a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

J
o
in
t 
ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 

p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
lk
it
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 

M
a
y
. 
 A
ls
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 w
a
s
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

a
n
 A
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
jo
in
t 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 
a
ll 
e
x
tr
e
m
e
 r
is
k
s
. 

T
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
ill
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
it
s
 r
is
k
s
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 

a
b
o
v
e
).
 

T
h
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
a
r 
fu
tu
re
 w
ill
 

b
e
c
o
m
e
 c
le
a
re
r 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 o
p
ti
o
n
 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
re
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
o
n
 3
1
s
t  

J
u
ly
. 

S
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 

fo
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
 

5
.2
 D
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
a
m
e
d
 l
e
a
d
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

h
a
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 

a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 i
n
 l
a
te
 J
u
ly
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
it
s
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 
 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 k
e
y
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
A
n
d
re
w
 

R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-

M
a
rk
o
 

(P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
  

134



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
1
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
ju
d
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

5
.3
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

s
h
a
re
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

S
e
e
 5
.1
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

5
.4
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

ri
s
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 r
is
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

d
ra
ft
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
. 

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 R
is
k
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
, 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

is
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
..
 

R
is
k
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 l
e
tt
e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

s
 t
h
is
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

s
u
m
m
a
ry
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
ru
s
t 
ri
s
k
s
 

(N
o
v
 0
7
) 

135



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
2
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll
/h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

6
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 m

a
n
d
a
to
ry
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 &
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

6
.2
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
’ 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 l
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 W

e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

A
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 6
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
re
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

o
n
it
o
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
e
le
m
e
n
ts
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.3
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

136



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
3
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 m

a
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
e
t,
 w
it
h
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

h
a
v
in
g
 a
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
le
a
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
s
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
).
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.4
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
’ 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

6
.5
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
s
e
lf
–

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

 
 

 

In
it
ia
l 
s
e
lf
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 C
P
A
 K
e
y
 

L
in
e
s
 o
f 
E
n
q
u
ir
y
 a
n
d
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

C
A
A
. 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

T
ra
w
l 
fo
r 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 h
a
s
 

b
e
g
u
n
. 

H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 i
n
 C
P
A
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

T
ra
v
e
l 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

 
S
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C
A
A
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
d
u
e
 f
o
r 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 J
u
ly
, 
a
n
d
 

fi
n
a
lis
e
d
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
) 

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 

S
o
u
n
d
 C
A
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 (
to
 b
e
 

d
e
fi
n
e
d
 c
le
a
rl
y
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 

th
e
 f
in
a
l 
C
A
A
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
) 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

137



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
4
 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im

u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

7
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 

v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
ly
 t
o
 2
0
0
8
 b
u
t 
is
 n
o
t 
n
o
w
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 u
n
ti
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

In
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
ri
m
, 
th
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
s
 j
o
in
e
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

T
re
a
s
u
re
r’
s
 V
F
M
 N
e
tw
o
rk
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 V
F
M
. 
 T
h
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 

re
tu
rn
s
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 

in
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
. 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 

p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 1
2
th
 J
u
n
e
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

a
n
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 a
n
 

u
p
d
a
te
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
, 
A
la
n
 

M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 
o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 

h
a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
; 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
; 
b
e
in
g
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
a
te
s
t 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 

th
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
’ 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 

re
p
o
rt
, 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 I
n
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 

P
e
o
p
le
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
e
e
 7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

7
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
c
ri
te
ri
a
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

c
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

A
s
 f
o
r 
7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 

138



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

7
.3
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 U
s
e
 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il  

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

7
.4
 D
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
, 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 A
p
ri
l.
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 

M
e
e
t 
a
) 
th
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 b
) 

IS
O
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
d
a
ta
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
o
h
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
th
o
n
y
 S
a
w
y
e
r)
 

D
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 A
n
th
o
n
y
 

S
a
w
y
e
r 

139



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

O
ff
ic
e
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
b
ri
e
f 
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 o
n
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
8
th
. 
 A
 s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
 o
f 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 o
f 

th
e
 P
C
T
 B
o
a
rd
 w
a
s
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 i
n
 m

o
re
 

d
e
ta
il.
  
T
h
e
 s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

b
a
c
k
 t
o
 S
M
C
 o
n
 1
3
th
 J
u
n
e
. 

A
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 t
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

to
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 

p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 i
s
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 f
o
r 
2
6
th
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  
A
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 b
e
 

s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
fo
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 i
n
 

O
c
to
b
e
r/
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r.
 

P
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

7
.5
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

D
e
c
 1
0
 

 
A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

ra
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
M
a
lc
o
lm
 

M
a
c
A
s
k
ill
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

7
.6
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

fr
o
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

 
F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
. 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll 

 

140



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
7
 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
li
c
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
. 
 

C
o
v
e
rs
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 

w
h
o
le
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
is
 

C
A
A
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 T
o
 

b
e
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 C
A
A
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

S
e
m
in
a
rs
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 

fu
tu
re
 s
e
m
in
a
rs
. 
 

F
ir
s
t 
P
re
s
s
, 
T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 m

e
d
ia
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
. 
 R
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 i
n
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

g
ro
u
p
, 
s
o
 m

e
s
s
a
g
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

c
a
s
c
a
d
e
d
. 

 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

 
T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

c
o
n
s
ti
tu
e
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 

8
.1
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 a
n
d
 

m
o
ti
v
a
te
d
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 

s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
S
te
v
e
 

M
a
rt
in
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 r
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 

141



U
p
d
a
te
d
 t
o
 3
0
 0
6
 0
8
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 
2
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
e
n
tr
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
, 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

im
p
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 w
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
  

 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
 

 
 

 

142



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services on tel: (01432) 383173. 

 
SMC Use of Consultancy 160708  Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 UPDATE ON REVIEW OF CONSULTANCY 
EXPENDITURE 2007/08 

Report By: Director of Resources 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide. 

Purpose 

1. The purpose of this report is to: 

a. Update Strategic Monitoring Committee on progress to date around the 
requested review of the use of consultants in the council during 2007/08. 

b. Invite Strategic Monitoring Committee to agree a proposed definition of the 
term “consultancy” for the purpose of this exercise. 

Financial Implications 

2. The report provides some financial information, but no implications arise from the 
content. 

Background 

3. At its meeting on 18 February 2008 the Strategic Monitoring Committee (SMC) 
requested information on the council’s use of consultants. 

4. The regular financial reports to SMC provide budget monitoring information as part of 
the Integrated Performance Report.  In the early stages of the 2007/08 financial year 
the reports and the accompanying presentations outlined the pressures being faced 
by the council and corrective action to address projected overspends.   

5. One area that came to light was in ICT services.  Subsequent effective management 
action reduced a projected overspend on the trading account and this was partly 
achieved by reducing the number of people employed as “consultants”.  In the case 
of ICT services the term was used to cover interim management arrangements. 

6. Other parts of the council also use consultants, but this tends to be for specific, 
focussed pieces of work.  Using consultants in this way is accepted practice in local 
government where expertise is purchased to help with specific projects. 

Definition of Consultancy 

7. The work to date indicates a lack of consistency around the term consultancy.  In 
some cases interim management arrangements have been viewed as consultancy.  
Consequently the coding of such payments has been made against the consultancy 
heading on the financial system.   

AGENDA ITEM 10

143



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

SMC Use of Consultancy 160708  Page 2 of 2 

8. In order to ensure that the exercise produces comparable information across the 
council as agreed and then consistently applied, a definition of consultancy is 
needed.  It is proposed that the following is used: 

“Consultancy is the purchase of advice to clarify a particular situation or problem with 
the intention of producing focussed advice on possible options.  Consultancy does 
not cover interim arrangements to fill existing posts or longer term contracted 
arrangements with the Council’s partners.” 

 Next Steps 

9. This interim report will be followed up by a final report to SMC in the autumn.  It is 
proposed that this will include analysis of the 2007/08 expenditure using the definition 
provided in this report.  It will also indicate the significant areas of consultancy by 
directorate. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT: 

(a) The definition of consultancy stated in this report is agreed as the 
basis for further analysis; and 

(b) A final report is presented to Strategic Monitoring Committee in 
autumn 2008. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified. 

144



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityreportJuly20080.doc  

 SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT 

Report By: Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Democratic 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To consider the work being undertaken by the Scrutiny Committees. 

Financial Implications 

2. None 

Background 

3. This report summarises the matters considered by the Scrutiny Committees since the 
last report by this Committee to Council.  It is intended to help keep Council aware of 
the work being undertaken. 

4. The work of the Committees is analysed below in accordance with the following two 
roles for scrutiny based on a University of Birmingham categorisation. 

Holding the Executive to Account Developing Policy 

Questioning members of the Executive Pre-Decision Scrutiny – commenting on 
decisions about to be made 

Call-ins – Scrutinising decisions before 
they take effect 

Policy Reviews and Development 

Scrutinising decisions after they are 
made 

External Scrutiny  

Management of Performance Health Scrutiny 

Ensuring Corporate Priorities are Met  

Budget Scrutiny   

Community and Area Scrutiny  

 

5. The business considered by the Scrutiny Committees is set out below.  Each 
Committee has also considered and rolled forward its work programme. 

AGENDA ITEM 11

145



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityreportJuly20080.doc  

 

 Holding the Executive to 
Account 

Developing Policy 

Adult Social Care and 
Strategic Housing 

24 July 2008 

Presentation by Cabinet 
Member (Environment and 
Strategic Housing) 

Revenue Budget Outturn 
2007/08 and the Budget 
2008/09 

Adult Social Services 
Performance Monitoring 

Strategic Housing 
Performance Monitoring 

Strategic Housing Service 
Plan 

Contract Monitoring 
Arrangements with Shaw 
Healthcare 

 

 

Strategic Review of 
Provider Services 

Scrutiny Review of the 
modernisation of day 
opportunities for older 
people 

Scrutiny Review of 
Transition from leaving 
Care to Adult Life 

Scoping Statement for a 
Review of Support to 
Carers. 

 

 

Children’s Services 

7July 2008 

Presentation by Cabinet 
Member. 

Review of Directorate and 
Service Plan / 
Performance Monitoring. 

Youth Service Update: 
Targeted Youth Support 
and Positive Activities. 

Capital Budget Outturn 
Report 2007/08. 

Revenue Final Outturn 
Report 2007/08. 

Racist Bullying “MeWe” 
Video. 

Review of Behaviour and 
Discipline Management in 
Herefordshire Schools. 

 

Community Services 

17 July 2008 

Presentation by Cabinet 
Member 

Directorate and Service 
Plans 

Revenue Budget outturn 
and the Budget 2008/09 

Environment and Cultural 
Services performance 
Indicators 

Scrutiny Review of the 
Findings of the Scrutiny 
Review of the Agreement 
with Halo Leisure Trust 

Scoping Statement for 
Scrutiny Review of the 
Community And Safety 
Drugs Partnership. 

Scoping Statement for 
Scrutiny Review of 

146



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityreportJuly20080.doc  

Scrutiny Review Action 
Plans Monitoring 

Broadband Provision 

Herefordshire’s Future 
Economic Policy 

Environment 

9 June 2008 

Cabinet Member 
Presentations 

Reports by Directors 

Review of the Service 
Delivery Partnership 

Capital Budget Monitoring. 

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 

Performance Monitoring. 

Scrutiny Review of 
Planning Services. 

Health 

18 June 2008 

 

 Public Health Issues – 
Stroke Services 

Public Health Issues – 
Sexual Health 

West Midlands Ambulance 
Service NHS Trust – 
Response Times 

GP-Lead Walk-in Health 
Centre Development 

Cancer Services 

Intermediate Care 
Services 

Changes in the 
Management of Mental 
Health Services 

Audiology Services 

 

Issues of particular note: 

• Environment  

6. On scrutinising the Capital Budget outturn the Committee expressed regret 
concerning the continual underspend on sustainable transport budgets, particularly 
cycling initiatives, as opposed to overspends on car management and road building. 
The Committee have requested that all officers delivering the Local Transport Plan 
should make every effort to ensure that budgets for sustainable modes of transport 
will be fully committed in 2008/09. 

7. The Committee considered and agreed the terms of reference for a Scrutiny Review 
of Planning Services and agreed the membership of the Review Group. 

• Children’s Services 

147



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityreportJuly20080.doc  

8. While discussing the Committee work programme the Chairman proposed that the 
Committee consider appointing each of the Councillors on the Committee as either a 
Champion or Vice-Champion for one of each of the five outcome areas of the Every 
Child Matters agenda (Be Healthy; Stay Safe; Enjoy and Achieve; Make a Positive 
Contribution and Achieve Economic Well-being.)  Champions and Vice-Champions 
would be encouraged to take a more proactive role by shadowing  and observing 
appropriate meetings to enable them to hear first hand some of the issues that have 
to be addressed.  The involvement of the Champions would be governed by terms of 
reference. 

 

9. The Committee agreed the proposal and RECOMMENDED that Strategic Monitoring 
Committee consider the proposal when it considers a report on the future structure of 
scrutiny arrangements. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

148



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny) 
 on 01432 260239 

 

 

WorkProgrammescoverreportJuly080.doc  

 WORK PROGRAMMES 

Report By: Assistant Chief Executive – Legal And 
Democratic 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To consider the Scrutiny Committees’ current and future work programmes.  

Background 

2. A report on the Scrutiny Committees’ current work programmes will be made to this 
Scrutiny Committee quarterly.  A copy of this Committee’s own work programme will 
be made to each of its scheduled meetings.  Copies of the current work programmes 
are attached. 

3. Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Chairman to log the issue so that it may 
be taken into consideration when planning future agendas or when revising the work 
programme. 

 RECOMMENDATION 

  THAT the current Work Programmes serve as a basis for further 
development, subject to any comment the Committee wishes to make. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

AGENDA ITEM 12

149



150



Strategic Monitoring Committee – work programme 2008/09 

 To Be Scheduled 

 • Review Of The Service Delivery Partnership With Amey Wye 
Valley Limited 

 September 2008 

 • IPFR (four month April-July report)  

• Extent, costs, purposes and value for money of the Council’s 
use of consultants in 2007/08. 

 

Scrutiny Review • ICT Services 

 October 2008 

 • Updated MTFMS 

• IPFR(six month April-September report) or to November see 
below 

• Monitoring of Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation 
Programme  

 

 

  

 November 2008 

 • IPFR (six month April-September report)  

• Confirmation of LG settlement 

• Accommodation Strategy 

 

 

  

 January 2009 

 • IPFR (8 month April-November) 

• CPA Assessments 

• Use of Resources Judgment 

• CAA details confirmed (or Feb) 

• Report on place survey and public consultation 

• Local Government Settlement confirmed. 

• Monitoring of Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation 
Programme  

 

 February 2009 (budget) 

 • Direction of Travel Judgment 

• CAA details confirmed 

• Draft 2009/10 Operating Statement 

• Strategic Options and Challenge (provisional) 

• Updated MTFS 

• IPFR(10 month April-January report) 

 

 April 2009 

 • IPFR(10 month April-January report) see above? 

151



• Strategic Options and Challenge 

• IPFR (end-of-year report 

• Monitoring of Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation 
Programme  

 

Other issues  

• User Satisfaction Surveys. 

• Gender Equality Scheme Monitoring (reported March 2007 6 month/annual). 

• Comprehensive Equality Scheme Action Plan monitoring. 

• Scrutiny of Police/Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership. 

• Electoral Registration issues - polling station reviews 

• Elections Action Plan - Monitoring 

• Communications Strategy Monitoring 

• Smallholdings Policy (Outcome of Executive Review) 

• (Item referred by Audit and Corporate Governance Committee –  (30 November 
2007) – “ that Strategic Monitoring Committee be requested to review the control of 
asset management processes and procedures and actions which are taken against 
officers who do not adhere to these rules” 

• Monitoring of Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation Programme (July and 
October 2008 and January and April 2009.) 

• Post Office Closures 

• Comprehensive Equality Policy 

• Rose Bank Garden Scheme - reviewing its value for money and whether there were 
any lessons to be learned for future schemes. 

 

• Analysis of Complaints to the Ombudsman – Planning 

• Pay and Workforce Development Strategy (Replacement) 

• Herefordshire Public Services – possible consideration of effectiveness of working 
arrangements – (9 months on) 

 

 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required  
 

152



Adult Social Care and Housing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2008/09 

(Subject to Review at the Committee’s meeting on 24 July.) 

24th July 2008 

Items • Presentation by Cabinet Member (Environment & Strategic 
Housing) 

• Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Service Plans 

• Strategic Review of Provider Services 

• Adult Social Care Fairer Funding – update 

• Contract Monitoring Arrangements with Shaw Healthcare 

• Scoping Statement for Review of Support to Carers 

Scrutiny Reviews • Transition from leaving care to adult life (final report) 

• The modernisation of day opportunities for older people (final 
report) 

3rd October 2008 

 • Monitoring of progress in integrating ICT systems (See 19 
March Recommendations) 

• Update from Chief Executive of Herefordshire Housing Ltd 

• Executive’s Response to review of transition from leaving care 
to adult life 

• Progress Reports arising from future needs of 18-64 year-
olds in Herefordshire with mental health problems and 
physical disabilities.  

• Workforce Improvements to implement recommendations  
arising from future needs of 18-64 year-olds in Herefordshire 
with mental health problems and physical disabilities 

Scrutiny Reviews • Herefordshire Home Point Housing Allocations Policy 

• Scoping Statement – Transfer from hospital to Home 

19th December 2008 

 • Implementation of Social care ICT solution – progress report 
(see 19 March resolution) 

• Joint Commissioning – progress report (see 19 March 
resolution) 

• Monitoring of Progress Against Executive’s Action Plan in 
response to Review of Transition From Leaving Care to Adult 
Life 

Other issues  

• Home Care Services 

• Progress report on implementing recommendations arising from future needs of 
18-64 year-olds in Herefordshire with mental health problems and physical 
disabilities as a whole. 

 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

153



Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme 2008/09 for consideration 
at its meeting on 7 July 2008 

 
 
 

29 September 2008  

Officer Reports • Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

 8 Dec 2008  

Officer Reports • Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

30 March 2009  

Officer Reports • Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

 
 
 
Possible future items on: 

• Extended Schools. 

• Early Years provision. 

• School transport particular reference to Yellow Bus scheme. 

• Issues around statemented or banded funding. 

• Delivery plans to be submitted to Committee for the Children and Young People Plan. 

• Acquisition and disposal policy for temporary school buildings. 

• The 14 – 19 Strategy 

• Foundation and Academy schools. 

• Governance arrangements for the Children’s Trust and partnership arrangements. 

• Review of provision of school places – the way forward.  Following Cabinet Member 
discussion/consideration in Dec 2009. 

• Stay Safe – reduce the impact of domestic abuse on the lives of children – Update. 
Report requested on latest position following lack of clear reporting. 

 
In consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman the Director of Children’s Services is 
working up a programme of open seminars for Committee Members based on defined 
themes. 
 

154



 

 

 

Community Services Scrutiny Committee – 
(Subject to Review at the Committee’s Meeting on 17 July 2008) 
 

17th July 2008  

Items • Annual Presentation by Cabinet Member (Economic 
Development and Community Services) 

• Directorate and Service Plans 

• Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Action Plans Monitoring: Cultural Services Inspection; 
Review of how to retain 18-35 yr olds in Herefordshire; 
Review of Hereford City Partnership; Review of 
Museums and Heritage Centres. 

• Broadband provision to the County – Update report. 

• To consider the Scoping statement for a review of 
Herefordshire’s Future Economic Policy 

• To report the findings of the scrutiny review of the 
agreement with Halo Leisure Trust 

Scrutiny Reviews • Scrutiny review of Community and Safety Drugs 
Partnership 

 6th October 2008 

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Parish Agreement (as recommended by SMC) 

• Edgar Street Grid – Update  

• Consider the Executive’s response to the Scrutiny 
Review of Tourism 

• Action Plans Monitoring 

Scrutiny Reviews • Herefordshire’s Future Economic Policy 

• Scrutiny review of Community and Safety Drugs 
Partnership 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required. 

155



 
ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

 – Considered and agreed at 9 JUNE 2008 
 

 9.30am Monday 15 September 2008 

Officer Reports • Household Waste – Consideration of issues following a 
Members Seminar on the subject. (an extra meeting 
may be called prior to September to consider this 
subject) 

• Service Delivery Review – update. 

• Good Environmental Management (GEM) – End of 
Year Report. 

• Herefordshire Travellers’ Policy: Executives Response 
to Scrutiny Review. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Report on Performance Indicators 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews • On-Street Parking Review 

• Planning Services Review. 

 9.30am Monday 24 November 2008 

 • Service Delivery Review – update. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Report on Performance Indicators 

• Committee Work Programme 

 • On-Street Parking Review 

• Planning Services Review. 

9.30am Monday 23 March 2008 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Report on Performance Indicators 

• Committee Work Programme 

 
 
Items for consideration as the programme is further developed: 

 

• Scrutinising progress with the Local Transport Plan (LTP2) and any associated issues. 

• The effect on Herefordshire of changes to the Single Farm Payments system (e.g. 
hedge cutting, drainage ditch clearance) 

• Implications arising from the ‘Better Regulation Agenda’ (concerning regulatory 
inspections and enforcement – within the context of this Committee). 

• Any specific issues arising from Council Strategies or Plans. 

• Contribute to policy development of LTP3. 

• Consideration of revised/reviewed Flood Defence Policy. 

• Safety on the A49 and A465 trunk roads – the Director will update the Committee as 
appropriate. 

156



Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2008/09 

September 2008 

 • Presentations By Chief Executives of Health Trusts 

• Presentation on the structure of the Local Involvement 
Network and its work programme. 

• Monitoring of LINk Performance 

• Strategic Review of Provider Services 

• Update on the response to the Committee’s review of 
Communication 

• Joint Commissioning Strategy for physical disabilities and 
updated version of the Joint Commissioning Strategy for 
mental health services. (with implementation progress 
reports then to be scheduled). 

• Workforce plan including training, recruitment and retention 
issues for the Primary Care Trust, social care and provider 
organisations in the independent sector 

 

Scrutiny Reviews •  

To be scheduled 

 • Elderly Falls Review – Report 

• Proposals for rolling forward the Local Delivery Plan beyond 
2008/09 as prepared for consultation following the 
publication of the Darzi review. 

• Provision of services for children with special needs. 

• Reconfiguration of Mental Health Services 

 

Scrutiny Reviews • Access to Healthcare in the South Wye – To consider 
appropriate health care in the South Wye Area in view of the 
fact of the lower health outcomes for this area and the 
expanding population. 

• Access to health 1) for ethnic minorities – Scoping 
Statement 

• Access to Health 2) Scoping Statement 

Other issues 

• Councillors’ potential role in managing public expectation within their constituencies 

 

• Proposal to look at the long-term implications for people in the county of having an 
inappropriate diet. 

 

 

Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

 

157



158


	Agenda
	
	3 MINUTES
	exempt minute - accommodation , 13/06/2008 Strategic Monitoring Committee

	5 Cabinet Member (Resources) Presentation
	Cab Memb Presentation App1 160708 (2)
	Cab Memb Presentation App2 160708

	6 cabinet member presentationS - Corporate & Customer Services & Human Resources AND ict, educatION AND aCHIEVEMEnt
	7 HEREFORDSHIRE CONNECTS
	8 END OF YEAR PERFORMANCE REPORT
	Appendix 1 - AOP Indicators July 08
	Appendix 2 - BVPI Outturns 2007-08 (Final) july 08
	Appendix 3 - Direction of Travel Indicators July 08

	9 comprehensive area assessment preparation programme progress report
	Appendix 1 - CAA preparation programme update- JULY 08

	10 Update on Review of Consultant Expenditure 2007/08
	11 SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT
	12 work programmes
	work programmes composite July 08


